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20        20...to adapt  
and respond

A year 
that tested our 
ability to react...
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to reinforce 
our priorities 

#1BY ESTABLISHING SANITARY 

PROTOCOLS IN THE FACILITIES

TO PROTECT THE HEALTH  

OF OUR EMPLOYEES
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to establish 
new habits 

#2AND ADJUST OUR PROCESSES TO 

ENSURE BUSINESS CONTINUITY
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to reaffirm 
our essence 

#3AND IMPLEMENT THE NECESSARY 

FINANCIAL MEASURES TO 

MAINTAIN A STRONG BALANCE
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20        20
To each one 
of our employees 
who worked 
tirelessly… ...to make all

this possible:

thank 
you
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Dear 
Shareholders, 
Customers and 
Employees,

ON BEHALF OF KUO’S BOARD OF DIREC TORS 

AND MANAGEMENT TE AM, WE WOULD L IKE 

TO SHARE WITH YOU THE MOST RELEVANT 

ISSUES WE EXPERIENCED DURING 2020, ALL 

OF WHICH HAD A SIGNIFICANT AND DIVERSE 

IMPAC T ON THE COMPANY´S RESULTS .

This year has been by far the most complex in KUO’s modern 
history. COVID-19 pandemic caused an unprecedented 
global crisis, which not only had an economic 
impact, but also a devastating effect on health. It 
simultaneously affected all regions of the world, 
at all socioeconomic levels, and with negative 
consequences in most productive sectors.

Since the beginning of the year, KUO implemented 
preventive measures and health protocols to 
ensure our people ś health and operations safety. 
Beginning on the second quarter and as part of these 
actions, the infrastructure of facilities, offices and personnel 
transportation was modified to maintain the proper social distance. 
Additionally, shifts were rescheduled to prevent overcrowding in workspaces, and 
a significant investment was made in protective equipment.

Furthermore, 500 sanitary filters with continued functionality were installed, a 
large number of PCR tests and medical examinations were applied, a vaccination 
campaign against the influenza virus was promoted, a 24-hour psychological support 
line was activated, and more than 20,000 medical consultations on respiratory 
illness to our employees and their families were provided. 

It is important to highlight the creation of an emergency committee of approximately 
50 physicians certified in pandemic care, established in six states of Mexico to 
provide first-line care for KUO ś employees. 

Starting March, Information Technology department reinforced digital platforms 
for administrative areas to work remotely, developing new tools to maintain timely 
and effective institutional communication, with a major focus on cybersecurity.
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We want to thank the 
professionalism and 
commitment of the  
work teams, who managed to 
keep business continuity. 

The plant was covered for Property Damage, Extraordinary Expenses and 
Consequential Losses. At the end of December, an amount of $1,025 million pesos 
was recorded corresponding to the first installments of insurance recovery, and 
we expect to conclude this process in the next few months. 

This advance payment was used to begin the reconstruction of the processing 
plant at the same location, which will be fully financed with the proceeds from 
the insurance and should be completed by the end of 2021.

During the second quarter of the year, the escalation of the sanitary emergency 
in Mexico and the markets where we operate had a significant impact on the 
results of the Automotive and Chemical businesses, exacerbated by the temporary 
shutdown of operations, in addition to the contraction in demand for some products 
in different regions of the world. 

In the first semester, Transmissions business was significantly affected by the 
temporary closure of its operations, as well as those of suppliers and customers. 
This caused a substantive delay in the production and mass sale of DCT’s (“Dual 
Clutch Transmissions”), and therefore, in the recovery of the project investment.

This was partially offset by the performance of the Consumer sector, with an 
increase in demand from the Herdez Del Fuerte and Pork Meat Business.

By the third quarter of the year, we noticed a positive change in KUO’s results, with 
sequential improvements in Revenue and EBITDA, which once again demonstrated 
the viability and success of our business model. Diversification in industries, 
currencies and geographies was key to our annual results, maximizing returns 
and mitigating risks, balancing cycles, changing trends, temporary shutdown of 
customers and suppliers, as well as the recovery of different industries.

Likewise, we would like to acknowledge the medical personnel who continue to 
lead the health crisis, because of their dedication and generosity, the number 
of infections in our operations has been limited. Finally, we extend our sincere 
condolences to the families of the employees who died in 2020 from COVID-19. 

Among financial measures implemented to strengthen liquidity, it is worth highlighting 
working capital optimization; the divestment of the tuna business in Herdez Del 
Fuerte; investment in productive assets (CAPEX) to minimum required; strict cost 
and expenses control; in addition to increased dividends from JV’s. 

We finished the year with a high level of Cash and a substantial improvement 
in leverage, with available committed lines of nearly US$250 million. 

With these actions we were able to maintain operational continuity, 
especially since KUO’s activities in Mexico were classified  

as essential.

In the second quarter of the year, we experienced an extremely 
unfortunate event, when one of the processing plants in the 
Pork Meat Business suffered a severe fire, affecting around 80% 

of the machinery, building, equipment, and inventories. This plant 
addressed domestic and export markets and represented nearly 

30% of pork processing capacity.

From the first week after the event, mitigation measures were taken to 
minimize the impact on the operation. Among these actions, additional shifts were 
implemented at the processing plants in Umán, Yucatán and Irapuato, Guanajuato, 
in addition to production in third-party facilities in limited volume.
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This enhanced our exports, closing the year with approximately 60% of sales coming 
from other countries, driven by Transmissions, Pork Meat and Chemical businesses. 
The high quality of our processes and products was once more recognized.

The focus on sustainability, as a key mechanism for creating value for our 
shareholders and stakeholders, has been part of KUO’s DNA since its foundation. 
It continues to be reflected in our commitment to the well-being, health and safety 
of our people and the communities where we are located, as well as our actions 
to care for and improve the environment and natural resources. It also drives 
the optimization of processes and products for customers and suppliers, with a 
solid responsibility in terms of Transparency, Integrity and Corporate Governance.

The challenging and adverse events we experienced during 2020 reinforced the 
importance of having professional work teams. Our Human Capital continues to 
be the cornerstone for maintaining the continuity of operations, resolving complex 

situations, and supporting the Company ś current and future projects. We 
would like to emphasize our gratitude for their work, their incredible 

capacity to adapt and react to obstacles, delivering results even in 
adverse moments, aligned with KUO’s long-term strategy.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
From the third quarter of the year, there was a sequential 

improvement in the portfolio businesses, which was reflected 
in a proforma combined  annual Revenue growth of 8.4%. This 

increase is explained by higher sales volume in the export market, 
which represented 58% of total sales.

At the end of the year, within the portfolio, the Consumer sector accounted 
for 51% of KUO’s total Revenue, followed by the Chemical sector with 26% and 
Automotive with 23%. 

Revenue growth in the Consumer sector is explained by the performance of 
both businesses. Pork Meat Business recorded a strong increase in export sales 
volume to China, while Maxicarne retail channel implemented a home delivery 
platform, to adapt to new customers needs during the health contingency, 
ending the year with 491 stores in operation.

In addition to the tuna business divestiture, Herdez Del Fuerte had a solid 
demand in the domestic market, underscoring tomato puree, salsas, and mole 
categories, as well as salsas and guacamole in the United States, offsetting 
the weak performance of the Food Service sector, which began to recover in 
the fourth quarter of the year.

Automotive sector recorded an increase in Revenue when compared to the 
previous year, mainly derived from the sales of DCT’s to GM’s “2020 Chevrolet 
Corvette Stingray” and Ford’s “Mustang Shelby GT500” platforms. In addition 
to greater demand for engine and brake parts in the Aftermarket business.

This offset the lower sales level in Chemical sector, which was affected by 
a decrease in prices of main raw materials, butadiene and styrene. This was 
partially mitigated by higher sales volume in both businesses, especially in 
medical applications, asphalts and adhesives. There was also a recovery in 
the tire industry towards the end of the year in the Synthetic Rubber business, 
combined with higher export sales in the Polymers Business, mainly in the 
disposable segment.

EBITDA declined, mostly due to the expenses associated with the fire in the 
processing plant of the Pork Meat Business. This was partially offset by a 
better mix and higher absorption in Transmissions, Herdez Del Fuerte, Synthetic 
Rubber and Polymers businesses, coupled with a significant working capital 
improvement, particularly in inventories, combined with strict cost control 
and strong collection in the second half of the year.

During 2020, we maintained our focus on strengthening our financial structure, 
reducing net debt by 16% compared to the end of the previous year. Foreign-
currency-denominated liabilities and costs were compensated by the generation 
of dollar-denominated Revenue. 
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The balance of our business model, as well as the investments in productive assets 
that we have made in recent years, have been decisive in obtaining positive results. 
Even in adverse conditions, we have been able to strengthen the positioning of 
our brands and products in the markets in which we participate.

GOING FORWARD
We anticipate a challenging 2021, however, the expected growth in the United 

States and Mexico’s economies, as well as total recovery of insurance 
resources, should have a very favorable impact on KUO’s volumes 

and results.

We will continue to focus on the competitive advantages 
that differentiate us from other players, adapting and 

reacting to new global circumstances.

The health and safety of our people in our 
operations will continue to be the Company ś 
top priority, and we will continue to work to 
enhance prevention and care measures.

We are looking to ensure the operational 
continuity of all the businesses in our portfolio, 
focusing on innovation and improvement of 
processes and products.

We are excited about the reconstruction of 
the processing plant in the Pork Meat business, 

which will boost our production capacity, expand 
our export offering to different countries in Asia 

and the Americas, and consolidate our position as 
the largest pork meat producer in the country.

F E R N A N D O 
S E N D E R O S  M E S T R E

Executive President 
and Chairman of the Board

In Herdez Del Fuerte business, we will continue to promote main categories in the 
local market and in the United States.

Transmissions business should consolidate our investment in DCT technology, making 
our brand a global benchmark in the high-performance segment.

We will focus our attention on diversification in Chemical businesses, with the 
strategy of increasing the proportion of value-added applications, while reinforcing 
the integration of circular economies.

Over the years, we have oriented our sustainability strategy on 
three main pillars, environment, people, and governance, as 
the only way to guarantee the Company’s permanence in 
the future. All the initiatives that we have promoted 
have resulted in efficiencies in environmental 
matters and quality control, in greater bonding 
with the communities, in the strengthening of 
corporate governance and in the comprehensive 
development of our people, with special 
emphasis on the safety of employees and 
facilities, to continue creating value for our 
shareholders and stakeholders.

Finally, we recognize the thousands of people 
who make up KUO, whose work is essential. We 
also want to thank our partners, customers, 
suppliers and shareholders for their continued 
support and trust placed in the Company. We 
are confident that with our focus on creating 
value with profitability we will continue writing 
a success story.

A L E J A N D R O  D E  L A 
B A R R E D A  G Ó M E Z

Chief Executive Officer
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WE ARE KUO, A MEXICAN INDUSTRIAL CONGLOMERATE 

WITH PRESENCE IN MORE THAN 70 COUNTRIES. OUR 

BUSINESS MODEL IS BASED ON GENERATING 

VALUE AT EVERY LEVEL: ECONOMIC, SOCIAL 

AND ENVIRONMENTAL.

THANKS TO THE DIVERSIFICATION AND 

A CONSTANT FOCUS ON EXCELLENCE 

AND INNOVATION, WE MAINTAIN A LEADING 

POSITION IN EACH OF THE BUSINESSES IN 

WHICH WE PARTICIPATE, FOCUSED ON THREE SECTORS: 

CONSUMER, CHEMICAL, AND AUTOMOTIVE.

WE IMPLEMENT A STRONG CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SYSTEM AND MAINTAIN 

HIGH ETHICAL STANDARDS AND TRANSPARENCY, WITH A SUSTAINABLE VISION 

THAT ENSURES KUO’S PERMANENCE OVER TIME.

WE HAVE OVER 23,000 EMPLOYEES, WHO SHARE THE GROUP’S VALUES AND 

VISION, BEING A KEY FACTOR FOR THE COMPANY’S SUCCESS.

CHEMICAL

CONSUMER

AUTOMOTIVE

6
B U S I N E S S E S

3
S E C T O R S

5
C O U N T R I E S

27
P L A N T S

PRODUCTIVE
PLANTS

Mexico
United States
Belgium
China
Spain
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Diversification of  
our business model  
across sectors and 
geographies continues 
to be successful and 
is one of our  
greatest strengths.

VALUES

Institutionalism
Leadership
Innovation

Integrity
Teamwork

MISSION

CREATE SUSTAINABLE AND 

SATISFACTORY VALUE FOR OUR 

STAKEHOLDERS THROUGH THE 

EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT OF A

DYNAMIC BUSINESS PORTFOLIO.

VISION

At KUO, we visualize our growth and consolidation 

based on the creation of value supported by:

•	 The pride we feel as a socially responsible company 

that maintains a reputation of integrity, strength, 

and capacity to generate value for its stakeholders.

•	 The high profitability of the company reflected in 

the sustained generation of value in businesses.

•	 The alliances we establish with our partners and 

suppliers, always oriented to create value on both 

sides.

•	 The satisfaction derived from exceeding the 

expectations of our customers by being their best 

option in quality, service, innovation, and technology.

•	 The strength derived from being part of a first-class 

team of employees, who are motivated and share 

the objectives and values of KUO, and through 

considering their constant preparation as a priority.

•	 An organization comprised by a dynamic portfolio 

of companies oriented to the creation of sustained 

value, with an agile and flexible structure which 

promotes timely adaptation to market demands.

•	 The commitment to the communities in which we 

operate, which is reflected in our active participation 

in favor of their development.
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$4,934

EBITDA
(MILLIONS OF MEXICAN PESOS)

REVENUES
(MILLIONS OF MEXICAN PESOS)

$2 ,752

$1,523

$637

CONSUMER

CHEMICAL

AUTOMOTIVE

$23,160

$10,752

$45,785

$11,699

MILLIONS OF MEXICAN PESOS 2020 2019 20 Vs. 19

Revenues 45,785 42,228 8.4%

Operating Profit 1,688 3,397 (50.3%)

Operating Margin 3.7% 8.0% -4.3 pp

EBITDA2 4,934 5,243 (5.9%)

EBITDA Margin 10.8% 12.4% -1.6 pp

Net Majority Income (Controlling Interest) (570) 2,233 N/A

Leverage Ratio3 2.65x 2.76x

Interest Coverage Ratio4 4.46x 4.33x

Capitalization Ratio5 0.56x 0.54x

1.	 Relevant figures are presented based on the Proforma 
Combined Information, as a result of the financial 
information consolidation of all subsidiaries, including the 
proportional consolidation in joint ventures.

2.	 EBITDA calculation is determined as follows: Proforma 
Operating Profit plus Proforma Depreciation and 
Amortization (including the period cost for Proforma labor 
obligations).

3.	 Debt-Cash / EBITDA* for the last 12 months.
4.	 EBITDA* for the last 12 months / Net Interest Paid for the 

last 12 months.
5.	 Total Debt / Total Debt + Total Equity.
* Without effects of IFRS 160 1

RELEVANT FINANCIAL 

Figures                 
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+400,000

# BENEFICIARIESINVESTMENT
(MILLIONS OF MEXICAN PESOS)

+412 ,300

+182,000

+50,000

+69,000

+12,000

+100,000

+20,500

KUO’s PEOPLE 2020 2019
Professional Training 300,352 hours 162,831 hours

Kuo Safety System Assistance Training 112,000 hours 3,490 hours

Employees in Health Activities +61,700 +17,400

COMMUNITY

Social Projects +25 +40

Social Investment (million pesos) $20.5 $52.9

Beneficiaries +182,000 +71,000

ENVIRONMENT

Energy Consumption 333,105 MWh 358,709 MWh

Recycled Water 3’095,486 m3 3´391,701 m3

Thermal Energy Consumption 975,104 GJ 1´078,711 GJ

Ghg Emissions 285,622 TCO2e 298,070 TCO2e

Clean Energy Generation 3,647 MWh 3,807 MWh

TRAINING

COMMUNITY

HEALTH

0 1

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL  

Figures
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OUR SUSTAINABILITY MODEL AND THE INITIATIVES WE 

IMPLEMENTED AROUND ITS THREE CORNERSTONES ARE 

RELATED TO THE CURRENT MATERIALITY OF THE GROUP 

AND ITS BUSINESSES, AS WELL AS IN ACTIONS THAT 

ALLOW US TO COOPERATE, PROMOTE AND ACHIEVE THE 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS BASED ON THE 2030 

AGENDA ISSUED BY THE UNITED NATIONS. THE PROCESS 

FOR DETERMINING MATERIALITY WAS UPDATED IN 2020.

Sustain
ability 
Model

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

INNOVATION

VALUE CREATION

KUO PEOPLE

COMUNITY

ENVIRONMENT

AUTOMOTIVECHEMICALCONSUMER
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1.
BUSINESS 
ETHICS AND 
TRANSPARENCY

2.
REGULATORY 
COMPLIANCE

3.
PRODUCT CONTROL,  
QUALITY AND SAFETY

4.
OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH AND SAFETY

5.
CUSTOMER 
RELATIONSHIPS

6.
OPERATIONAL 
EFFICIENCY

9.

7.
PRODUCTS  
AND SERVICES 
INNOVATION

8.
INTELLIGENT 
CONSUMPTION OF 
WATER

RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND MONITORING

10.
WASTE 
MANAGEMENT

11.
LABOR 
RELATIONSHIPS

Materiality
OVER THIS YEAR, WE UPDATED OUR MATERIALITY 

STUDY IN ORDER TO STRENGTHEN CONSULTATION 

MECHANISMS AND ENCOURAGE DIALOGUE AND 

FEEDBACK WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND 

CUSTOMERS. THE PROCESS REPRESENTS THE BASIS 

FOR DEEPENING THE MAIN SUB-STAKEHOLDER 

MAPPING FOR BUSINESS, AS WELL AS THE 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE RELEVANT TOPICS FOR THEM.

AS A RESULT OF THIS 
STUDY, THE FOLLOWING 
MATERIAL TOPICS WERE 

IDENTIFIED FOR  
THE COMPANY:
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51
26
23

CONSUMER

CHEMICAL

AUTOMOTIVE

% REVENUE
BY SECTOR

Essential is adapting 
to the needs of the 
environment to 
overcome challenges

0 2

Balan
ce
Diversification
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IT IS INTEGRATED BY THE PORK 

MEAT AND BRANDED FOODS 

SEGMENTS. THROUGH KEKÉN, 

HERDEZ DEL FUERTE AND 

MEGAMEX FOODS, WE ARE 

LEADERS IN THE CATEGORIES 

WE OPERATE IN, WITH PRODUCTS 

A ND B R A ND S T H AT A R E 

NATIONALLY AND INTERNATIONALLY 

RECOGNIZED.

Significant 
growth in 
exports to 
China

Consumer
SECTOR

PORK MEAT

We produce, market and distribute pork in different presentations: cuts, 

seasoned meat, frozen food and live pork. Our business is vertically integrated, 

from genetics, farms, feed plants, to processing plants and our own distribution 

channels, which allows us to have complete control over the quality of the 

products we offer and generate greater added value for the business.

Under the Kekén brand we are the largest pork producer in Mexico and under 

the Kinitón brand we are one of the main exporters to China, Japan, the United 

States and South Korea, among others. 

Nationwide, we have the Maxicarne retail network, which completed the year 

with more than 490 stores, where we sell pork, beef and poultry products, as 

well as strategically located distribution centers, routes for direct delivery to 

businesses, self-service sales, wholesalers, food service, consumer centers 

and packing plants.
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BRANDED FOODS

Herdez Del Fuerte

Through a strategic alliance with Grupo Herdez, we maintain a Joint Venture 

called Herdez del Fuerte. Through this partnership, we produce and market 

food of the highest quality with a portfolio of highly recognized brands in the 

categories of tomato puree, ketchup sauce, homemade sauces, mole sauce, 

canned vegetables, among others.

MegaMex Foods

As a part of Herdez Del Fuerte, we operate a Joint Venture with Hormel Foods, 

called Megamex Foods. Through this business we produce and distribute a wide 

variety of food products under three main categories: guacamole, frozen food 

and sauces for the American market. With more than 10 years of experience, we 

have become the largest guacamole marketer and have achieved an important 

position in the Herdez brand salsa category in this territory.

Solid dynamism 
in domestic 

market: sauces, 
puree, vegetables 

and ketchup
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SYNTHETIC RUBBER

Through our strategic alliance with Repsol, 

Dynasol has positioned itself as a leader in 

manufacturing synthetic rubber in Mexico 

and one of the main players worldwide.

With presence in more than 70 countries 

and manufacturing plants in three 

continents, this business is recognized 

for having a diversified portfolio of 

applications and specialties that maintains  

a constant focus on innovation.

Volume 
growth in 
different 
applications

Chemical

POLYMERS

In Resirene we produce and commercialize different applications of polymers 

with specific features to meet our customers’ needs. Thanks to our flexibility 

and constant innovation, we are the leaders in the Mexican market and have 

a strong international presence in the export market.

Through our positioning in the industry, Resirene has represented an opportunity 

and a competitive advantage in the distribution and commercialization of  

chemical products.

SECTOR
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TRANSMISSIONS

Tremec manufactures and assembles high 

performance components and transmissions. 

This business is noted for the constant 

innovation and quality of its products, 

which are aimed at different platforms, 

from sports cars to military, recreational 

and agricultural vehicles. The technology 

we offer meets the market’s key needs 

for automation, emissions control, fuel 

efficiency, torque capacity and refinement, 

positioning us as a benchmark in this industry.

We recently concluded an investment for the 

development of a Dual Clut Transmission (DCT) with 

highly technological components that allows us to position 

ourselves in a market niche with high quality standards.

DCT Launch 
for the 2020 
Chevrolet 
Corvette 
Stingray

AFTERMARKET

We produce and commercialize automotive spare parts such as pistons, brakes, 

bearings, gaskets and seals, among others. Our main brands are: Fritec, TF 

Victor and Moresa, which are recognized in the market for their quality and 

competitive prices. Through Dacomsa, we market and distribute our products, 

providing added value by offering training and maintaining direct contact 

with customers.

In addition, during this year we launched our digital sales channel, which 

allows us to reach the markets we serve in an efficient manner.

Automotive
SECTOR
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It is essential to 
respond and  
act in the face  
of any challenge

NEW
PRODUCTS IN  

THE CONSUMER 
SECTOR

INVESTMENT
FOR RECONSTRUCTION 

OF KEKÉN 
PROCESSING PLANT

0 3

Cha
llen
ge

Achievements
2020
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AUTOMOTIVE
DCT Transmission Success

DCT Transmission production sales began to supply the contract for the new 2020 

Chevrolet Corvette Stingray, awarded “Car of the Year”, while sales continued for 

the Ford Mustang Shelby GT-500, awarded “2021 Performance Car of the Year”.

TF Víctor: Brand of the Year

TF Victor was recognized by the National Association of Representatives, 

Importers and Distributors of Automotive Parts and Accessories (ARIDRA) as 

“Brand of the Year 2020”.

During the year, we focused our efforts on 

projects that allowed us to maintain 

operational continuity, implementing 

protocols to protect our employees’ 

health and maintaining an ongoing 

commitment to our shareholders, 

customers, suppliers, communities 

and the environment. In addition, we 

experienced unforeseen situations 

that challenged us; however, this proved 

the strength of our business model 

and the effectiveness of the Company’s  

response capacity.

2020
ACHIEVEMENTS

The 8-speed  
DCT 
Transmission 
manufactured  
by Tremec  
has a new 
technology
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2,000 million pesos 
investment for  
the reconstruction  
of Kekén’s processing 
plant in Sahé, Yucatán

CONSUMER
Fire and Reconstruction of the Sahé Processing Plant

During the second quarter of the year, we experienced an extremely unfortunate 

event, when one of the processing plants of the Pork Meat Business suffered 

a severe fire, affecting about 80% of the machinery, building, equipment and 

inventories. This plant served the domestic and export markets and represented 

close to 30% of the pork processing capacity.

From the first week after the event, mitigation measures were taken to minimize 

the impact on the operation, including the implementation of additional shifts 

at the processing plants in Umán, Yucatán and Irapuato, Guanajuato, as well 

as the production of a limited volume at third-party facilities.

The plant was covered for Property Damage, Extraordinary Expenses and 

Consequential Losses. At the end of December, an amount of $1,025 million 

pesos was recorded corresponding to the first installments for insurance 

recovery, and we expect to conclude this process in the next few months.

This advance payment was used to begin the reconstruction of the processing 

plant at the same location, which will be fully financed with the proceeds from 

the insurance and should be completed by the end of 2021.

Maxicarne App and Home Delivery Launching

In the Pork Meat Business, a mobile application was enabled for Maxicarne 

stores, providing information on special offers and promotions, as well as 

showing the locations of nearby stores. In addition, we innovated the purchasing 

process by enabling the take-away service.

San Antonio Food Plant Expansion

As part of the Group expansion plan, three new silos were installed at the Food 

Plant. Each silo has the capacity to store 10,000 tons of corn, thus increasing 

the security of the grain supply.

New products and presentations launched at Megamex

•	 Herdez® Guacamole in USA.

•	 New Wholly® Avocado Smashes and Diced Avocado

•	 Herdez® Salsa Cremosa Sauces in USA
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CHEMICAL
Dynasol Santander New Production Line

With a maximum capacity of 25 thousand tons per year for the manufacture 

of adhesive rubber, this investment will favor the creation of more than 300 

jobs during the construction phase and another 50 in the production phase. 

Sustainable Approach at Resirene

The business is developing its own initiatives and collaborating with other 

entities to take advantage of waste for its subsequent integration into our 

production chain. Today, it has a solution in bio-based polymers for different 

everyday applications, mainly for the food packaging market.

Polymers as a base for medical applications

The versatility of the polymers we produce at Resirene allows them to be 

transformed into applications for the medical and pharmaceutical sector, 

which demand high technical standards of safety and quality. Some examples 

are: Sample containers, Petri dishes, drug blister packs, vials, thermal foam 

containers, among others.

The versatility 
of the polymers 

we produce at 
Resirene allows 

them to be 
transformed 

into applications 
for medical and 
pharmaceutical 

sectors
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CORPORATE
Socially Responsible Company Award

Again, this year we were granted the Socially Responsible Company Award for 

the Consumer (Kekén 9th consecutive year), Chemical (Dynasol 8th consecutive 

year), and Automotive Sector (KUO Refacciones 3rd consecutive year).

New KUO Website

In line with the strategy of continuous communication with all our stakeholders, 

we launched a new platform during the year that brings together the most 

relevant aspects of the business, geographic presence, philosophy, sustainable 

culture, information for investors and transparency, in addition to being a link 

with updated information about the Company.

DESC Value Creation Awards

DESC recognizes the contribution of its employees to projects that generate 

value for the Group, the environment and its various stakeholders through 

the DESC Value Creation Awards.

In this edition, the winner of the Manuel Senderos Irigoyen Award was Kekén with 

the “Healthy Community” project. This initiative aims to strengthen relationships 

of mutual benefit with the communities where the business operates, promoting 

a better quality of life through an Integral Community Health Program, which, 

in addition to promoting preventive health measures, generates a culture for 

healthy living, where Kekén is seen as an ally of the community that generates 

shared value between the Company and the Community.

Recognition 
as a Socially 
Responsible 
Company
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% EMPLOYEES
BY COMPANY

40
33 
11 
8
6
1
1 

BRANDED FOODS

PORK MEAT

TRANSMISSIONS

AFTERMARKET

SYNTHETIC RUBBER

POLYMERS

CORPORATE

0 4

Nece
sary

Essential is
the passion and 
talent of the best 
team to respond
to every challenge

Our
Talent
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Our priority at 
all times has been 
the health of  
our people

2020 was a year in which great challenges were presented, one of the key 

pieces to face them was to have an adequate strategy of assertive and timely 

communication, as well as to maintain a strict discipline for compliance with 

protocols and sanitary measures.

 

During this period, which has led us to rethink processes and challenge the 

traditional way of working, we have found new ways to operate, sell and position 

ourselves in the markets we serve. During the year we generated face-to-face 

and online programs with a preventive and containment approach for the care 

of our collaborators in the operations during working hours.

+23,000
E M P L O Y E E S

% BY GENDER

EMPLOYEES WITH 
PERFORMANCE 
EVALUATION

66
34

MEN

WOMEN

CONTRACTS

22,204
INDEFINITE TERM 

1, 281
FIXED-TERM

11,830
COLLECTIVE

2019
68%

2020
50%

REGION

21,366
JOBS IN MEXICO

2 ,119
REST OF  

THE WORLD

94%

FOCUSED ON VALUE CREATION, 

TALENT MANAGEMENT AND 

EMPLOYEE WELL-BEING, 

AT KUO WE MAINTAIN OUR 

POSITIONING AS A LEADING  

AND CUT TING - EDGE 

COMPANY IN THE USE OF 

DIGITAL TECHNOLOGIES  

AND HUMAN CAPITAL 

MANAGEMENT AC TIONS . 

People
OUR
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In order to face the COVID-19 pandemic and take care of our employees’ 

health, we created the Medical Committee in February, and today we have 

eight networks of specialists in six states of Mexico. 

Similarly, four protocols were developed in twenty locations and constantly 

updated in accordance with Federal guidelines and those issued by the WHO, 

with a direct impact on more than 13,900 employees.

Additionally, 500 sanitary filters with 24/7 functionality were installed and more 

than 120 people were trained to carry out the functions related to them, 300 

transportation routes were opened for personnel to guarantee a healthy distance, 

more than 161,400 questionnaires were applied to monitor COVID-19 symptoms, 

more than 50 talks were given and around 10 weekly communications related to 

the pandemic have been communicated.

WE ARE GRATEFUL TO THE MEDICAL 

STAFF OF ALL THE BUSINESSES AND 

CORPORATE AREAS THAT MAKE 

UP GRUPO KUO. WE RECOGNIZE 

THEIR PROFESSIONALISM, 

VOCATION AND COURAGE IN 

FACING THIS CRISIS FROM THE 

FRONT LINE. THEIR WORK HAS 

BEEN FUNDAMENTAL TO THE 

CONTINUIT Y OF OPERATIONS.

Recognition
FRONT LINE  | COVID-19

FOR THE MEDICAL TEAM

All of our 
medical staff 
have been 
certified with at 
least 5 CLIMSS 
platform courses

PEOPLE 
COMPISE THE FRONT 
LINE MEDICAL STAFF

52
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A 24-hour emotional support line was implemented, which provided service to 

50,000 cases related to COVID-19 and 115 cases for other emotional issues.

Our speed of reaction, the use of technological tools and the capacity for 

innovation that characterizes us, together with the willingness and adaptation 

of our people, have allowed us to maintain an agile and efficient operation 

in all our businesses.

90% of 
administrative 
personnel are 
working remotely

Remote Work

Since the beginning of the contingency, we implemented remote work for the 

administrative areas, supported by productivity programs for teleworking 

and training in the use of technological tools, delivered through 28 webinars.

+140
MILLION INVESTMENT  

IN COVID-19 
PREVENTIVE MEASURES 

(EQUIPMENT, INPUTS, 
INFRASTRUCTURE, TRANSPORT, ETC.)

+17,300
CLINICAL EXAMS 

+20,400 
MEDICAL CARE 

FOR ACUTE RESPIRATORY 
ILLNESSES 

+5 ,800 
VACCINES ADMINISTERED

AGAINST THE INFLUENZA VIRUS

+1,600 
PCR TESTS 

+243 
RAPID TESTS

+1,108 
ACTIVITIES RELATED 
TO HEALTH, NUTRITION, PREVENTION 
AND DETECTION OF COVID

+41,000 
DIRECT FAMILY MEMBERS 
OF EMPLOYEES BENEFITED 
IN HEALTH ISSUES    
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Finally, we carried out DESC Leader program Module 6, strengthening three 

fundamental competencies for leaders in a crisis environment: resilience, skills 

for managing digital tools and remote collaboration. All these programs were 

100% digital in the form of synchronous workshops.

Staff training and development is one of the fundamental elements of 

talent management.

Wellness in Action 

In order to create a single site where our collaborators can easily find resources 

and preventive measures about physical and mental health care, a platform 

called “Wellness in Action” was launched within the SIGO portal. It is currently 

maintained as the mechanism for sharing official information related to COVID-19.

DURING THE YEAR, MORE THAN 

50 COUNSELING SESSIONS WERE 

HELD TO PROVIDE EMPLOYEES 

WITH RECOMMENDATIONS ON 

EMOTIONAL MANAGEMENT, 

FINANCIAL HEALTH AND DISEASE 

PREVENTION THROUGH TALKS 

ABOUT NUTRITION AND COVID-19 

PREVENTION, AMONG OTHERS.

Training

28  Technical 
skills programs 
on the use of 
digital tools 
and improved 
productivity in 
teleworking

HOURS 

3,490 
2019

TRAINING  
ON SAFETY TOPICS 

TRAINING ON  
COMPETITION TOPICS

+112,000
HOURS 

162,831
2019

+300,300 

+$69 MILLION PESOS
TRAINING ON 

SAFETY TOPICS 

6 ,720
EMPLOYEES IN BRIGADE TRAINING 

(FIREFIGHTING AND OTHERS).  

1,662 

EMPLOYEES IN DRILLS
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37
20

HEALTH 

EDUCATION

ENVIRONMENT

% INVESTMENT
COMMUNITY PROGRAMS

It is essential  
to contribute to 
the well-being of 
communities  
and promote their 
development

0 5

Essen
tial 
Our 
Community
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HEALTH
Health Care Centers Opening in Yucatán

The Health Care Centers integrate, among other actions, the promotion of 

sports, conferences against addictions, as well as the Health Route and Health 

Fairs. With this initiative, medical orientation was provided on respiratory 

and gastrointestinal diseases, as well as training on preventive measures to 

reduce the possibility of Covid -19 infection. 

+180,000 
B E N E F I T E D  I N D I V I D U A L S

+ 120 TONS
TONS OF KEKÉN MEAT 

+21,000 
LITERS OF 

SANITIZING GEL 
PRODUCED AT RESIRENE 

+1,300 
OF SANITIZING 
GEL DONATION

+17,700 
SANITARY PRODUCTS

/KITS DONATED 
TO HOSPITALS 

AND COMMUNITIES

25
SOCIAL PROJECTS 

FOCUSED ON 
A SUSTAINABLE STRATEGY

16
 ALLIANCES

 FOR SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT IN 

COMMUNITIES

OUR SUSTAINABILIT Y STRATEGY 

BUNDLES A SERIES OF MANAGEMENT 

AND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAMS INTEGRATED INTO 

OUR BUSINESS VISION. THESE 

INITIATIVES SEEK TO PROMOTE 

THE HEALTH AND SAFET Y OF OUR 

PEOPLE, THE CORRECT USE OF 

NATURAL RESOURCES, AND THE 

LINK AGE WITH THE COMMUNITIES 

NEAR OUR OPERATIONS IN ORDER TO 

GROW TOGETHER, COMPANY 

AND SOCIET Y.

Community
OUR

BENEFITED 
COMMUNITIES

120

BENEFICIARIES
BY ACCESS TO FREE CONSULTATIONS 
AND MEDICINES

+3,000

AR       20     20 6564 GRUPO KUO



+120 tons of meat 
donated in Yucatan 
to support in this 
sanitary contingency 
health contingency

Resirene

Resirene donated more than 400 liters of sanitizing gel to the Hospital 

Universitario in Puebla, Mexico, in order to contribute to the protection and 

hygiene of medical personnel, patients and visitors of the institution.

Kekén 

We donated more than 130 tons of Kekén Meat in Yucatan to support the nutrition 

of the most affected communities during the health contingency. 

DONATIONS
MegaMex Foods

Cash and product donations to organizations that supported vulnerable 

communities in the United States, including:

•	 World Central Kitchen: Preparation and delivery of free food for doctors, 

as well as for vulnerable families. 

•	 Orange County: Purchase of 300 meals per week from local restaurants, 

which were distributed to vulnerable communities. 

•	 Partnership with “I Am Hero LA”: Delivery of more than 2,000 meals  

to hospital physicians in the city of Los Angeles and the Dallas-Fort  

Worth area.

•	 Partnership with chef Tim Love: Donation of more than 10,000 meals for 

affected communities in Texas.
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EDUCATION
Partnership for Education with Save The Children

In collaboration with Save The Children, we promoted workshops and fairs in 

communities near our operations in Yucatán, on topics such as: Children and 

Adolescents’ Rights, Disease Prevention, Health and Nutrition, Culture of Peace 

and Community Mobilization. The purpose of the above is for the communities 

to learn more about their rights.

Circular Economy Model at Universities

Collaboration agreement between Resirene and the Faculty of Chemistry of 

the Benemérita Universidad Autónoma de Puebla (BUAP) to implement the 

“Innovating to Care for the Future” campaign. The initiative consists of a 

permanent awareness campaign and the donation of containers for separating 

plastic waste.

Classrooms Construction

We continued with the program for the construction of educational facilities for 

vulnerable and disabled people in Santiago Tianguistenco, Edo. de Mex. During 

the year, two classrooms were built with the participation of 165 volunteers, 

indirectly benefiting more than 900 students, academics and parents.

DESC Chair and Interaction at Universidad Anáhuac

Under a 100% virtual modality, the DESC Chair was held with 34 students of the 

“Business & Management” degree program at the Universidad Panamericana, 

which aims to train future entrepreneurs and business managers. With the 

participation of more than 30 speakers from all of the Group’s businesses, this 

space has the function of sharing experiences and bringing students closer to 

the work environment, seeking to contribute to the development and growth 

of the next generations.

In addition, our CEO participated in the Meeting with Positive Action Leaders 

of the Universidad Anáhuac, a program that trains socially responsible and 

upright entrepreneurs who are internationally competitive.

In the Building 
Program, two 

classrooms were 
created with the 

participation  
65 volunteers

YEARS WITH  
THE PROGRAM 
FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF 
EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES

5
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57%
OF ENERGY 

CONSUMPTION

+68 TONS
REUSED WASTE

+ 3 MILLION M3

REUSED WATER

Essential is to act with 
responsibility  
to guarantee  
the conservation  
of a better world

Vi
tal
Our
Planet

0 6
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We have programs and objectives mainly aimed at recycling and making better 

use of water, reducing waste and producing clean energy.

Water Efficiency

We carry out initiatives to constantly improve our efficiency in water 

consumption, from collection, use, treatment and discharge.

IN ALL OUR BUSINESSES WE 

FOCUS ON ACHIEVING GREATER 

OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY, 

TOGETHER WITH MINIMIZING THE 

IMPACT ON THE ENVIRONMENT, 

WE PROMOTE THE CONSTANT 

IMPLEMENTATION OF 

SUSTAINABLE ACTIONS AGAINST 

CLIMATE CHANGE, SEEKING TO 

ACHIEVE THE GOALS OF AGENDA 

2030 ISSUED TO PROMOTE THE 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS.

PlanetOUR

+68 tons
of recycled
waste

M3 OF WATER TREATED
AND REUSED EQUIVALENT TO:

35% 
OF TOTAL 

CONSUMPTION

+3 MILLION

-7.2%

WATER CONSUMPTION 
INTENSITY

(M3 / TOTAL REVENUES IN MILLION PESOS)

264
245

2019

2020
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Energy Consumption

We are firmly committed to obtaining the best energy supply and efficiency; 

additionally, through the installation of biodigesters in our Pork Meat business, 

we have achieved multiple environmental benefits:

•	 Use and proper disposal of organic waste (biomass).

•	 Generation and consumption of clean electric energy through the use of 

motor generators.

•	 Reduction of GHG emissions in this business

•	 Wastewater treatment and irrigation reuse.-7.2%

-9.1%

INTENSITY OF NON-HAZARDOUS 
WASTE GENERATION

(T / TOTAL REVENUES IN MILLION PESOS)

HAZARDOUS WASTE 
GENERATION INTENSITY

(T / TOTAL REVENUES IN MILLION PESOS)

1.52
1.41

0.033
0.030

2019

2020

2019

2020

Waste Management

In addition to constantly monitoring so that the production centers carry out 

proper disposal in accordance with applicable legislation, we implemented 

actions that contribute to the use and reduction of waste.

During 2020, in our brake plant, we managed to recover and reincorporate 24.5 T 

of waste into our processes, through the Ecofiller project. CLEAN ENERGY  
CONSUMPTION VS  
43% CFE

57%

ON-FARM 
POWER GENERATION

+3,600*MWH

* -4% vs 2019 due to decrease in wastewater to be treated.

-7.3%

ENERGY CONSUMPTION 
INTENSITY

(MWH / TOTAL REVENUES 
IN MILLION PESOS)

9.07
8.41

2019

2020
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Thermal Energy Consumption

During the last few years we have implemented initiatives focused on reducing 

the use of fossil fuels in our businesses.

In order to protect the natural habitat of 

the region, we have 800 hectares of 

conservation areas, which houses to 

more than 100 animals and plant 

species, some of which are included 

in the NOM-059-SEMARNAT. The project 

has a Council in which universities, 

researchers and authorities collaborate 

with the purpose of studying and 

conserving the natural resources of wild 

flora and fauna, including threatened or 

endangered species.

-17.7%

-7.2%

FUEL CONSUMPTION 
INTENSITY

(GJ CONSUMED FUEL / TOTAL  
REVENUES IN MILLION PESOS)

GREENHOUSE GAS  
EMISSIONS INTENSITY

(TCO2e / TOTAL REVENUES IN MILLION PESOS)

31.57
25.98

9.25
8.58*

2019

2020

2019

2020

FUEL OIL 
CONSUMPTION 

IN THE PORK MEAT BUSINESS.

- 68 %

GHG Emissions

In order to reduce the emissions generated, we implemented actions to evaluate 

and improve production processes.

*	 According to the SEMARNAT notice published at: https://www.gob.
mx/semarnat/acciones-y-programas/registro-nacional-de-emisiones-
rene, the GHG emissions calculation was made using the emission 
factors for electricity consumption for the 2019 report.

Kekén
CONSERVATION AREA
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It is essential to 
have the experience
to ensure a
global vision

Gov
er
nance

Corporate

0 7
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The Board of 
Directors meets  
at least quarterly

The Board of Directors is KUO’s highest management body. It is composed by 

14 members, 8 of which are independent, and is assisted in the performance 

of its activities by an Audit Committee and a Corporate Practices Committee.

The members of the Board and Committees are appointed by the Shareholders’ 

Meeting for a term of one year, with the possibility of unlimited ratification, 

and have been proposed and elected as honorable persons with extensive 

experience in the industry, and free of conflicts of interest.

In compliance with the Company’s Bylaws, its main responsibilities include:

•	 Establishing the Company’s strategic vision and following up on its fulfillment

•	 Monitoring the performance of relevant executives

•	 Evaluating risk management processes, in economic, environmental and 

social issues

•	 Submission of an Annual Report on the Group’s performance to the Shareholders’ 

Meeting for review and approval

•	 Enabling mechanisms and channels for communication with stakeholders, 

who are informed about the Group’s overall performance

Fernando Senderos Mestre
Related member

Executive President and Chairman 
of the Board of Grupo KUO y DINE

Javier Arrigunaga Gómez del Campo
Independent Member

Chairman of the Board of Grupo Aeroméxico  
and Investment Advisor

Alberto Baillères González
Independent Member

Executive President and Chairman  
of the Board of Bal Group

José Manuel Canal Hernando
Independent Member

Independent Member, Commissioner  
and Advisor on Corporate Governance

 Arturo D’Acosta Ruiz
Independent Member

CFO at Corporación Actinver

Alejandro de la Barreda Gómez
Related Member

CEO of Grupo KUO and DINE

Valentín Díez Morodo
Independent Member

President of Nevadi International Group

Arturo Elías Ayub
Independent Member

Director of Strategic Alliances and 
Contents of América Móvil

Federico Fernández Senderos
Related member
Chairman of Grupo Sim and  
Independent Member of Grupo Chedraui

Carlos Gómez y Gómez
Related Member
Chairman of the Board  
of Directors of Estudia Más

Ernesto Mariano Hernández Quiroz
Independent Member
Business Independent Member

Prudencio López Martínez
Independent Member
Chairman of the
Board of Sanvica

Víctor Rivero Martín
Independent Member
Managing Director of Telehotel

Ernesto Vega Velasco
Independent Member
Business Independent Member

Ramón F. Estrada Rivero
Board Secretary
Deputy Managing Director of Grupo KUO and DINE

BOARD OF 

Directors
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Corporate 
Practices 

Audit 
COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE

Valentín Díez Morodo
President

Ernesto Vega Velasco
Independent Member

Víctor Rivero Martín
Independent Member

Ramón F. Estrada Rivero
Secretary

José Manuel Canal Hernando
President

Arturo D’Acosta Ruiz
Independent Member

Ernesto Vega Velasco
Independent Member

Ramón F. Estrada Rivero
Secretary

This committee meets every quarter and its main functions include the following:

•	 Appointing, electing, removing and compensating the Chief Executive 

Officer, as well as approving the policies for appointing and compensating 

relevant executives.

•	 Providing its opinion to the Board of Directors on relevant transactions and 

transactions with related parties.

•	 Calling shareholders’ meetings and having the items they deem pertinent 

included in the agenda.

•	 Supporting the Board in the preparation of reports (annual and activity 

and operations reports).

This committee meets quarterly and holds an additional session in December 

of each year. Among its main functions are:

•	 Helping the Board of Directors in the determination, implementation and 

evaluation of the Company’s internal control and internal audit system, as 

well as following up on the main risks to which the Company is exposed.

•	 Examining and proposing accounting policies and financial statements 

for the approval of the Board of Directors.

•	 Verifying the administration and management of the company and 

implementing the resolutions adopted by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

•	 Proposing the hiring of the legal entity that provides external auditing 

services, discussing the observations and findings detected by the 

External Auditor in the financial statements, as well as proposing the 

necessary actions for their remediation.
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Management
TEAM

Fernando Senderos Mestre
Executive President and Chairman  

of the Board of Directors

Alejandro De La Barreda Gómez
Chief Executive Officer

Ramón F. Estrada Rivero
General Deputy Director 

 and Legal Affairs Director

Roger Patrón González
General Deputy Director 

and Aftermaket Director

Jorge F. Padilla Ezeta
Director of Finance and Planning

Claudio Ángel Freixes Catalán
Pork Meat Director 

Héctor Hernández-Pons Torres
Herde Del Fuerte Director

Antonio Herrera Rivera
Transmissions Director

Sergio Paredes Castañeda
Polymers Director

Felipe Varela Hernández
Synthetic Rubber Director
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Contrato temporal 

Hombres 14,312 729

Mujeres 7,166 1,155

Total 21,478 1,884
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de los grupos de interés pueden incluir, medios de comunicación editorial y las 
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period

1° de enero al 31 de diciembre del 2020.

102-51 Date of most 
recent previous report

Informe Integrado 2019.

102-52 Reporting cycle Anual.

102-53 Contact point Contraportada. 

102-54 Claims of 
reporting in accordance 
with the GRI Standards.

Pág. 30-31 (materialidad)

102-55 GRI content 
index

Pág. 86

102-56 External 
assurance

Carta de Auditores Externos

GRI Standard Contenido Página/ Declaración Omisión
GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, Tremec, Dacomsa.
Cobertura externa: Clientes.

103-2 En Grupo KUO contamos con políticas y procedimientos que 
buscan mitigar los riesgos vinculados a la inocuidad y calidad 
de los productos que ofrecemos. Estos lineamientos se 
implementan en los procesos de producción, comercialización 
y distribución de los productos. 

103-3 Grupo KUO cuenta con diversos sistemas, certificados, 
autorizaciones y reconocimientos relacionadas con la calidad 
e inocuidad de los productos, entre los que destacan: 

Negocio porcícola

Certificación TIF (Tipo Inspección Federal), Certificación México 
Calidad Suprema, y Certificación FSSC 22000 (Food Safety 
System Certification); Sistema HACCP (Hazzard Analysis Critial 
Control Point), Procedimientos Operativos Estandarizados de 
Saneamiento (POES) y Buenas Prácticas de Manufactura (BPM); 
autorización de los gobiernos de Japón y Corea del Sur para 
exportar a sus mercados y la USDA para exportar carne de cerdo 
a los Estados Unidos de Norteamérica.

Negocio de refacciones

Sistema de Gestión de la Calidad de conformidad con la 
norma ISO 9001

Negocios de hule sintético y poliestireno

Sistema de Gestión de la Calidad de conformidad con la 
norma ISO 9001

Buenas Prácticas de Manufactura (BPM)

GRI 416: Customer
health and safety

416-1 En los negocios de Grupo KUO se evalúan los impactos de los 
productos en la salud y seguridad de los usuarios y consumidores.

Employee Development

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Corporativo KUO, Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, 
Tremec y Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: NA.

103-2 Pages 52-61

103-3 Pages 52-61

GRI 404: Training and
education

404-1 Media de horas de capacitación por categoría profesional en 2020: 

Categoría profesional Media

Ejecutivos 18.80

Contribuidores Individuales (Empleados) 19.74

Operativos (Sindicalizados) 8.93

Media de horas de capacitación por sexo en 2020:

Media 12.86

404-2 Mujer Hombre

Presencial e-learning Presencial e-learning Total

279 4,509 99 1,019 5,924 

14,698 37,163 1,301 3,862 57,023 

28,018 70,814 146 886 99,863 

42,994 112,525 1,546 5,767 162,831 

404-3 Porcentaje de empleados que reciben evaluaciones periódicas 
del desempeño y desarrollo por categoría profesional: 

Categoría profesional Hombres Mujer

Ejecutivos 189 29

Contribuidores Individuales (Empleados) 2,580 857

Operativos (Sindicalizados) 7,052 3,138

Content Page / Disclosure Omission
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GRI Standard Content Page / Disclosure Omission GRI Standard Content Page / Disclosure Omission
Growth and Economic Performance

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Corporativo KUO, Kekén, Resirene, Tremec 
y Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: Accionistas y proveedores.

103-2 Pages 42 - 50 

103-3 Pages 42 - 50  

GRI 201: Economic
development

201-1 Pages 24-28  

Operational Eeficienc

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Corporativo KUO, Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, 
Tremec y Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: Socios estratégicos.

103-2 Pages 70-77 

103-3 Pages 70-77

GRI 302: Energy 302-1 Consumo de combustibles por tipo (GJ):

Fuente de energía 2020

Tipo de 
combustible

Diésel 23,509

Gas natural 807,617

Combustóleo 22,034

Gas LP 95,387

Gasolina 8,558

Total 957,104

Para la conversión a GJ de los consumos de diésel, gas LP y gasolina 
se utilizó el poder calorífico publicado por la CONUEE en 2020.  
El consumo de gas natural se obtuvo principalmente mediante 
facturas.

Consumo de electricidad (MWh/millones de pesos):

Fuente 2020

CFE 2.84

Energía limpia 5.57

Total 8.41 

Consumo total de energía en 2020 

GRI 305: Emissions 305-1 Pages 76

305-2 Pages 76

305-5 Pages 76

GRI 303: Water 303-1 Pages 72 y 73

303-3 Pages 72 y 73

Business Ethics and Transparency

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Corporativo KUO, Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, 
Tremec y Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: Socios estratégicos y proveedores.

103-2 Pages 78-84

103-3 Pages 78-84

GRI 205:
Anti-corruption

205-2 Durante 2021 se realizará capacitación que reciben los 
colaboradores, el cual incluye una capacitación sobre el 
código de ética que tiene un componente de anticorrupción.  
Actualmente no se cuenta con una capacitación específica 
de anticorrupción para el Consejo de Administración, sin 
embargo, el 100% de los miembros de este órgano conocen 
y firman su Carta de Adhesión y Cumplimiento del Código 
de Conducta de Grupo KUO, el cual previene el mal uso de 
información privilegiada, aceptación de regalos o favores 
personales, malversación de activos o información, y 
prevención de lavado de dinero.

Waste Management

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, Tremec y 
Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: Socios estratégicos.

103-2 Page 74 

103-3 Page 74

GRI 306: Effluents
and wastes

306-2 Page 70

Product Control and Quality

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Corporativo KUO, Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, 
Tremec y Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: Accionistas, socios estratégicos y proveedores.

103-2 KUO cuenta con un Sistema de Administración de Riesgos 
basado en el marco Enterprise Risk Management Framework 
(ERM). La Metodología de Administración Integral de 
Riesgos Empresariales del Grupo, permite tomar decisiones 
estratégicas en torno a objetivos estratégicos, operacionales, 
reporteo y cumplimiento. 

103-3 En Grupo KUO, el Consejo de Administración realiza la 
evaluación de los procesos de gestión de riesgos, en temas 
económicos, ambientales y sociales.

GRI 201: Economic
performance

201-2 En Grupo KUO no se han identificado implicaciones financieras 
y otros riesgos y oportunidades derivadas del cambio climático, 
con base en análisis y evaluaciones de riesgos vigentes. 

Customer relationship

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Corporativo KUO, Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, 
Tremec y Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: Socios estratégicos y clientes.

103-2 Existen mecanismos dentro de los negocios para conocer la 
satisfacción de los clientes. 

103-3 DACOMSA elabora capacitación técnica postventa con sus 
clientes: 258 eventos presenciales para el conocimiento 
de sus productos con la asistencia de 18,314 clientes 
(presenciales y online)

Occupational health and safety

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Kekén, Dynasol, Resirene, Tremec y 
Dacomsa. 
Cobertura externa: Contratistas.

103-2 Pages 56-61 

103-3 Pages 56-61
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GRI Standard Content Page / Disclosure Omission GRI Standard Content Page / Disclosure Omission
403-1 Sistema de gestión de la salud y la seguridad en el trabajo

En KUO se desarrolló el Sistema de Seguridad y Salud 
Ocupacional con el objetivo de homologar, estandarizar e 
implementar las mejores prácticas de seguridad y salud 
ocupacional, integrado por los siguientes elementos: 
•	 El primer elemento es para generar Cultura, Liderazgo y 

Seguridad Individual y consta de 6 guías; 
•	 El segundo elemento Seguridad en el Trabajo consta de 6 

guías; 
•	 El tercer elemento Salud Ocupacional lo integran 2 guías; 

Fase de Difusión e Implementación: 

Elemento del Sistema Guías Avance 
%

Generar Cultura, 
liderazgo y seguridad 
individual

Liderazgo 25

Comunicación 15

Capacitación 35

Observaciones 
conductuales

45

Sistema E 35

Reconocimiento y 
Reorientación

30

Seguridad en el 
Trabajo

Análisis de Seguridad en el 
Trabajo / Permisos de Trabajo

50

Administración de Cambios 15

Investigación de 
Incidentes/Accidentes

50

Plan de Respuesta a 
Emergencias

80

Auditorias al Sistema 5

Salud Ocupacional Agentes y Factores de 
Riesgos

60

Exámenes Médicos 100

GRI 403: Occupational
health and safety

403-2 Tipos de accidentes y tasas de frecuencia de accidentes, 
enfermedades profesionales, días perdidos y absentismo por 
accidente laboral o enfermedad profesional de colaboradores y 
contratistas, por Unidad Estratégica de Negocio: 

Colaboradores:

Porcícola Hule 
Sintético

Polies-
tireno

Transmi-
siones

Refaccio-
nes

H M H M H M H M H M

Tasa de frecuencia de accidentes (TFA) 

2.47 1.38 0.7 0 0.33 0 1.13 1.16 1.23 4.55

Tasa de incidencia de enfermedades profesionales (TIEP)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.25 0 0

Tasa de días perdidos (TDP)

29.66 16.23 14.33 0 9.9 0 14.05 15.92 17.94 37.91

Tasa de absentismo (TAL)

237.3 129.8 113.04 0 79.18 0 112.43 127.37 143.49 177.8

Número de muertes por accidente laboral

1* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Número de muertes por enfermedad profesional

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Número de Colisiones

3 0 0 0 0
Contratistas:

Porcícola Hule 
Sintético

Polies-
tireno

Transmi-
siones

Refaccio-
nes

H M H M H M H M H M

Tasa de frecuencia de accidentes (TFA) 

0.46 0.92 0 0 0 0 3.32 2.46 1.0 4.01

Tasa de incidencia de enfermedades profesionales (TIEP)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tasa de días perdidos (TDP)

3.76 0.92 0 0 0 0 18.27 9.83 0 0

Tasa de absentismo (TAL)

3.09 7.33 0 0 0 0 146.18 78.62 32.95 0

Número de muertes por accidente laboral

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Número de muertes por enfermedad profesional

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Número de Colisiones

0 0 1 0 0
Fórmulas:
TFA= (No. de accidentes/Total de horas trabajadas) x 200,000
TIEP= (No. de enfermedades profesionales/ Total de horas trabajadas) x 

200,000
TDP= (No. total de días perdidos/ Total de horas trabajadas) x 200,000
TAL= (No. total de días perdidos por ausencia/ Número total de días 

trabajados por el conjunto de la plantilla) x 200,000
Vinculación con la comunidad
Cobertura interna: Kekén, Tremec, Dynasol, Resirene, Dacomsa
Cobertura externa: Comunidad

Por la diversidad 
de negocios y 
tamaño del Grupo, 
no se desglosa la 
información por 
región, sino por UEN.  

En el caso de los 
contratistas, no 
se desglosa la 
información por 
sexo.

Community engagement

GRI 103: Management 
approach

103-1 Cobertura interna: Kekén, Tremec, Dynasol, Resirene, Dacomsa
Cobertura externa: Comunidad

103-2 Page 62

103-3 Page 62

GRI 413: Local 
communities

413-1 Page 62

GRI 304: Biodiversity 304-3 Nuestro objetivo es mejorar los ecosistemas y detener la pérdida 
de biodiversidad, conservar los recursos naturales de flora y 
fauna silvestre, entre las que se encuentran especies endémicas; 
además se busca generar conciencia en las personas para 
impactar positivamente en la resistencia al cambio climático.
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Annual Audit Committee Report
To: Board of Directors
Grupo Kuo, S.A.B. de C.V.:

In compliance with provisions set forth in articles 42 and 43 of the Stock Market Law together with the Audit 
Committee Regulations, I hereby inform you about the activities we performed during the period ending as of 
December 31th, 2020. Throughout the progress of our work we considered the recommendations established in 
the Principles and Best Practices Code of the Corporate Governance structure. We held meetings at least every 
quarter and based on a working program we accomplished the activities described as follows:

RISK ASSESSMENT

We regularly evaluate the effectiveness of the Risk Management System established for detection, calculation, 
registration, assessment and risk control at KUO, as well as the implementation of follow-up procedures in 
order to assure the effective performance of tasks. Thus, we have concluded that such system is appropriate.

We were able to review together with the Management team and External and Internal Auditors potential 
risks factors that might impact KUO’s operations and assets. It was determined as a result that such critical 
factors have been correctly identified, assessed and handled. 

CYBERSECURITY

Considering the high risk that unauthorized access to the Group systems represent and the continuity of 
operations in the IT area, we focused specifically on the topic. We turned to external support in order to 
obtain a reasonable security, confirm that the proper implementation of systems’ access procedures and 
controls are correctly set, along with a business continuity protocol within the data processes areas.

COVID 19 IMPACT AND ACTIONS

During the Covid-19 pandemic contingency specific actions were taken in order to protect employees’ health 
and business continuity. Home office was implemented and sanitary recommendations were spread. The 
existing cybersecurity events were reviewed, handled and restrained without any operations impact to 
the Group.

INTERNAL CONTROL

We made sure that the Management, according to its responsibilities and taking into account the Company’s 
risk assessment report, established the required processes for compliance purposes together with an 
appropriate internal control mapping. Additionally, we followed up on comments and remarks developed 
by the external and internal auditors.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

We recommended to the Board of Directors to hire the external auditors of KUO S.A.B. de C.V. for the 2020’ 
fiscal period. For such purpose, we verified their independence and compliance with all provisions set forth 
in Law and general regulations established by the National Banking and Stock Market Commission in regards 
to Issuing Entities acting as contracting party of audit services for basic financial statements, which was 
effective as of August 1st 2018. Their scope of work, perspective and coordination with internal audit were 
analyzed accordingly.

We complied with our Regulation, which was reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors in 2018. In 
regards to the provisions set forth in Law and general regulations established by the National Banking 
and Stock Market Commission in regards to Issuing Entities acting as contracting party of audit services 
for basic financial statements. We verified its compliance by the external auditors as well as the assigned 
Committee responsibilities. 

We kept constant and direct communication with external auditors in order to be aware of their work 
progress as well as remarks and comments on our annual financial statements. We timely acknowledge 
their conclusions and reports, then followed up on recommendations stated in the audit outcome.

The external auditor’s fees for their services were approved for payment, making sure not to interfere with 
their independence with the Company.

Taking into account Management ś points of view we initiated an assessment of the external auditors’ 
performance concerning year 2020.

INTERNAL AUDIT

In order to maintain its independence and objectivity, Internal Audit area is currently reporting to the Audit 
Committee. The activities we carry out are described as follows:

1.	 In a timely manner, we approved activities and annual budget for the area. Internal Audit itself took 
part in the process of identifying risks, implementing controls and testing them. As a consequence, 
we also approved the annual budget and area structure.

2.	 We periodically received reports on the authorized working plan progress, possible deviations and 
reasons behind them.

3.	 A follow-up on their comments, remarks and suggestions was carried out.
4.	 We made sure to implement an annual training program.
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FINANCIAL REPORTS, ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTS TO THIRD PARTIES

We reviewed together with the people in charge of the Company’s financial statements preparation process 
for quarterly and annual periods. We then delivered our recommendation to the Board of Directors in order 
to obtain their approval to be published. As part of this process we considered opinions and observations 
by the external auditors, also we verified that the criteria, accounting policies and presentation used by the 
Management regarding financial statements preparation are enough, appropriate and consistent in comparison 
with the previous period. Therefore, as per our review the information presented by Management reflects 
reasonably the financial situation, operations outcome and cash-flows at KUO as of December 31st, 2020.

We also reviewed the quarterly and annual reports prepared by Management to be presented to shareholders, 
authorities and public in general, making sure they were based on International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and using the same accounting criteria for the annual reporting preparation. Once reviewed we were satisfied 
as there is certainly a comprehensive process that provides a reasonable security regarding its content.  
Consequently, we recommended the Board of Directors to authorize its publication.

Our revision also included other reports on any additional financial information requested by Regulatory 
Authorities in México.

We reviewed and recommended to the Board of Director its approval.

NORMATIVITY COMPLIANCE, LEGAL ASPECTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

We confirmed the existence and reliability of controls created by KUO in order to comply with the subjected 
legal provisions, making sure they were properly revealed in the financial reports.

We periodically reviewed existing legal proceedings and fiscal, legal and labor contingencies in KUO. We 
closely monitored the efficacy of the established procedure to identify them and follow up, as well as their 
proper revelation and record. 

CODE OF CONDUCT

With the support of the Internal Audit, we validated employee’s compliance with the existing Code of Conduct 
in KUO, we verified that proper processes were implemented for its updates recording and accurate promotion 
to the personnel, as well as the application of corresponding sanctions in case of detected infractions.

All complaints received through the Complaints System, created for this purpose, were verified so that they 
were correctly solved.

ADMINISTRATION ASPECTS

We held meetings between the Committee and Management to keep being informed about the Company’s 
administration processes, tasks and activities, relevant an unusual events too. We also had meetings with 
external and internal auditors to check on their work development, possible limitations they could have 
faced, and to facilitate any private communication with the Committee they might request. 

The Committee verified the compliance with the agreements adopted in the Shareholders’ Meeting held by 
the Company, based on guidelines determined in such meeting.

Whenever we considered it appropriate, we turned to professional freelance experts for support and 
independent opinion. We didn´t have any acknowledgment of possible significant breaches regarding 
operations policies, internal control systems, or accounting record standards.

We held executive meetings with Committee members exclusively in order to establish agreements and 
recommendations to the Management.

Our review also included other reports and any additional financial information requested by Regulatory 
Authorities in Mexico.

The President of the Audit Committee periodically reported to the Board of Directors, at least quarterly, 
all activities performed.

All work documentation and backup were registered in the proceedings and minutes from every meeting 
we held. They were reviewed and timely approved by the Committee members. 

February 16th, 2021.

Yours Sincerely

José Manuel Canal Hernando
President of the Audit Committee
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Letter of the Corporate
Practices Committee

Mexico City, February 16th, 2021.

To: Board of Directors
GRUPO KUO, S.A.B. de C.V.

In regards to the provisions stated in section I of article 43 of the Stock Market Law together with the by-laws 
of GRUPO KUO, S.A.B. de C.V. (“KUO” or the “Company”), and in representation of the Committee of Corporate 
Practices, I hereby present to you the most important activities we performed in order to provide an opinion on 
aspects within our scope of work throughout the period ending as of December 31st , 2020.

1.	 The Committee resolved to recommend the Board of Directors to grant approval of the following matters:

a.	 a.	Compensation Policies for 2020, as well as full payment to General Director along with a compensation 
to KUO’s President of the Board of Directors, according to terms provided by the General Director Deputy 
who is in charge of Human Capital department

b.	 Report of the updated Compensation Policies, which are consistent with the ones previously approved 
by the Board of Directors. Additionally, the approval of such policies for 2021 was recommended 

2.	 The Corporate Practices Committee knew, in a periodically manner, the hedging operations performed 
by the Company in order to provide certainty to the operation and non-speculative purposes.

3.	 The Committee was informed, among others, about the following matters:

a.	 Progress and conclusion of the investments in process within the Automotive sector in order to develop 
a new generation of high-tech transmissions.

b.	 Results and conclusion on the disinvestment project of JV Herdez del Fuerte regarding its tuna fish business. 

c.	 Operations and Financial status of the Synthetic Rubber businesses allocated in China. 

d.	 Status of steps taken with Port Authorities in regards to the current situation of the Maritime Terminal 
which operates one of the Synthetic Rubber’s business located in Altamira, with the purpose of giving 
continuity to the execution of the agreements reached.

e.	 The international situation regarding the African swine fever which is impacting the pork sector, also 
learn about the mitigation measures being implemented by the Company.

f.	 Due to Federal Government actions and reform initiatives to extinguish illegal Outsourcing practices, 
work protocols were implemented in order to monitor and face, in any case, labor authority’s inspections. 
In addition, we informed about the reviews of Employees Collective Agreements that were carried out 
within each BU (business units):  Transmissions, Synthetic Rubber and Pork Sector. 

g.	 Report on status and relevant points of the Pension Law initiative issued by Federal Government, 
applicable as of 2023.

h.	 Actions and measures implemented by the Company in every Business due to the COVID 19 Pandemic, 
case statistics and authority’s protocols and inspections status over each business units. 

i.	 Adopted agreements from the Stockholders Annual Ordinary General Assembly and Stockholders 
Ordinary General Assembly of the Company, held on April 30th and June 30th, 2020 respectively.

j.	 The Annual Report together with fiscal papers of Y-2019 were presented to the National Banking & Stock 
Market Commission, as well as to the Mexican Stock Market and market in general. Such documents 
including transfer-pricing studies that concluded that every related-party operations during fiscal 
Y-2019 complied with market prices.

k.	 The waiver granted by Banks which the Company has current credit contracts with, aimed to modify 
the total leverage ratio from 3.50 a 4.00 applicable for the fourth quarter of 2019, as well as for the 
first and second quarter of 2020. Likewise, we provided information about the waiver extension granted 
to modify (ii) the total leverage ratio from  4.00 to 5.00 and (ii) 0.7 for the capitalization index, both 
applicable for second, third and fourth quarter of 2020.

l.	 Status of Company’s Committed Credit Lines.

m.	 Operations carried out through the repurchase fund, according to the amount approved by the 
Stockholders Annual Ordinary General Assembly held on April 30th , 2020.

n.	 Signing of credit line with Inter-American Development Bank (IADB) for US50 Million dollars, which 
replaced previous Suppliers Discount Lines. In addition, new suppliers were registered (basically from 
sharecropping segment).

o.	 The sinister that occurred last May in the Sahé Process Plant of Pork sector, its estimated losses, recovery 
plan and short term capabilities, also the plant reconstruction and the process with the Insurance Company.

p.	 Sustainability Report of DESC Group, focused in Education, Environment and Community, three fundamental 
and specific pillars to create value and contribute to Sustainable Development Objectives 2030.

q.	 Actions taken due the new rules regarding products labeling (NOM 051) for JV Herdez del Fuerte and the 
Pork Business.

4. 	 The Committee did not have observations regarding Relevant Managing Directors´ performance.

5. 	 The Committee did not receive dispensation requests from the Members of the Board, Relevant 
Managing Directors or any person with authority in order to gain leverage on business opportunities 
related to KUO or any other Company under its control neither on which a significant influence exist.

6.	 The Committee reviewed all related party operations performed by the Company, making sure they 
were under market conditions.

I hereby state that the above was registered in the minutes of each session as well as in the reports prepared 
during the year for the Board of Directors meetings.

The opinions of KUO’s Relevant Managing Directors were considered on the preparation of this report and they 
were consistent with its content.

Yours Sincerely,

Mr. Valentín Diez Morodo
President of Company Practices Committee
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Independent Auditors’ 
Report to the Board of 
Directors and Stockholders of 
Grupo KUO, S.A.B. de C.V.

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Grupo KUO, S.A.B. de C.V. and 
Subsidiaries (the Entity or Grupo KUO), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as 
of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity and the consolidated statements 
of cash flows, for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of the significant accounting policies applied.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of Grupo KUO, S.A.B de C.V. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020, 2019 
and 2018, and their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Independent Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance with 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) together with the Ethics Code issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants (IMCP Code), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and the IMCP Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

OTHER MATTERS

COMPOSITION OF GRUPO KUO

As indicated in Note 6 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Grupo KUO is an industrial conglomerate 
composed of three Segments: Consumer, engaged mainly in the production and sale of pork meat and consumer 
products (including processed food and beverages); Chemical, engaged in the manufacture and sale of plastics and 
chemical products; and Automotive, mainly engaged in the production and sale of transmissions and auto-parts.

TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience 
of readers.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were selected from 
those communicated to Grupo KUO’s Management and Audit Committee, but are not intended to represent 
all the matters discussed with them. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined that the matters described below are the key 
audit matters, which should be communicated in our report.

a)	 Sinister in the Consumption Segment plant

As mentioned in Note 2 and 28, on May 3, 2020, a fire occurred at the processing plant of Sahé (main 
inventory processor of the pork segment), located in Mérida, Yucatán. The purpose of this property 
was to carry out the slaughter and maquila activities of pork meat. The fire-affected property, plant 
and equipment, inventories and other costs for Ps. 1,862 million and the Entity has received insurance 
recovery proceeds of Ps. 1,025 million as of December 31, 2020. In relation to the recording of the 
effects of the sinister, there is a risk that the determination of the valuation due to impairment of 
damaged assets is not reasonable, as well as the recognition of income for the recovery of insurance 
for fixed assets, inventories, expenses and consequential losses.

Our audit procedures included the review of the internal reports of the damaged assets, reports and 
agreements with the insurance company, expert opinions and accounting records carried out, including 
the evaluation of the procedures used by the Administration to record in an adequate and timely 
manner the effects derived from the sinister. The results of our audit procedures were reasonable.

b)	 Revenue recognition (applicable to all Segments)

There is a risk related to the appropriate revenue recognition from sales of goods performed in Grupo 
KUO’s different Segments.	

Given the different types of revenues that Grupo KUO generates from each Segment’s operation, we 
apply audit procedures in which we verify that the revenues from the sale of goods is recognized 
when control of the goods has been transferred to the customers, including understanding the 
business, the analysis of the contracts with customers and identification of multiple deliverables, 
the validation of key internal controls, testing operating effectiveness of controls, as well as shipping 
and delivery procedures for goods to clients. The results of our audit procedures were reasonable.

c)	 COVID 19 pandemic and impact on audit work

	 In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID 19 a global pandemic. As of today, 
despite the profound impact it is having on human health, the economy and society throughout the 
world, the Entity has not had significant adverse effects on the consolidated financial situation and 
performance, except in the Automotive Transmissions segment, which generated an operating loss 
of (Ps. 790) million and a net loss of (Ps. 1,370) million. Likewise, the confinement caused part of 
the Entity’s administration to work in a remote work environment during this period. Based on the 
foregoing, we identify the risks of impairment of long-lived assets as indicated in IAS 36 “Impairment 
of long-lived assets”; and a going concern as indicated in IAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements” 
in the Automotive Transmissions Segment; as well as the risks of segregation of duties and weakening 
in internal control activities derived from remote work.

	 In relation to the risks of impairment and going concern, our tests consisted on the application of 
procedures to evaluate whether the discounted cash flow model used in the calculation of impairment 
of the long-lived assets of the Automotive Transmissions Segment is appropriate. We challenge the 
assumptions used by the Administration, being mainly the estimates of sales volumes and the rate 
applied to the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), as well as the evaluation of the underlying 
data. Our fair value specialists assisted us in the independent evaluation of sales volumes based 
on sales statistics and contracts with clients, future sales targets and cash flows, as well as the 
sensitivity analysis carried out based on the assumptions already mentioned. In relation to the risks 
identified by remote work, our planning and audit procedures were adapted to the circumstances 
to assess the impact of remote work on processes, internal control and systems, we reviewed in 
detail the assumptions used for each the areas of risk identified, and where it deemed appropriate 
we were supported by our specialists. The results of our procedures were satisfactory.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE DOCUMENT CONTAINING THE AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Grupo KUO’s Management is responsible for the other information. The other information will comprise 
the information that will be incorporated into the Annual Report which Grupo KUO is required to prepare in 
accordance with Article 33, section I, subsection b) of Title Fourth, Chapter First, of the General Provisions 
Applicable to Issuers and Other Stock Market Participants in Mexico, and the Instructions which accompany 
these provisions (the Provisions). The Annual Report is expected to be available for our reading after the 
date of this audit report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements will not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance thereon.

In relation to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility will be to read the Annual 
Report, when it is available, and when we do so, to consider whether the other information contained therein 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or with our understanding obtained 
during the audit, or appears to contain a material misstatement. When we read the Annual Report we will 
issue the legend on the reading of the annual report, as required by Article 33, section I, subsection b) 
numeral 1.2 of the Provisions.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF GRUPO KUO’S MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT COMMITTEE KUO FOR THE 
ACCOMPANYING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management of Grupo KUO is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as Management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Management 
is responsible for assessing the ability of Grupo KUO to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing Grupo KUO’s financial reporting process, review the 
content of the consolidated financial statements and request their approval by the Board of Directors. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control of Grupo KUO. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause Grupo KUO to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence related to the financial information of the entities 
and business activities within Grupo KUO to express an opinion on the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Grupo KUO’s Management and Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during the audit.

We also provide Grupo KUO’s Management and Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance of Grupo KUO, we determined those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

GALAZ, YAMAZAKI, RUIZ URQUIZA, S. C.
MEMBER OF DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED

C.P.C. Manuel Nieblas Rodríguez
March 25, 2021
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Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position
GRUPO KUO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Assets Notes 2020 2019   2018

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 7 Ps. 4,812,690 Ps. 1,541,076 Ps. 1,102,977

Accounts and notes receivable, net 8 3,322,628 2,725,846 2,905,621

Accounts receivable from related parties 24 115,355 169,567 149,814

Inventories, net 9 5,897,273 5,794,311 5,045,164

Biological assets 10 1,354,980 1,206,260 1,217,425

Prepaid expenses 157,502 336,691 140,596

Derivative financial instruments 18 - - 4,527

Assets classified as held for sale 28,573 15,478 14,633

Total current assets 15,689,001 11,789,229 10,580,757

  

Non - current assets:

Property, plant and equipment, net 11 10,613,585 12,097,792 12,727,538

Right-of-use asset 12 1,628,374 1,763,868 -

Biological assets 10 449,826 398,067 363,835

Intangible and other assets, net 15 5,527,801 5,968,257 4,074,533

Investments in joint ventures 14 10,613,490 11,336,080 11,226,077

Other accounts receivable 11,138 14,983 26,804

Accounts receivable from related parties 24 111,816 104,960 122,234

Deferred income tax 25 1,250,821 819,754 478,049

Total non - current assets 30,206,851 32,503,761 29,019,070

Total assets Ps. 45,895,852 Ps. 44,292,990 Ps. 39,599,827

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity Notes 2020 2019   2018
Current liabilities:

Bank loans and current portion of 
long-term debt

20 Ps. 487,628 Ps. 276,968 Ps. 171,275

Notes and accounts payable to suppliers 7,264,190 7,021,850 6,339,516

Short-term lease liability 329,667 315,200 -

Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 21 4,226,678 3,731,107 3,711,190

Derivative financial instruments 18 - - 605

Accounts payable to related parties 24 4,580 21,355 25,469

Total current liabilities 12,312,743 11,366,480 10,248,055

Non - current liabilities:

Bank loans 20 16,269,859 15,313,216 14,364,698

Lease liability 1,387,095 1,486,274 -

Employee benefits 22 659,759 668,567 599,889

Deferred income taxes 25 1,051,066 1,033,771 838,027

Deferred income tax arising from tax 
deconsolidation

25 290,740 476,542 723,613

Total non - current liabilities 19,658,519 18,978,370 16,526,227

Total liabilities 31,971,262 30,344,850 26,774,282

Stockholders’ equity:

Contributed capital-

Capital stock 23 2,727,534 2,727,534 2,727,534

Shares repurchase reserve (587,938) (530,237) (510,570)

Earned capital-

Retained earnings 9,924,492 10,503,529 8,667,904

Foreign operations translation effect 568,492 568,524 864,955

Derivative financial instruments 18 - - (423)

Actuarial loss from employee benefits (144,691) (130,685) (82,282)

Equity in other comprehensive income of joint 
ventures 

1,436,157 809,107 1,157,834

Controlling interest 13,924,046 13,947,772 12,824,952

Non - controlling interest 13 544 368 593

Total stockholders’ equity 13,924,590 13,948,140 12,825,545

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity Ps. 45,895,852 Ps. 44,292,990 Ps. 39,599,827
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Consolidated Statements
of Income and Comprehensive Income
GRUPO KUO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
(Thousands of Mexican pesos, except shares and earnings per common share)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Notes 2020 2019   2018

Continuing operations:

Net sales Ps. 30,935,869 Ps. 27,796,811 Ps. 27,282,211

Cost of sales 27 25,749,667 22,248,726 21,304,464

Gross profit 5,186,202 5,548,085 5,977,747

Administrative expenses 27 1,591,172 1,594,656 1,566,682

Selling and distribution expenses 27 2,496,783 2,394,688 2,056,059

General expenses 4,087,955 3,989,344 3,622,741

Equity in results of joint ventures 14 1,085,187 1,034,553 1,283,952

Other expenses (income), net 28 930,776 (448,967) -

Income from operations 1,252,658 3,042,261 3,638,958

Interest income 29,223 37,209 38,078

Interest expense (1,095,159) (814,988) (466,305)

Other financial expenses (212,040) (245,042) (224,529)

Exchange (loss) gain, net (516,514) 444,380 (1,317)

(Loss) income before income taxes 
and discontinued operations

(541,832) 2,463,820 2,984,885

Income taxes expense 25 30,159 233,295 815,497

(Loss) income from continuing operations (571,991) 2,230,525 2,169,388

Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operations, net of 
income taxes

26 2,015 2,150 47,385

Consolidated net (loss) income (569,976) 2,232,675 2,216,773

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss, net of income taxes:

Actuarial (loss) gain from employee benefits 22 (30,152) (51,077) 5,070

Notas 2020 2019   2018

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss, 
net of income taxes:

Cumulative translation adjustment 236 (296,473) (40,476)

Derivative financial instruments 18 - 423 (4,250)

Equity in other comprehensive income 
of joint ventures

14 627,050 (348,727) (119,049)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 597,134 (695,854) (158,705)

Consolidated comprehensive income Ps. 27,158 Ps. 1,536,821 Ps. 2,058,068

Distribution of consolidated (loss) income:

Controlling interest Ps. (569,884) Ps. 2,232,685 Ps. 2,216,767

Non - controlling interest (92) (10) 6

Ps. (569,976) Ps. 2,232,675 Ps. 2,216,773

Distribution of consolidated 
comprehensive income:

Controlling interest Ps. 26,982 Ps. 1,536,847 Ps. 2,058,065

Non - controlling interest 176 (26) 3

Ps. 27,158 Ps. 1,536,821 Ps. 2,058,068

Basic (loss) earnings per common share:

From continuing operations Ps. (1.25) Ps. 4.89 Ps. 4.75

From discontinued operations Ps. 0.00 Ps. 0.00 Ps. 0.11

Basic (loss) earnings per share Ps. (1.25) Ps. 4.89 Ps. 4.86

Net (loss) income from controlling interest 
without repurchased shares

Ps. (1.30) Ps. 5.07 Ps. 4.92

Weighted average common shares outstanding 456,336,148 456,366,148 456,366,148

Weighted average common shares outstanding 
without repurchased shares

439,978,738 440,586,096 441,042,604
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Consolidated Statements  
of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity  
GRUPO KUO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
(In thousands of Mexican pesos, except shares information)

Contributed capital
Earned 
Capital Earned Capital

Number of
Shares

Capital 
stock

Shares
repurchase 

reserve
Retained 
earnings

Foreign 
operations 
translation 

effect

Derivative 
financial 

instruments

Actuarial
 loss from 
employee 

benefits

Equity  in other 
comprehensive 
income of joint 

ventures
Controlling 

interest

Non - 
controlling 

interest

Total 
stockholders’ 

equity
Balances at January 1, 2018 456,366,148 Ps. 2,727,534 Ps. (591,083) Ps. 6,768,905 Ps. 905,340 Ps. 3,827 Ps. (93,108) Ps. 1,276,883 Ps. 10,998,298 Ps. 653 Ps. 10,998,951

Initial application of IFRS 9 - - - (2,655) - - - - (2,655) (1) (2,656)

Dividends declared - - - (342,275) - -  - - (342,275) - (342,275)

Sale of repurchased common shares, net  - - 80,513 32,949 - - - - 113,462 - 113,462

Dilution of non - controlling interest  - - - (29) 88 - (2) - 57 (62) (5)

Recycling of actuarial losses due to labor 
obligations from recovery of plan assets

- - - (5,758) - - 5,758 - - - -

Consolidated comprehensive income - - - 2,216,767 (40,473) (4,250) 5,070 (119,049) 2,058,065 3 2,058,068

Balances at December 31, 2018 456,366,148 2,727,534 (510,570) 8,667,904 864,955 (423) (82,282) 1,157,834 12,824,952 593 12,825,545

Recycling of actuarial losses due to 
employee benefit from recovery of 
plan assets

- - - (2,674) - - 2,674 - - - -

Dividends declared - - - (401,602) - - - - (401,602) - (401,602)

Dilution of non - controlling interest - - - 173 27 - (1) - 199 (199) -

Sale of repurchased common shares, net - - (19,667) 7,043 - - - - (12,624) - (12,624)

Consolidated comprehensive income - - - 2,232,685 (296,458) 423 (51,076) (348,727) 1,536,847 (26) 1,536,821

Balances at December 31, 2019 456,366,148 2,727,534 (530,237) 10,503,529 568,524 - (130,685) 809,107 13,947,772 368 13,948,140

Recycling of actuarial losses due to 
employee benefit from recovery of 
plan assets

- - - (16,146) - - 16,146 - - - -

Sale of repurchased common shares, net - - (57,701) 6,993 - - - - (50,708) - (50,708)

Consolidated comprehensive income - - - (569,884) (32) - (30,152) 627,050 26,982 176 27,158

Balances at December 31, 2020 456,366,148 Ps. 2,727,534 Ps. (587,938) Ps. 9,924,492 Ps. 568,492 Ps. - Ps. (144,691) Ps. 1,436,157 Ps. 13,924,046 Ps. 544 Ps. 13,924,590

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements  
of Cash Flows 
GRUPO KUO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

2020 2019   2018

Cash flows from operating activities:

Consolidated net (loss) income Ps. (569,976) Ps. 2,232,675 Ps. 2,216,773

Adjustments for:

Income tax expense from continuing operations 30,159 233,295 815,497

Depreciation and amortization of continuing operations 1,661,460 921,502 651,648

Loss (profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment of 
continuing operations

18,700 15,851 (2,280)

Loss in sinister of property, plant and equipment 661,270 - -

Net period cost for employee benefit plans 
of continuing operations

13,895 57,342 60,647

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
of continued operations

6,545 92,715 -

Cancellation of provision - (455,605) -

Depreciation of right-of-use asset 271,921 251,566 -

Disposals of right-of-use asset (10,741) (101) -

Other financial expenses 212,040 245,042 224,529

Derivative financial instruments - - (4,527)

Equity in results of joint ventures (1,085,187) (1,034,553) (1,283,952)

Interest expense from continuing operations 1,095,159 814,988 466,305

Interest income from continuing operations (29,223) (37,209) (38,078)

2,276,022 3,337,508 3,106,562

Changes in working capital:

(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable (460,471) (45,590) (227,962)

Inventories (102,962) (749,147) (1,123,307)

Biological assets (200,479) (23,067) (414,729)

Other accounts receivable and other assets (26,622) (52,420) (196,845)

Increase (decrease) in:

Notes and accounts payable to suppliers 324,280 126,782 1,252,115

Other payables and accrued liabilities 616,065 182,948 (264,235)

Accounts payable to related parties 30,581 (6,593) 2,377

Income taxes paid (561,516) (486,560) (576,673)

Net cash flows generated by operating activities 1,894,898 2,283,861 1,557,303

2020 2019   2018

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (871,571) (1,493,732) (3,122,161)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,387 1,053,180 10,889

Proceeds from others assets - 23,768 -

Dividends from joint ventures 2,434,847 575,823 321,662

Accounts receivable from disposal of subsidiary - - 512,895

Investment on intangible assets (183,536) (1,449,240) (2,381,295)

Interest received 29,223 37,209 38,078

Claim recovery from properties, plant 
and sinister equipment

921,505 - -

Net cash flows generated 
by (used in) investing activities

2,335,855 (1,252,992) (4,619,932)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from debt 2,355,173 8,624,690 5,953,052

Payments of debt (1,573,343) (7,087,623) (1,256,780)

Expenses associated with bond issuance - (22,995) (13,148)

Other financial expenses (212,040) (245,042) (224,529)

Lease payments (356,692) (321,265) -

Interest paid (967,370) (1,036,967) (780,336)

Dividends paid (200,674) (200,674) (342,275)

(Repurchase) proceeds of common shares, net of dividends (50,708) (12,624) 113,462

Net cash flows (used in) generated 
by in financing activities

(1,005,654) (302,500) 3,449,446

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents

46,515 (290,270) (4,973)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,271,614 438,099 381,844

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,541,076 1,102,977 721,133

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year Ps. 4,812,690 Ps. 1,541,076 Ps. 1,102,977

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1.	 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Grupo KUO, S.A.B. de C.V. (“KUO” or together with its subsidiaries, the “Entity”) holds the shares of 
entities located in Mexico, United States of America, Spain, Belgium and China, that are engaged mainly 
in the manufacture and sale of consumer business products (including processed food, beverages and 
pork meat), plastics, chemical products and auto parts. The Entity is incorporated in Mexico City and 
its address is Paseo de los Tamarindos No. 400-B, Piso 31, Colonia Bosques de las Lomas, C.P. 05120.

The financial statements are presented in thousands of Mexican pesos. Overseas operations are included 
in compliance with the policies set out in Note 4.

2.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

-	 Pandemic due to COVID 19 - On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared 
COVID-19 as a Global Pandemic, its expansion led to a series of containment measures in the different 
geographies where the Entity operates and a series of health security measures was taken by the 
Mexican authorities and by the different governments where the Entity operates to stop the spread 
of this virus.

	 During the months of April and May, the business of the Automotive Sector were affected by the 
closure of the Transmission plants in the US, Mexico and Belgium, in conjunction with the temporary 
closure of the assemblers plant (OEM’s) in North America and the reduction of operations of the 
Parts business. The Chemical Sector was affected by the drop in oil prices, impacting the prices of 
butadiene and styrene, in addition to the temporary closure of the Tires and Synthetic Rubber plant 
in Spain, as well as some of its clients, for this reason the second quarter of 2020 had a decrease 
in sales of 10% (IFRS) in comparison to the same period of the previous year. On the contrary, the 
Consumer Sector had a growth of 7% (IFRS) driven by higher demand, highlighting the categories 
of tomato puree, ketchup, mole and tuna in the national market of Herdez del Fuerte, as well as 
growth in the Exportation channel of the pork business, offsetting the lower demand from the “Food 
Service” segment in the US.

	 During 2020, the Entity implemented strict security protocols in accordance with the guidelines 
issued by the different government entities focused on guaranteeing the continuity of operations and 
the safety of employees, plants and offices, including: (i) remote work of 90% of the administrative 
areas, (ii) rescheduling of work shifts in plants to avoid overcrowding of spaces, (iii) modification to 
the infrastructure to maintain a healthy distance and (iv) strengthening the information technology 
platforms, among others. The expenses related to the implementation of this security and operational 
continuity measures amounted to Ps.96 million pesos, which were recorded under other expenses.

	 On the other hand, the Entity implemented a series of financial measures to strengthen liquidity, 
such as: (i) reduction of working capital, particularly inventories (ii) divestment of the Tuna business 
in Herdez Del Fuerte (Investment in a joint venture that is recognized by the equity method), (iii) 
strict control of expenses and capital investments (v) disposal of committed credit lines for US 80 
million, of which US 60 million were settled at the close of fiscal year 2020 and the remainder was 
paid on February 17, 2021.

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
GRUPO KUO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 
(Thousands of Mexican pesos (Ps.) and thousands of dollars (US))

	 As of the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements, despite the profound impact that 
COVID-19 is having on human health, the economy and society throughout the world, the Entity had 
no significant adverse effects on the situation and consolidated financial performance, except on the 
Automotive Transmissions segment, which generated an operating loss of Ps.789.7 million and a net 
loss of Ps.1,370 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. With the information available to date, 
for the fiscal year of 2021, the Entity does not expect significant impacts on its consolidated financial 
results and cash flows, however, they will depend on the evolution of COVID-19, the effectiveness of 
health and vaccination campaigns and mitigation measures, the proper functioning of the productive 
chains, as well as the economic recovery in the industries and markets where the Entity operates.

-	 Processing plant fire - On May 3, 2020, one of the processing plants of the Pork business, located 
in Sahé, Yucatán, suffered a severe fire, affecting machinery, building, equipment and inventories. 
For further details, see Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

-	 Credit line disposal and credit payment - During 2020, 2019 and 2018, KUO contracted and renewed 
committed credit lines with different financial institutions for Ps.8,625 million and Ps.4,865 million, 
respectively. The resources were mainly used to refinance debt and to continue investments in 
projects in the Consumer and Automotive Segments. Further detail of these credits are included in 
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

-	 Investments in projects - During 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Entity made significant investments in 
strategic projects for the Consumer and Automotive Segments for Ps.854 million, Ps.1,576 million 
and Ps.2,997 million in property, plant and equipment, respectively, and for Ps.184 million, Ps.1,404 
million and Ps.2,362 million in intangible assets, respectively, mainly in the construction of new 
production facilities to expand the installed capacity and the development of new products.

-	 Credit disposal - In June 2018, KUO disposed of a credit line with BBVA Bancomer for Ps.1,500 million 
with a maturity of 7 years. The credit line has an interest rate equivalent to the Interbank Interest 
Rate of Equilibrium (TIIE) at 28 days plus 1.60%. The resources of the credit line were used mainly for 
the projects’ investments in the Consumer and Automotive Segments. Further detail of this credit 
is included in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

a.	 Application of new and revised International Financing Reporting Standards (“IFRS” or “IAS”) that 
are mandatorily effective for the current year

	 In the current year, the Entity has applied a number of amendments to IFRS issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins 
on or after January 1, 2020.

	 Impact of the initial application of Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

	 In September 2019, the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 
39 and IFRS 7). Benchmark interbank rates such as LIBOR, EURIBOR, and TIBOR (collectively IBOR), 
which represent the cost of obtaining unsecured funds, have been questioned about their viability 
as long-term funding benchmarks.

	 These amendments, during phase 1, modify the specific hedge accounting requirements to allow 
hedge accounting to continue for the affected hedges during the period of uncertainty before the 
hedged items or hedging instruments affected by the current benchmarks interest rate modifies 
because of the interest rate benchmark reforms. As of December 31, 2020, the modifications are not 
relevant for Grupo KUO since hedge accounting does not apply for this type of risk and therefore, it 
does not have exposures to reference interest rates.
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	 The changes in the reform for the reference interest rates in its phase 2 refer to the modifications 
of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, requirements for accounting coverage 
and disclosure of financial instruments. These improvements are effective as of January 1, 2021 with 
retrospective application, without the need to redo the comparative periods.

	 With respect to modifying financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, the IASB introduced 
a practical expedient which involves updating the effective interest rate and also continues the 
practical expedient of hedge accounting.

	 Finally, with respect to the disclosures, entities must disclose how they are managing the transition 
to alternative benchmark rates and the risks that may arise from the transition; in addition, they 
must include quantitative information on financial assets and non-derivative financial liabilities, 
as well as non-derivative financial instruments, that continue under the reference rates subject to 
the reform and the changes that have arisen to the risk management strategy.

Interest rate risk management

Grupo KUO is exposed to interest rate risk because the entities of the group borrow at fixed and 
variable interest rates. The risk is managed by the group, evaluating the appropriate combination 
of fixed and variable rate loans. If necessary, the use of interest rate swap contracts is considered.

Grupo KUO has closely supervised the market and the production of the various industry working 
groups that manage the transition to new benchmark interest rates. This includes announcements 
made by IBOR regulators. Regulators have made clear that, by the end of 2021, it will no longer seek 
to persuade or force banks to file IBOR rates.

In response to the expectations, Grupo KUO has launched an IBOR transition program made up of the 
following lines of work: risk management, tax, treasury, legal, accounting and systems. The program 
is under the direction of the Finance and Planning Director, who reports to the Steering Committee. 
The objective of the program is to understand where IBOR exposures lie within the business and 
to prepare and fulfill an action plan to enable an orderly transition to alternative benchmark rates. 
Grupo KUO aims to finalize its transition plans, incorporating fallback clauses for the third quarter 
of 2021, although it depends on external factors to the group.

The Entity will initiate a review of the credit agreements, which maintains with the banks, including 
the adjustment and incorporation of adequate and solid fallback clauses for the transition to the 
reference interest rate. Different working groups in the industry are working on an alternative 
language for different instruments and IBOR rates, which Grupo KUO is closely monitoring and will 
seek to implement when appropriate. Additionally, the Entity has an internal plan which consists of 
being in contact with the banking entities which it has contracts related to IBOR rates to substitute 
and adapt the contracts as appropriate.

The amount exposed as of December 31, 2020 for the above changes corresponds to US 263.7 million 
that pay interest at the Libor rate plus an applicable margin.

	 Impact of the initial application of Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 16

	 In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16) that provides 
practical relief to lessees in accounting for rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of 
COVID-19, by introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. The practical expedient permits a lessee 
to elect not to assess whether a COVID- 19-related rent concession is a lease modification. A lessee 
that makes this election shall account for any change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-
19-related rent concession the same way it would account for the change applying IFRS 16 if the 
change were not a lease modification.

	 The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-19 
and only if all of the following conditions are met:

a)	 The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially 
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

b)	 Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before June 30, 2021 
(a rent concession meets this condition if it results in reduced lease payments on or before June 
30, 2021 and increased lease payments that extend beyond June 30, 2021); and

c)	 There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

	 In the current financial year, the Entity has applied the amendment to IFRS 16 (as issued by the 
IASB in May 2020) in advance of its effective date, and the effect of this application on the financial 
information for 2020 was immaterial.

b.	 Impact of the initial application of other new and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for 
the current year

	 In the current year, the Entity has applied the below amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Board that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after January 1, 2020. 
Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in 
these financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 
1 and IAS 8

Definition of material

The Entity has adopted the amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 for the 
first time in the current year. The amendments make the definition of 
material in IAS 1 easier to understand and are not intended to alter 
the underlying concept of materiality in IFRS Standards. The concept 
of ‘obscuring’ material information with immaterial information has 
been included as part of the new definition.

The threshold for materiality influencing users has been changed 
from ‘could influence’ to ‘could reasonably be expected to influence’. 

The definition of material in IAS 8 has been replaced by a reference to 
the definition of material in IAS 1. In addition, the IASB amended other 
Standards and the Conceptual Framework that contain a definition 
of ‘material’ or refer to the term ‘material’ to ensure consistency.

c.	 New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective

	 At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the Entity has not applied the following 
new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 10 e IAS 28 
(amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements 
to IFRS Standards 2018-
2020 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting
Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 
Agriculture
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	 The administration does not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a 
material impact on the financial statements of the Entity in future periods, except as noted below:
 

	 Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 
1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of 
IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present obligation 
exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the 
acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to 
pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date.

Finally, the amendments add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent 
assets acquired in a business combination.

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or 
after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Early application 
is permitted if an entity also applies all other updated references (published together with the 
updated Conceptual Framework) at the same time or earlier.

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a.	 Statement of compliance

	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS released by IASB. 

b.	 Basis of measurement 

	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each period, as explained 
in the accounting policies included below.

i.	 Historical cost

	 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 
goods and services.

ii.	 Fair value

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Entity takes into account the characteristics of the 
asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing 
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that 
are within the scope of IFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but 
are not fair value, such as net realizable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

iii.	 Going concern

	 Consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management assuming that the Entity 
will continue to operate as a working company.

	 As mentioned in Note 2, during the first months of 2020, the COVID-19 disease was declared by the 
World Health Organization (WHO) as a Global Pandemic. Its recent global expansion has motivated a 
series of containment measures in the different geographies where the Entity operates and certain 
sanitary measures have been taken both by the Mexican authorities and by the different governments 
where the Entity operates to stop the spread of this virus. Derived from the uncertainty and duration of 
this pandemic, the Entity analyzed the following considerations to determine whether the assumption 
of continuing as a going concern is applicable to it:

 
-	 Internal control environment derived from changes to work at home and sanitary rules.
-	 Accounting estimates.
-	 Impairment of inventories and net realizable value.
-	 Recognition of income.
-	 Valuation of a going concern.
-	 Impairment of financial instruments.
-	 Impairment of intangibles and useful life of intangibles with a defined life.
-	 Other considerations (deferred and current taxes, pension plans, classification of financial liabilities).

c.	 Basis of consolidation of financial statements

	 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of KUO and the subsidiaries 
over which it exercises control. The joint ventures jointly controlled with one or more partners are 
presented as Investments in joint ventures.

The main subsidiaries of the Entity as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are:

Equity percentage
Consumer Segment:

Grupo Porcícola Mexicano, S.A. de C.V. 100.00%

Comercializadora Porcícola Mexicana, S.A. de C.V. 100.00%

Chemical Segment:

Resirene, S.A. de C.V. and Subsidiary 100.00%

Automotive Segment:

Transmisiones y Equipos Mecánicos, S.A. de C.V. 99.99%

Dacomsa, S.A. de C.V. 100.00%

Joint ventures of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are: 

Equity percentage
Consumer Segment:

Herdez del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V. and Subsidiaries 50.00%

Chemical Segment:

Dynasol Gestión México, S.A.P.I. de C.V. and Subsidiaries 50.00%

Dynasol Gestión, S.L. and Subsidiaries 50.00%

	 Control is achieved when the Entity:

•	 Has power over the investee;
•	 Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
•	 Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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	 The Entity reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

	 When the Entity has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Entity considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether or not the Entity’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, 
including:

•	 The percentage of the Entity’s holding of voting rights relative to the percentage and dispersion 
of voting rights of the other holders;

•	 Potential voting rights held by the Entity, other holders or other parties;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
 •	 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Entity has, or does not have, 

the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, 
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of subsidiaries begins when the Entity obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases 
when the Entity loses control of the subsidiaries. Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired 
or disposed during the year are included in the consolidated statements of income and other 
comprehensive income from the date the Entity gains control until the date when the Entity ceases 
to control the subsidiaries.

Profit or loss of each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of 
the Entity and to the non - controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the 
owners of the Entity and to the non - controlling interests even if this results in the non - controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with the Entity’s accounting policies.

Non - controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Entity’s equity therein. 
Those interests of non - controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their 
holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair 
value or at the non - controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. 
Other non - controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the 
carrying amount of non - controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition 
plus the non - controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to non - controlling interests even if these results in the non - controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Changes in the Entity’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Entity’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Entity losing 
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of 
the Entity’s interests and the non - controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in 
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non 
- controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Entity. 

When the Entity loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is calculated as the difference between 
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of 
the subsidiary and any non - controlling interests.

All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are 
accounted for as if the Entity had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary 
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted 
by applicable IFRS). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date 
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting 
under IFRS 9, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a 
joint venture. 

d.	 Segment information 

	 Operative segments are reported consistent with the internal reports provided for the information 
of the Executive Committee, who are responsible for assisting KUO’s Executive Chairman, which 
is considered the chief operating decision maker for purposes of allocation of resources and the 
evaluation of the performance of operating segments based on the corporate governance platform 
established.

e.	 Financial instruments

	 Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments 

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in results.

f.	 Financial assets

	 All regular purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

	 All recognized financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortized cost 
or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

Classification of financial assets 

	 Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortized cost:

•	 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	 Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

•	 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

•	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	 By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). 
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	 Despite the foregoing, the Entity may make the following irrevocable election / designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

 
•	 The Entity may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment 

in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (see (iii) below); and
 
•	 The Entity may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortized cost or FVTOCI 

criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch (see (iv) below). 

Amortized cost and effective interest method

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

	 For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that 
are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding 
expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortized cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

	 The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at 
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortization using the 
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, 
adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost 
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

	 Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortized cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial 
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument 
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

	 For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Entity recognizes interest income 
by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset 
from initial recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of 
the financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

	 Interest income is recognized in profit or loss and is included in interest income in the consolidated 
statements of income and comprehensive income.

	 A financial asset is held for trading if:

•	 It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
•	 On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Entity 

manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or;

•	 it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated 
and effective hedging instrument). 

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in 
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically;

•	 For financial assets measured at amortized cost that are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship, exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss.

•	 For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences on the amortized cost of the debt instrument are recognized in profit or loss.

•	 For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognized in the statement of income and other comprehensive income.

•	 For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve.

See hedge accounting policy regarding the recognition of exchange differences where the foreign 
currency risk component of a financial asset is designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge of 
foreign currency risk.

Impairment of financial assets

The Entity recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract 
assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated 
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument.

The Entity always recognizes lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. 
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based 
on the Entity’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction 
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Entity recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Entity measures the loss allowance for 
that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion 
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Significant increase in credit risk

	 In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Entity compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Entity considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered 
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Entity’s debtors operate, obtained from 
economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other 
similar organizations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast 
economic information that relate to the Entity’s core operations. 

	 In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition:

•	 An actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) 
or internal credit rating;

•	 Significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial 
instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the 
debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been 
less than its amortized cost;

•	 Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; 

•	 An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
•	 Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;
•	 An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Entity presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are 
more than 30 days past due, unless the Entity has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise. 

Despite the foregoing, the Entity assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have 
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

1)	 The financial instrument has a low risk of default, 
2)	 The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and 
3)	 Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 

necessarily; reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

The Entity considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit 
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external 
rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the 
counterparty has a strong financial position and there are no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Entity becomes a party to the irrevocable 
commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the 
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in 
the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the Entity considers the 
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Entity regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria 
are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 

(i)	 Definition of default

	 The Entity considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk 
management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either 
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

•	 When there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or
•	 Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor 

is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Entity, in full (without taking into account any 
collateral held by the Entity).

	 Irrespective of the above analysis, the Entity considers that default has occurred when a financial 
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Entity has reasonable and supportable information 
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(ii)	Credit-impaired financial assets

	 A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial 
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a)	 Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)	A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above);
(c)	 The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would 
not otherwise consider;

(d)	 It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization; or

(e)	 The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iii)	Write-off policy

	 The Entity writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor 
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case 
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. 
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Entity’s 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made 
are recognized in profit or loss.

 
(iv)	Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

	 The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss 
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data 
adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, 
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting 
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the 
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future 
by default date determined based on historical trend, the Entity’s understanding of the specific 
future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.
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For financial assets, the expected credit losses is estimated as the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Entity in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Entity expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For 
a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the expected credit losses is consistent 
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with IFRS 16, “Leases”.

If the Entity has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current 
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Entity measures the 
loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for 
assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Entity recognizes an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with 
a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except 
for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance 
is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation 
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Entity derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Entity neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Entity 
recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
pay. If the Entity retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Entity continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortized cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in 
profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at 
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve 
is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument 
which the Entity has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, 
but is transferred to retained earnings. 

g.	 Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Entity are recognized at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Entity own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No 
gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Entity’s 
own equity instruments.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market 
interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an 
amortised cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at 
the instrument’s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability 
component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognized and 
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability 
and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.

Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognized directly in equity. Transaction costs 
relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability component 
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method or at FVTPL.
 
However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for 
derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts 
issued by the Entity, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortized cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, 
(ii) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, 
to the amortized cost of a financial liability.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortized 
cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based 
on the amortized cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized 
in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a 
designated hedging relationship. For those which are designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge 
of foreign currency risk foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities 
that are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains 
or losses and is recognized in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated 
hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Entity derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Entity’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.
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When the Entity exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the 
substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Entity accounts for 
substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially 
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees 
paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent 
different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial 
liability. If the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying amount of 
the liability before the modification; and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification 
should be recognized in profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses.

h.	 Derivative financial instruments

The Entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest 
rate and foreign exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, options and 
interest rate swaps. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 18.

Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or 
loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as 
a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the 
nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset whereas a derivative with 
a negative fair value is recognized as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial 
statements unless the Entity has both legal right and intention to offset. A derivative is presented 
as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more 
than 12 months and it is not expected to be realized or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives 
are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid contract that also includes a non-derivative 
host - with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar 
to a stand-alone derivative.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with a financial asset host within the scope of IFRS 9 are 
not separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured as either amortized 
cost or fair value as appropriate. 

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with hosts that are not financial assets within the scope 
of IFRS 9 (e.g. financial liabilities) are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition 
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts 
and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL. 

If the hybrid contract is a quoted financial liability, instead of separating the embedded derivative, 
the Entity generally designates the whole hybrid contract at FVTPL. 

An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the remaining 
maturity of the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months 
and is not expected to be realized or settled within 12 months.

i.	 Hedge accounting

	 The Entity designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk 
and interest rate risk in fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign 
operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow 
hedges.

	 At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Entity documents the relationship between the 
hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on 
an ongoing basis, the Entity documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is 
when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

•	 There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
•	 The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic 

relationship; and 
•	 The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of 

the hedged item that the Entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that 
the Entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

	 If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge 
ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, 
the Entity adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it 
meets the qualifying criteria again.

	 The Entity designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e. including the forward 
elements) as the hedging instrument for all of its hedging relationships involving forward contracts.

	 The Entity designates only the intrinsic value of option contracts as a hedged item, i.e. excluding the 
time value of the option. The changes in the fair value of the aligned time value of the option are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cost of hedging reserve. If the 
hedged item is transaction-related, the time value is reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged 
item affects profit or loss. If the hedged item is time-period related, then the amount accumulated 
in the cost of hedging reserve is reclassified to profit or loss on a rational basis - the Entity applies 
straight-line amortization. Those reclassified amounts are recognized in profit or loss in the same 
line as the hedged item. If the hedged item is a non-financial item, then the amount accumulated 
in the cost of hedging reserve is removed directly from equity and included in the initial carrying 
amount of the recognized non-financial item. Furthermore, if the Entity expects that some or all of 
the loss accumulated in cost of hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is 
immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Fair value hedges

The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognized in profit or loss except when the 
hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument designated at FVTOCI in which case it is recognized 
in other comprehensive income. 

The carrying amount of a hedged item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the fair 
value change attributable to the hedged risk with a corresponding entry in profit or loss. For debt 
instruments measured at FVTOCI, the carrying amount is not adjusted as it is already at fair value, but 
the hedging gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss instead of other comprehensive income. When 
the hedged item is an equity instrument designated at FVTOCI, the hedging gain or loss remains in 
other comprehensive income to match that of the hedging instrument. 
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Where hedging gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss, they are recognized in the same line 
as the hedged item.

The Entity discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) 
ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when 
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted 
for prospectively. The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from 
the hedged risk is amortized to profit or loss from that date. 

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging 
instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative 
change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the ‘other gains 
and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are 
reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same 
line as the recognized hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast transaction results in the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and 
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability. 
This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Entity expects that 
some or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the 
future, that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Entity discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) 
ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when 
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted 
for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
cash flow hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the 
forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or 
loss accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any 
gain or loss on the foreign currency forward contracts relating to the effective portion of the hedge 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation 
reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss, and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve 
are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation.

j.	 Cash and cash equivalents 

Mainly consist of bank deposits in checking accounts and investments in short-term highly liquid 
securities, easily convertible into cash, with maturity of up to three months as of the acquisition 
date, and which are subject to immaterial risks of changes in value. Cash is presented at face value 
and cash equivalents are recognized at fair value.

k.	 Allowance for discounts of accounts receivable

The Entity maintains commercial agreements with its main customers that have been established 
through formal contracts to ensure the volume of sales during the year. According to these contracts, 
if the client meets its objectives in a given period, receives a discount. The Entity determines the best 
estimate based on periodic assessments of compliance with objectives.

l.	 Inventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value represents 
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion necessary to make the sale. The costs, 
including a portion of fixed and variable overhead costs are allocated to inventory via the most 
appropriate method for the particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued using the 
average cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

m.	 Biological assets

These assets are valued in accordance with IAS 41 “Agriculture”; the Entity has current biological 
assets that are integrated by hogs directly convertible into inventories, while the non-current balance 
refers to hogs in breeding stock and stallions.

The fattening and breeding hogs are valued at their production cost since the Entity considers that 
there is no observable market and there is no reliable method to measure the fair value of these assets.

Biological assets were classified as current and non-current, based on their nature and their destination, 
whether for commercialization or for reproduction and production.

The Entity has two blocks of biological assets:

Assets directly convertible into inventories (short-term biological assets)

Within this first block, piglets are included, which after a process of biological growth are slaughtered 
and converted directly into inventories. In the case of hogs that are used for sale, the life cycle is 5 
months, 3 weeks and 3 days, since it is the optimal time where their growth is maximized, when fulfilling 
such time, hogs reach an average of 110 - 130 kilograms. To achieve standard growth, the process was 
designed in such a way that they always have the same number of hogs in each of the stages.

Classification of the farms according to the life process of commercial pigs is:

•	 Site I. - Piglets from 1 to 19 days old, with an average weight of 5 kilograms.
•	 Site II. - Weaning piglets with 20 to 60 days old, with an average weight of 6 to 20 kilograms.
•	 Site III. - Hogs from 61 to 160 days old, which are classified as finished hogs for slaughter, with 

an average weight of 110 - 130 kilograms.

Assets convertible in “breeding stock and stallions” (long-term biological assets)

In this second block, the growth of the hogs is maximized so that they are considered “breeding 
stock” and their useful life within the Entity’s model is approximately 156 weeks.
Stallions are recorded at their acquisition cost depending on the genetic line acquired and its shelf 
life is approximately 72 weeks.
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n.	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost of acquisition.

The properties that are under construction for production, supply, management or for purposes not 
yet determined, are recorded at cost less recognized impairment. Cost includes professional fees 
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in accordance with the accounting policy of 
the Entity. Depreciation of these assets, as well as other properties, starts when the assets are 
ready for their intended use.

Buildings, furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is recognized to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than land and properties 
under construction) less their residual values, over their useful lives using the straight-line method. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and the depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each year, and the effect of any changes in the recorded estimate is recognized on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized when it is sold or when no future economic 
benefits are expected that arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from the 
sale or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is calculated as the difference between 
the proceeds received from the sale and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit.

o.	 Intangible assets

1.	 Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are recognized at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives that are acquired separately are recognized at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

2.	 Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase 
of an internal project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•	 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 
or sale;

•	 The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
•	 The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
•	 How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
•	 The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 

and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
•	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during 

its development.

The amount initially recognized for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria 
listed above. When no internally generated intangible asset can be recognized, development 
expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible 
assets that are acquired separately.

3.	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill 
are initially recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 
reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses; on the 
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

4.	 Initial recognition of costs associated with contracts with clients

The Entity recognizes the incremental costs for obtaining contracts with customers and costs 
incurred for the fulfillment of these contracts as an intangible asset, when they are directly 
associated with contracts and are expected to be recovered.

5.	 Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and 
are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

p.	 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Entity estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of 
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, 
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.Subsequently, when an 
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

q.	 Assets classified as held for sale

	 Groups of assets held for sale are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction and not through continuing use. This condition is met only when the sale 
is highly probable and the asset (or group of assets held for sale) is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition. Management must be committed to the sale and it should qualify for recognition 
as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification; however, because Management 
may continue to carry out sales efforts, these assets continue to be presented as assets held for sale.

	 The long-lived asset (and groups of assets disposal) classified as held for sale are valued at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value of assets less costs to sell.

r.	 Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognized and measured as set out in the Note 3t. Business combinations.

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Entity’s cash-generating units (or groups of 
cash-generating units) expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of 
the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss 
recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Entity’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

s.	 Investments in joint ventures

Contracts that KUO has with its partners (Grupo Herdez, S.A.B. de C.V., and Repsol Química, S.A.) are 
joint ventures that are controlled collectively between KUO and their respective partners to direct 
the relevant activities. In these cases, since none of the partners can direct the activities without 
the cooperation of the other or others, none individually controls the joint venture.

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control in a business, which exists when decisions about the relevant activities 
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures or associates are incorporated in the financial 
statements using the equity method, except if the investment is classified as held for sale, in which 
case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”. Under the equity method, investments in joint ventures or associates are initially 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted for subsequent 
changes to the acquisition by the Entity’s participation in the profit or loss and comprehensive income 
of the associate or joint venture. When the Entity’s participation in the losses of an associate or a 
joint business entity exceeds the Entity’s participation in the joint venture or associate, or (which 
includes the long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the joint 
venture entity or associate) the Entity stops recognizing its share of losses. Additional losses are 
recognized only when the Entity has incurred in a legal or constructive obligation or made payments 
on behalf of the joint venture or associate.

An investment in a joint venture or an associate is accounted for using the equity method from 
the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On the acquisition of 
the investment in a joint venture or associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the 
Entity’s participation in the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is 
recognized as goodwill, which is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of 
the Entity participation in the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of 
the investment, after revaluation, is recognized immediately in results in the period in which the 
investment was purchased.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any 
impairment loss with respect to the Entity’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When 
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment 
in accordance with IAS 36, “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its recoverable 
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any 
impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of 
that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable 
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Entity discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to 
be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. 

When the Entity retains an interest in the former joint venture, the retained interest is measured 
at fair value at that date, and is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset 
in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint 
venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest 
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the 
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the Entity accounts for 
all amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or 
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on 
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Entity reclassifies the gain or loss from equity 
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Entity continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an 
investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an 
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Entity reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Entity 
continues to use the equity method, the Entity reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the 
gain or loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that 
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the 
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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	 When the Entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the Entity’s consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to 
the Entity.

t.	 Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of 
the fair values of the assets transferred by the Entity, less liabilities incurred by the Entity to the 
former owners of the acquire and the equity interests issued by the Entity in exchange for control 
of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income and comprehensive income as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized 
at their fair value, except that:

-	 Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements 
are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12, “Income Taxes” and IAS 19, “Employee 
Benefits”, respectively;

-	 Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquire or 
share-based payment arrangements of the Entity entered into to replace share-based payment 
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2, “Share-Based Payment” 
at the acquisition date; and

-	 Assets (or a group of assets for disposal) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with 
IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance 
with such standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non - controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquire (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts 
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non - controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non - controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the Entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured 
either at fair value or at the non - controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognized 
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a 
business combination. 

When the consideration transferred by the Entity in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured 
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred. Changes in 
the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are 
adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period 
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement 
period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date. 

The subsequent accounting treatment for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration 
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent 
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent 
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at fair value at subsequent 
reporting dates with changes in their fair value being recognized in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Entity’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree is remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is 
recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition 
date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 
or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
in which the combination occurs, the Entity reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period 
(see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained 
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts recognized at that date.

u.	 Leases

The Entity as lessee

The Entity evaluates whether a contract contains a lease at its source. The Entity recognizes a 
right-of- use asset for use rights and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all the lease 
agreements in which it is a lessee, except for short-term leases (12 months or less) and those for 
low-value assets. For these leases, the Entity recognizes rental payments as an operating expense 
under the straight-line method throughout the period of the lease, unless another method is 
more representative of the pattern of time in which the economic benefits from consumption of 
leased assets.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the rent payments that are not 
paid on the start date, discounted by the rate implicit in the contract. If this rate cannot be easily 
determined, the Entity uses incremental rates.

The rent payments included in the measurement of the lease liability consist of:

•	 Fixed rent payments (including fixed payments in substance), less any lease incentives received;
•	 Variable income payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate on the start date;
•	 The expected amount to be paid by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
•	 The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; 

and
•	 Payments for penalties resulting from the termination of the lease, if the lease period reflects 

the exercise of a lease termination option.

The lease liability is presented as a separate concept in current and long-term liabilities in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The contractual maturities of the obligations for this 
concept are shown in Note 16d.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the book value to reflect the interest 
accrued by the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and reducing the book value to 
reflect the rent payments made.
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	 The Entity reevaluates the lease liability (and adjusts the corresponding asset for relative use rights) 
provided that:

•	 The lease term is modified or there is a significant event or change in the circumstances of the 
lease resulting in a change in the evaluation of the purchase option exercise, in which case 
the lease liability is measured by discounting the updated rental payments using an updated 
discount rate.

•	 The rent payments are modified as a consequence of changes in indexes, rate or in the expected 
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is re-evaluated by 
discounting the updated rent payments using the same discount rate (unless that the change is 
due to a change in the variable interest rate, in which case an updated discount rate is used).

•	 A lease is amended and the modification of the lease is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is re-evaluated based on the lease term of the modified lease, 
discounting updated rental payments using a discount rate updated to the effective date of the 
modification.

Assets for rights of use consist of the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, the 
rent payments made on or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received and any 
direct initial cost. Subsequent valuation is cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

If the Entity incurs an obligation arising from the costs of dismantling and removing a leased asset, 
restoring the bond in which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required 
by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision measured in accordance with IAS 37. To the 
extent that costs are related to an asset for rights of use, costs are included in the asset for rights 
of related use, unless such costs are incurred to generate inventories.

In some cases, rights-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period between the lease 
period and the useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying 
asset or the cost of the asset for use rights reflects that the Entity plans to exercise a purchase 
option, the asset for use rights will be depreciated over the useful life. Depreciation begins on the 
start date of the lease.

Assets for rights of use are presented as a separate concept in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

The Entity applies IAS 36 to determine if an asset for use rights is impaired and accounts for any 
impairment loss identified as described in the Property, plant and equipment policy.

Variable income leases that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement 
of the lease liability and the asset for use rights. Related payments are recognized as an expense 
in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payments occurs and are included in 
operating expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (see Note 27).

v.	 Translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries

To consolidate financial statements of foreign subsidiaries the financial statements are subsequently 
translated to Mexican pesos (presentation currency) considering the following methodologies:

Foreign operations whose local and functional currency are the same, translate financial statements 
to Mexican pesos using the exchange rates as follows: 1) the closing exchange rate for assets 
and liabilities; 2) historical exchange rate for stockholders’ equity and 3) the exchange rate on 
the date of accrual for revenues, costs and expenses. The effects of translation are recorded in 
stockholders’ equity.

Local and foreign operations with a functional currency different from the local currency translate 
their financial statements from the currency in which transactions are recorded to the functional 
currency, using the following exchange rates: 1) the closing exchange rate for monetary assets and 
liabilities; 2) historical exchange rates for non-monetary assets and liabilities and stockholders’ 
equity; and 3) the rate on the date of accrual of revenues, costs and expenses, except those arising 
from non-monetary items that are translated using the historical exchange rate for the related non-
monetary item; translation effects are recorded in exchange (loss) gain. Subsequently, to translate 
the financial statements from the functional currency to Mexican pesos, the following exchange 
rates are used: 1) the closing exchange rate for assets and liabilities; 2) historical exchange rates 
for stockholders’ equity, and 3) the rate on the date of accrual of revenues, costs and expenses. The 
effects of translation are recorded in stockholders’ equity.

The local and functional currencies of foreign operations from subsidiaries that are consolidated 
are as follows:

Subsidiary
Local 

currency
Functional 

currency
Resirene, S.A. de C.V. Mexican peso US dollar

Transmisiones y Equipos Mecánicos, S.A. de C.V. Mexican peso US dollar

Tremec Corporation US dollar US dollar

The local and functional currency of the joint ventures recognized with the equity method, are as 
follows:

Subsidiary
Local 

currency
Functional 

currency
Dynasol Elastómeros, S.A. de C.V. Mexican peso US dollar

Industrias Negromex, S.A. de C.V. Mexican peso US dollar

Dynasol Elastómeros, S.A. Euro Euro

Dynasol Gestión, S.L. Euro Euro

General Química, S.A. Euro Euro

Dynasol, L.L.C. US dollar US dollar

Insa GPRO (Nanjing) Synthetic Rubber Co., Ltd. Yuan Yuan

Liaoning North Dynasol Synthetic Rubber Co., Ltd. Yuan Yuan

North Dynasol (Shanghai) Business Consulting Co., Ltd. Yuan Yuan

MegaMex Foods, L.L.C., and Avomex, Inc. 
(joint venture of Herdez del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V.)

US dollar US dollar

The remaining subsidiaries and joint ventures have as local and functional currency, the Mexican peso.

w.	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended 
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. 

To the extent that variable rate borrowings are used to finance a qualifying asset and are hedged in 
an effective cash flow hedge of interest rate risk, the effective portion of the derivative is recognized 
in other comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss when the qualifying asset impacts 
profit or loss. To the extent that fixed rate borrowings are used to finance a qualifying asset and are 
hedged in an effective fair value hedge of interest rate risk, the capitalized borrowing costs reflect 
the hedged interest rate.
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Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

x.	 Employee benefits

Employee benefits from termination and retirement and others

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-
managed retirement benefit plans are accounted for as payments to defined contribution plans where 
the Entity’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution 
retirement benefit plan.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the 
projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual 
reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes 
to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected 
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognized in 
other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognized in other 
comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss. Past service cost is recognized in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net 
defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorized as follows:

•	 Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on 
curtailments and settlements).

•	 Net interest expense or income.
•	 Remeasurement.

The Entity presents the first two components of defined benefit costs as a general expense in the 
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. Gains and losses for reduction of 
service are accounted for as past service costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position 
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Entity’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting 
from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form 
of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
compensated absences such as annual leave, vacation premium and incentives in the period the 
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in 
exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognized for short-term employee benefits are valued at the amount not discounted for 
the benefits expected to be paid for that service.

Liabilities recognized in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Entity in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee profit sharing (PTU)

PTU is recorded in the results of the year in which it is incurred and is presented in operating expenses 
and cost of sales line item in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income.

As result of the 2014 Income Tax Law, as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, PTU is determined 
based on taxable income, according to Section I of Article 9 of the that Law.

Contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans 

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties reduce service cost upon payment 
of these contributions to the plan. 

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be contributions from employees or 
third parties, the accounting depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as follows: 

•	 If the contributions are not linked to services (e.g. contributions are required to reduce a deficit 
arising from losses on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement 
of the net defined benefit liability (asset). 

•	 If contributions are linked to services, they reduce service costs. For the amount of contribution 
that is dependent on the number of years of service, the entity reduces service cost by attributing 
the contributions to periods of service using the attribution method required by IAS 19 paragraph 
70 for the gross benefits.

y.	 Income taxes

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

1.	 Current tax

Current income tax (ISR) is recognized in the results of the year in which is incurred.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net 
profit as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Entity’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

A provision is recognized for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is 
considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions 
are measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is 
based on the judgement of tax professionals within the Entity supported by previous experience 
in respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.
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2.	 Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Entity is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of 
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Entity expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover 
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

3.	 Current and deferred tax

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that 
are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 
deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, 
the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

4.	 Uncertainty in the treatment of income taxes

The Entity reviews if there is any uncertain fiscal position, and if it exists, quantifies it using the 
most probable amount or the expected value method, depending on which one best predicts the 
resolution of the uncertainty.

z.	 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

	 The subsidiary Transmisiones y Equipos Mecánicos, S.A. de C.V. (Tremec) guarantees its products 
for periods of two to four years against manufacturing defects. A warranty provision is recognized 
at the time of the sale and it is determined based on the guarantee costs incurred in the prior 
three years.

aa.	Consolidated statements of cash flows

	 The Entity reports cash flows from operating activities using the indirect method, by means of which 
the consolidated net income is adjusted for the effects of transactions other than cash; any deferral 
or past or future accumulation of cash inflows or outflows and income or expense items associated 
with cash flows from investment or financing activities are also considered.

	 Interest expense and interest and dividend income are generally classified as financing and investment 
activities, respectively. The borrowing costs capitalized in qualified assets are classified as financing 
activity in the interest paid caption. 

	 The effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents includes the unrealized exchange 
gain or loss and the effects of foreign currency translation.

bb.	Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the applicable exchange rate in effect at the transaction 
date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into Mexican pesos 
at the applicable exchange rate in effect at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Exchange fluctuations are recorded within the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive 
income.

cc.	Earnings per share

Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing consolidated net income from the 
controlling interest by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

The Entity does not have any potentially dilutive instruments, therefore diluted earnings per share 
is the same as basic earnings per share.

dd.	Revenue recognition

Revenues include the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods 
or services in the regular course of operations, which is when control has been transferred to the 
customers in exchange for the consideration to which the Entity believes it is entitled in exchange 
for such goods or services. Revenues are presented net of returns, rebates and discounts.

The Entity recognizes income in its different sectors:

Consumer sector:

Export earnings comprise the fair value of the consideration received or to be received for the sale of 
goods, which occurs when control has been transferred at a point in time by delivering the products 
to customers in exchange for the consideration.

Revenues from sales to the general public are earned directly with the customer at the different 
points of sale, these revenues are recognized when the good is delivered to the customer, and usually 
the payment of the transaction price is collected immediately.

Income from the sale of balanced food for hogs is recognized when the control of the goods has 
been transferred, which happens at the moment in which the goods are delivered to the customer.
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Chemical sector:

Revenue from sale of polystyrene glass (GPPS) and high impact polystyrene (HIPS), mainly, as well as 
transparent styrene copolymers (SMMA) and plastic compounds, which are used in the industries of 
packaging and disposable products, lighting, school supplies, office equipment and home accessories, 
including audio and video equipment and refrigerators, they are recognized when control of the goods 
has been transferred at a point in time to customers in exchange for the consideration to which the 
Entity considers to be entitled in exchange for said goods or services.

Automotive sector:

•	 Transmissions, tooling and prototypes - Revenue from ordinary activities is recognized over the 
time measuring the progress to fulfil each performance obligation, applying an exit method to 
measure the progress of each performance obligation satisfied over the time, based on direct 
measurements of the value transferred to the customer, mainly by units delivered and contractual 
milestones. Since manufacturing cycle of a transmission is estimated in one day, Management 
concluded income recognition over time does not differ significantly from its recognition at one 
point in time.

•	 Costs associated with contracts with clients. In accordance with IFRS 15 the Entity recognizes 
certain engineering, design and development activities as compliance costs and are capitalized 
as intangible assets and subsequently amortized, generally throughout the life of the contract, 
such and as mentioned in Note 4o. Intangible assets.

•	 Sale of spare parts. Revenues comprise the fair value of the consideration collected or receivable 
for the sale of pistons, bearings, seals, brakes, and other product lines in the normal course 
of operations, which occurs when it has transferred the control to the clients that derive from 
the property of the goods, in exchange for the consideration that the Entity considered to have 
the right.

The types of revenues mentioned above comply with the conditions described in IFRS 15 for the 
recognition of income and include the following:

-	 The contract or contracts are identified with the customer.
-	 The obligations to be performed in the contract are identified.
-	 The transaction price is determined.
-	 The transaction price is allocated among the different obligations to be performed in the contract.
-	 The revenues are recognized when the Entity fulfills each of the obligations involved.

5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

To apply the accounting policies, the Entity’s Management uses its judgment, estimates, and assumptions 
regarding certain asset and liability amounts in the consolidated financial statements. The associated 
estimates and assumptions reflect a quantitative and qualitative analysis based on an understanding 
of the various businesses that compose the Entity. Actual results may differ from such estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Amendments to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in 
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

a.	 Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

	 The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that Entity’s 
Management has made in the process of applying the Entity’s accounting policies and that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

•	 Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation 

	 In making their judgement, Entity’s Management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition 
of revenue set out in IFRS 15 and, in particular, whether the Entity had transferred control of the 
goods to the customer. Following the detailed quantification of the Entity’s liability in respect of 
rectification work, and the agreed limitation on the customer’s ability to require further work or 
to require replacement of the goods, Management is satisfied that control has been transferred 
and that recognition of the revenue in the current year is appropriate, in conjunction with the 
recognition of an appropriate warranty provision for the rectification costs.

•	 Capitalization of borrowing costs

	 As described in Note 4w, the Entity capitalizes borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which require a substantial period 
until they are ready for use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets during that time until 
they are ready for use or sale.

•	 Business model assessment 

	 Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the 
business model test (see financial assets sections of Note 4f). The Entity determines the business 
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a 
particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence 
including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the 
risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and how the managers 
of the assets are compensated. The Entity monitors financial assets measured at amortized cost 
or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognized prior to their maturity to 
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of 
the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Entity’s continuous assessment 
of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be 
appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so 
a prospective change to the classification of those assets. No such changes were required during 
the periods presented.

•	 Significant increase in credit risk

	 As explained in Note 8, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 
assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a 
significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly 
increased, the Entity takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable 
forward-looking information. 

•	 Contingent events

	 The Entity is subject to contingent events or transactions for which it uses professional judgment 
in estimating the likelihood of occurrence. The factors considered for these estimates are the 
current legal situation at the estimate date and the opinion of legal advisors.

 
•	 Discount rate and lease renewals

	 Management defines the lease term as the period for which there is a contractual payment 
commitment, considering the non-cancelable period of the contract, as well as the renewal and 
early termination options that are probable to be exercised. Management participates in lease 
contracts that do not have a defined non-cancellable term, a defined renewal period (in case it 
contains a renewal clause), or automatic annual renewals, so, to measure the lease liability, it 
estimates the contracts´ terms considering their contractual rights and limitations, their business 
plan, as well as Management’s intentions for the use of the underlying asset.
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	 Management estimates the discount rate to use in the determination of the lease liability, based 
on the incremental borrowing rate. Management uses a three-tier model, with which it determines 
the three elements that comprises the discount rate: (i) reference rate, (ii) credit risk component 
and (iii) adjustment for characteristics of the underlying asset. In this model, Management also 
considers its policies and practices to obtain financing, distinguishing between the one obtained 
at the corporate level (that is, the holding company), or at the level of each subsidiary.

•	 Discount rate and impairment calculation

	 The calculation of the value in use for impairment testing requires administration; based on your 
judgment, establish the appropriate cash-generating units in your environment to determine 
future cash flows discounted at an appropriate discount rate to calculate present value. Goodwill 
is allocated to each of the Administration’s cash-generating units that expects to obtain profit 
from certain synergies. If applicable, the impact would be recorded in the corresponding asset 
item and the result for the period.

b.	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions regarding the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the period, which have a significant risk of resulting in material adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities during the next year, are explained below.

•	 Calculation of loss allowance 

When measuring ECL the Entity uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, 
which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how 
these drivers will affect each other. 

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking 
into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an 
estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes 
historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

•	 Impairment of long-lived assets

The Entity reviews the useful lives of property, plant and equipment at least once a year. 
Based on detailed analysis, Entity’s Management modifies the useful lives of certain property, 
plant and equipment components. The degree of uncertainty about the estimated useful 
lives is related to changes in the market and the usage of assets for production volumes and 
technological developments.

•	 Estimation of inventory obsolescence

If the inventories are impaired in the Entity’s operating process, there are procedures performed 
such as reviews, verifications and relocations to timely identify materials with such issues, 
resulting in modifications to their recorded value, as appropriate, through estimates or write-
offs based on studies prepared by technical specialists together with Entity’s Management. The 
inventory allowance is assessed with this analysis.

•	 Discount rate of employee benefits

The Entity’s defined benefit obligation is discounted at a rate set by reference to yields at the end 
of the reporting period on governmental bonds. Significant judgment is required when setting 
the criteria for bonds to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. The 
most significant criteria considered for the selection of bonds include the maturity of the bond 
in comparison with term of the obligation.

•	 Provisions

The Entity periodically assesses its provisions recognized for the segments. Such provisions are 
based on the assessment of market prices and production costs for each segment. The Entity 
reviews these allowances monthly. In the automotive segment, the Entity provides a warranty 
against manufacturing defects for two to four years, depending on the product. A warranty 
provision is recognized at the time of the sale based on the statistics of costs incurred during 
the last three years.

•	 Valuation techniques

Some of the Entity’s liabilities are measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements 
(loans and derivatives). Financial Department establishes, through policies and procedures, the 
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Entity uses market-observable data 
to the extent it is available. The valuation committee works closely with the qualified external 
appraiser to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of 
various assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 17.

6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management evaluates its businesses and makes decisions on three Operating Segments. Additionally, 
general information is presented by products, services and geographic area.

Total assets represent those assets that are used in the operations of each reportable segment. Corporate 
assets included within KUO and others are cash, cash equivalents (available investments), recoverable 
taxes, long-term accounts receivable and certain fixed assets. Intersegment transactions have been 
eliminated.

Management has identified three Operating Segments integrated by Consumer, Chemical and Automotive.

For grouping these three segments, Entity’s Management considered the following assumptions:

a)	 The business activity or particular economic environment from which it obtains revenues, maintains 
assets or incurs liabilities.

b)	 Given their importance, the attention of senior Management of the economic entity is required to 
evaluate the segment’s performance and make decisions regarding the allocation of resources for 
its operation.

c)	 Additional information to the financial information is available and is based on a managerial approach.

d)	 The inherent risks of the business and returns are different from those of other operating segments.
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Information regarding joint ventures (Herdez del Fuerte and Synthetic Rubber) which are in the Consumer 
and Chemical Segments, represent 50% KUO’s participation in these businesses. Eliminations to present 
joint ventures under the participation method are included in the information below. The consolidated 
financial information presented below comes from the financial statements of these entities prepared 
in accordance with IFRS.

Consolidated financial information

For the year ended 
December 31, 2020 Consumer Chemical Automotive KUO and others Eliminations Total

Elimination of 
joint venturess

Consolidated 
information

Net sales Ps. 23,159,811 Ps. 11,698,567 Ps. 10,751,723 Ps. 957,685 Ps. (782,756) Ps. 45,785,030 Ps. (14,849,161) Ps. 30,935,869

General expenses 4,358,436 1,153,088 860,559 1,006,421 (665,748) 6,712,756 (2,624,801) 4,087,955

Other expenses (income), net 823,669 (77,804) 12,963 1,899 (337) 760,390 170,386 930,776

Depreciation and amortization 771,994 559,926 1,192,991 55,591 - 2,580,502 (647,121) 1,933,381

Net employee benefit cost 18,613 2,636 (12,259) 17,416 - 26,406 (12,511) 13,895

Impairment of fixed and intangible assets - (28,766) 6,545 - - (22,221) 28,766 6,545

Loss in property, plant and 
equipment claim

661,270 - - - - 661,270 - 661,270

Equity in results of joint ventures - -  - -  - - 1,085,187 1,085,187

Income from operations 1,300,093 989,443 (550,689) (50,635) - 1,688,212 (435,554) 1,252,658

Interest income 53,980 27,748 5,586 365,451 (367,557) 85,208 (55,985) 29,223

Interest expense (129,138) (82,576) (340,505) (991,204) 367,557 (1,175,866) 80,707 (1,095,159)

Other financial expenses (85,259) (35,159) (45,141) (36,342) - (201,901) (10,139) (212,040)

Exchange income (loss), net (36,125) (162,008) (321,283) 52,833 - (466,583) (49,931) (516,514)

Equity in results of subsidiaries 
and associates

(5,664) (621) - (43,664) 43,664 (6,285) 6,285 -

Income taxes 303,207 247,999 75,328 (131,664) - 494,870 (464,711) 30,159

Income (loss) from continuing operations 794,680 488,828 (1,327,360) (571,897) 43,664 (572,085) 94 (571,991)

Income from discontinued operations - - - 2,014 - 2,014 1 2,015

Net income (loss) 794,680 488,828 (1,327,360) (569,883) 43,664 (570,071) 95 (569,976)

Cash and cash equivalents 1,088,649 819,951 77,491 4,655,021 - 6,641,112 (1,828,422) 4,812,690

Total assets 20,295,357 11,269,371 16,429,169 33,685,682 (29,741,522) 51,938,057 (6,042,205) 45,895,852

Total financial debt - 1,000,613 490,278 16,267,209 - 17,758,100 (1,000,613) 16,757,487

Total liabilities 9,667,125 5,429,522 6,966,585 19,968,643 (4,022,654) 38,009,221 (6,037,959) 31,971,262

Additions to property, plant and equipment 747,417 333,315 287,061 - - 1,367,793 (496,222) 871,571

Investment in intangibles - 12,001 170,391 1,144 - 183,536 - 183,536
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For the year ended 
December 31, 2019 Consumer Chemical Automotive KUO and others Eliminations Total

Elimination of 
joint venturess

Consolidated 
information

Net sales Ps. 21,140,023 Ps. 12,894,699 Ps. 8,013,391 Ps. 983,547 Ps. (803,534) Ps. 42,228,126 Ps. (14,431,315) Ps. 27,796,811

General expenses 4,119,580 1,169,532 939,906 940,202 (685,135) 6,484,085 (2,494,741) 3,989,344

Other (income) expenses, net (76,580) (19,613) 6,651 (455,676) - (545,218) 96,251 (448,967)

Depreciation and amortization 715,354 447,493 487,091 55,443 - 1,705,381 (532,313) 1,173,068

Net employee benefit cost 14,385 4,555 29,397 18,341 - 66,678 (9336) 57,342

Impairment of fixed and intangible assets - (18,942) 92,715 - - 73,773 18,942 92,715

Equity in results of joint ventures - - - - - - 1,034,553 1,034,553

Income from operations 2,095,357 973,636 (170,997) 499,022 - 3,397,018 (354,757) 3,042,261

Interest income 52,412 46,260 5,765 486,838 (495,664) 95,611 (58,402) 37,209

Interest expense (70,209) (81,753) (118,757) (1,121,760) 495,664 (896,815) 81,827 (814,988)

Other financial expenses (95,211) (45,936) (64,011) (33,522) - (238,680) (6,362) (245,042)

Exchange (loss) income, net 61,823 49,290 30,889 296,413 - 438,415 5,965 444,380

Equity in results of subsidiaries 
and associates

(3,928) 3,781 - 2,135,605 (2,135,605) (147) 147 -

Income taxes 562,561 201,703 (231,233) 32,062 565,093 (331,798) 233,295

Income (loss) from continuing operations 1,477,683 743,575 (85,878) 2,230,534 (2,135,605) 2,230,309 216 2,230,525

Income from discontinued operations - - - 2,150 - 2,150 - 2,150

Net income 1,477,683 743,575 (85,878) 2,232,684 (2,135,605) 2,232,459 216 2,232,675

Cash and cash equivalents 631,060 1,262,717 292,008 1,161,613 - 3,347,398 (1,806,322) 1,541,076

Total assets 21,148,756 11,458,407 15,666,407 31,525,018 (30,064,170) 49,734,418 (5,441,428) 44,292,990

Total financial debt - 992,445 672,530 14,917,654 - 16,582,629 (992,445) 15,590,184

Total liabilities 10,704,909 5,258,335 9,061,398 17,784,252 (7,025,821) 35,783,073 (5,438,223) 30,344,850

Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,076,581 478,888 576,353 - - 2,131,822 (638,090) 1,493,732

Investment in intangibles 1,527 - 1,439,498 8,215 - 1,449,240 - 1,449,240
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For the year ended 
December 31, 2018 Consumer Chemical Automotive KUO and others Eliminations Total

Elimination of 
joint venturess

Consolidated 
information

Net sales Ps. 19,359,703 Ps. 15,879,250 Ps. 7,176,790 Ps. 944,562 Ps. (792,327) Ps. 42,567,978 Ps. (15,285,767) Ps. 27,282,211

General expenses 3,777,347 1,378,322 890,342 1,055,811 (702,679) 6,399,143 (2,776,402) 3,622,741

Other (income) expenses, net (38,746) (60,302) (1,564) - - (100,612) 100,612 -

Depreciation and amortization 506,483 341,970 298,058 10,350 - 1,156,861 (505,213) 651,648

Net employee benefit cost 12,703 4,088 33,235 19,247 - 69,273 (8,626) 60,647

Equity in results of joint ventures - - - - - - 1,283,952 1,283,952

Income from operations 2,235,837 1,724,035 353,865 (111,250) - 4,202,487 (563,529) 3,638,958

Interest income 36,729 7,973 13,747 392,739 (395,934) 55,254 (17,176) 38,078

Interest expense 22,963 (84,153) (62,976) (828,690) 395,934 (556,922) 90,617 (466,305)

Other expenses financial (84,113) (30,868) (46,605) (28,104) - (189,690) (34,839) (224,529)

Exchange (loss) income, net (16,160) (52,910) (51,193) 94,814 - (25,449) 24,132 (1,317)

Equity in results of associates 456 (7,087) - 2,852,654 (2,852,654) (6,631) 6,631 -

Income taxes 626,007 462,749 35,189 202,781 - 1,326,726 (511,229) 815,497

Income (loss) from continuing operations 1,568,793 1,108,415 171,649 2,169,382 (2,852,654) 2,165,585 3,803 2,169,388

Income from discontinued operations - - - 47,385 - 47,385 - 47,385

Net income 1,568,793 1,108,415 171,649 2,216,767 (2,852,654) 2,212,970 3,803 2,216,773

Cash and cash equivalents 503,945 1,314,304 81,869 920,950 - 2,821,068 (1,718,091) 1,102,977

Total assets 19,139,466 12,129,325 13,024,137 30,392,242 (29,723,113) 44,962,057 (5,362,230) 39,599,827

Total financial debt - 1,069,111 383,817 14,152,156 - 15,605,084 (1,069,111) 14,535,973

Total liabilities 9,150,719 5,478,842 6,266,335 17,774,311 (6,543,093) 32,127,114 (5,352,832) 26,774,282

Additions to property, plant and equipment 2,001,378 386,164 1,126,459 23,483 - 3,537,484 (415,323) 3,122,161

Investment in intangibles 6,232 - 2,362,088 12,975 - 2,381,295 - 2,381,295
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a.	 The following table shows net sales generated by the main products of the segments, the percentage 
of net sales for each product line for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 % 2019 % 2018 %
Pork meat Ps. 14,219,760 46.0 Ps. 13,081,601 47.1 Ps. 11,597,220 42.5

Polystyrene 5,734,727 18.5 6,468,755 23.3 8,307,129 30.4

Transmissions and 
components

7,786,868 25.1 4,920,231 17.7 4,131,674 15.1

Auto parts 2,992,278 9.7 3,121,383 11.2 3,083,183 11.3

Others 202,236 0.7 204,841 0.7 163,005 0.7

Total Ps. 30,935,869 100 Ps. 27,796,811 100 Ps. 27,282,211 100

b.	 The following tables present sales classified by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 
2020, 2019 and 2018:

2020 2019   2018

Mexico Ps. 14,093,213 Ps. 15,650,299 Ps. 16,040,992

United States of America and Canada 9,558,987 6,299,291 5,928,600

Asia 5,817,538 4,159,927 3,226,368

Europe 903,353 1,053,002 1,293,453

Rest of the world 562,778 634,292 792,798

Total Ps. 30,935,869 Ps. 27,796,811 Ps. 27,282,211

c.	 KUO has a diverse customer base in the three segments in which it mainly operates. For the years 
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, no customer represents more than 5% of consolidated net 
sales; except in the automotive segment, only in the year ended December 31, 2020, where it has 
one customer whose sales represent more than 10% of total consolidated sales.

7.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and 
bank and investment instruments in the money market. Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 
as shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the 
consolidated statements of financial position as follows: 

2020 2019   2018

Cash and cash equivalents Ps. 159,083 Ps. 343,888 Ps. 161,092

Investments 4,653,607 1,197,188 941,885

Total Ps. 4,812,690 Ps. 1,541,076 Ps. 1,102,977

Investments:

Banknote paper Ps. 4,652,449 Ps. 1,159,808 Ps. 701,881

Short-term investments 1,158 37,380 240,004

Total Ps. 4,653,607 Ps. 1,197,188 Ps. 941,885

8.	 ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

2020 2019   2018

Trade Ps. 2,393,858 Ps. 1,989,396 Ps. 2,035,200

Allowance for discounts (104,402) (153,744) (247,123)

Allowance for doubtful accounts (31,511) (38,178) (36,193)

2,257,945 1,797,474 1,751,884

Other debtors 120,558 172,280 187,014

Recoverable taxes 944,125 756,092 966,723

Total Ps. 3,322,628 Ps. 2,725,846 Ps. 2,905,621

Trade receivables

The average credit period on sales of goods is 60 days. The Entity has recognized a loss allowance of 
45.62% of all receivables over 120 days past due because historical experience has indicated that these 
receivables are generally not recoverable. For accounts receivable that are between 60 and 120 days, 
an allowance is recognized for doubtful accounts based on expected loss determined for experiences 
of default of the counterparty and an analysis of their current financial position.

Before accepting any new client, the Entity uses an external credit rating system to evaluate the credit quality 
of the potential client and defines the limit of credit per client. The limits and ratings attributed to clients 
are reviewed twice a year. 99% of the accounts receivable from customers that are not due or impaired, 
have the best attributable credit rating according to the external credit rating system used by the Entity.

Accounts receivable from customers include amounts that are due at the end of the reporting period (see 
the aging analysis below), but for which the Entity has not recognized any estimates for uncollectible 
accounts because there has been no significant change in credit quality and amounts (which include 
accrued interest after the accounts are 60 days) are still considered recoverable.

Trade receivables - days past due

December 31, 2020 <30 31 - 60 61 - 90 91 - 120 >120 Total
Expected credit loss rate 0.42% 3.82% 0.98% 28.16% 45.62%

Estimated total gross carrying 
amount at default

2,159,583 155,852 41,036 5,931 31,456 Ps. 2,393,858

Lifetime ECL (9,140) (5,948) (404) (1,670) (14,349) (31,511)

Ps. 2,362,347

Trade receivables - days past due

December 31, 2019 <30 31 - 60 61 - 90 91 - 120 >120 Total
Expected credit loss rate 0.71% 5.83% 46.07% 9.26% 94.33%

Estimated total gross carrying 
amount at default

1,791,143 144,580 10,509 33,555 9,609 Ps. 1,989,396

Lifetime ECL (12,734) (8,433) (4,841) (3,106) (9,064) (38,178)

Ps. 1,951,218

Trade receivables - days past due

December 31, 2018 <30 31 - 60 61 - 90 91 - 120 >120 Total
Expected credit loss rate 3.69% 7.10% 10.87% 18.77% 42.86%

Estimated total gross carrying 
amount at default

1,927,244 40,861 16,039 24,432 26,624 Ps. 2,035,200

Lifetime ECL (15,550) (2,901) (1,744) (4,587) (11,411) (36,193)

Ps. 1,999,007
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The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognized for trade and other 
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9.

2020 2019   2018

Balance at the beginning of the period Ps. (38,178) Ps. (36,193) Ps. (45,338)

Amounts written off 5,732 6,311 13,161

Accounts considered uncollectible 
during the year

12,160 - -

Impairment (11,225) (8,296) (4,016)

Balance at the end of the year Ps. (31,511) Ps. (38,178) Ps. (36,193)

As mentioned in Note 4f, for the determination of the estimation of doubtful accounts, the Entity performs 
an aging analysis of balances by client and is assigned based on experience an estimation percentage. 
This first analysis gives an indication of impairment; Subsequently, an analysis of the financial situation 
of all the clients included is carried out to determine which are the accounts that present an impairment 
according to the expected credit loss model and on these the corresponding estimate is recorded.

As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Entity sold as non-recourse accounts receivables with an 
accumulated carrying value of US175,702, US156,261 and US154,140, to a bank for cash funds of US173,503, 
US152,813 and US147,909, respectively. As the Entity has transferred the significant risks and benefits 
related to these accounts receivable, the Entity wrote down the book value of these accounts receivable. 
At the end of 2020, 2019 and 2018, the carrying amount of short-term accounts receivable, which are 
current and derecognized, amounts to Ps.519,458, Ps.353,332 and Ps.453,127, respectively.

9.	 INVENTORIES

2020 2019   2018

Finished goods and work in process Ps. 2,452,081 Ps. 2,638,930 Ps. 2,001,870

Raw materials, supplies and others 3,399,988 3,322,542 3,130,613

5,852,069 5,961,472 5,132,483

Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving 
inventories

(226,138) (248,275) (231,287)

Goods in transit 271,342 81,114 143,968

Ps. 5,897,273 Ps. 5,794,311 Ps. 5,045,164

Change in the allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories:

2020 2019   2018

Balances at the beginning of the year Ps. (248,275) Ps. (231,287) Ps. (287,483)

Increase in the allowance (66,819) (37,172) (61,274)

Application 83,435 10,441 106,447

Decreases 5,521 9,743 11,023

Balances at the end of the year Ps. (226,138) Ps. (248,275) Ps. (231,287)

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense during the year in respect to continuing operations was 
Ps.19, 186,617, Ps.17,240,067 and Ps.17,096,974 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively.

10.	BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

2020 2019   2018

Balances at the beginning of the year Ps. 1,604,327 Ps. 1,581,260 Ps. 1,166,531

Production costs 7,443,592 6,365,942 6,159,811

Transfer to inventories (7,243,113) (6,342,875) (5,745,082)

Balances at the end of the year Ps. 1,804,806 Ps. 1,604,327 Ps. 1,581,260

Biological assets - short-term Ps. 1,354,980 Ps. 1,206,260 Ps. 1,217,425

Biological assets - long-term 449,826 398,067 363,835

Ps. 1,804,806 Ps. 1,604,327 Ps. 1,581,260

Principal risks in the hogs’ operation:

The operation of raising and selling hogs and their derivatives is exposed to fluctuations in prices and 
sales volumes, as well as exchange rate fluctuations, the latter of which refers to foreign sales. 

With respect to this operation, KUO is subject to the applicable health laws and regulations in both 
Mexico and the countries where it operates. Accordingly, environmental policies and procedures have 
been established to ensure compliance with environmental and health regulations. Furthermore, periodic 
reviews are performed to timely identify and mitigate any environmental risk.

Hurricanes and other adverse weather conditions may result in additional inventory losses and damage 
to the plants and equipment of the Entity.

GRUPO KUO AR       20     20 157156



11.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Reconciliation of beginning and ending balances at December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2019 Additions

Disposals 
/ Disposals 

from 
sinister (i) Impairment

Transferred 
assets

Translation 
effect

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2020

Investment:

Land Ps. 1,220,021 Ps. - Ps. - Ps. - Ps. - Ps. 41,057 Ps. 1,261,078

Building and 
installations

6,239,592 374 (949,971) - 768,926 62,482 6,121,403

Industrial machinery 
and equipment

10,843,060 2,426 (868,400) - 865,257 317,625 11,159,968

Office furniture and 
equipment

192,020 1,974 (2,733) - 502 2,418 194,181

Vehicles 286,352 173 (20,577) - 36,709 79 302,736

Other assets 4,234 1,677 - - 15,633 - 21,544

Projects-in-progress 1,540,429 864,947 - - (1,687,027) 6,774 725,123

Total investment 20,325,708 871,571 (1,841,681) - - 430,435 19,786,033

Depreciation:

Building and 
installations

(1,571,598) (234,578) 35,098 - - (30,216) (1,801,294)

Industrial machinery 
and equipment

(6,336,282) (695,124) 197,560 (6,545) - (161,802) (7,002,193)

Office furniture and 
equipment

(130,800) (12,415) 527 - - (1,794) (144,482)

Vehicles (187,397) (42,291) 9,044 - - (73) (220,717)

Other assets (1,839) (1,923) - - - - (3,762)

Total accumulated 
depreciation

(8,227,916) (986,331) 242,229 (6,545) - (193,885) (9,172,448)

Net investment Ps. 12,097,792 Ps. (114,760) Ps. (1,599,452) Ps. (6,545) Ps. - Ps. 236,550 Ps. 10,613,585

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2018 Additions Disposals Impairment

Transferred 
assets

Translation 
effect

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2019

Investment:

Land Ps. 1,186,235 Ps. - Ps. - Ps. - Ps. 63,976 Ps. (30,190) Ps. 1,220,021

Building and installations 5,839,345 - (8,590) - 456,464 (47,627) 6,239,592

Industrial machinery and 
equipment

10,231,737 26,666 (602,800) - 1,426,956 (239,499) 10,843,060

Office furniture and 
equipment

176,049 10,739 (789) - 7,417 (1,396) 192,020

Vehicles 264,042 757 (11,165) - 32,776 (58) 286,352

Other assets 4,234 - - - - - 4,234

Projects-in-progress 2,679,410 1,666,227 (576,665) (31,590) (1,987,589) (209,364) 1,540,429

Total investment 20,381,052 1,704,389 (1,200,009)  (31,590) - (528,134) 20,325,708

Depreciation:

Building and installations (1,386,511) (199,291) 2,231 - - 11,973 (1,571,598)

Industrial machinery and 
equipment

(5,992,849) (542,202) 119,387 (61,125) - 140,507 (6,336,282)

Office furniture and 
equipment

(123,116) (8,962) 384 - - 894 (130,800)

Vehicles (149,199) (47,484) 8,976 - - 310 (187,397)

Other assets (1,839) - - - - - (1,839)

Total accumulated 
depreciation

(7,653,514) (797,939) 130,978 (61,125) - 153,684 (8,227,916)

Net investment Ps. 12,727,538 Ps. 906,450 Ps. (1,069,031) Ps. (92,715) Ps. - Ps. (374,450) Ps. 12,097,792

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2017 Additions Disposals Impairment

Transferred 
assets

Translation 
effect

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2018

Investment:

Land Ps. 1,083,794 Ps. 23,050 Ps. - Ps. - Ps. 83,635 Ps. (4,244) Ps. 1,186,235

Building and installations 3,765,993 25,759 (240) - 2,068,090 (20,257) 5,839,345

Industrial machinery and 
equipment

8,526,608 99,965 (87,703) - 1,713,712 (20,845) 10,231,737

Office furniture and 
equipment

165,074 7,669 (294) - 6,178 (2,578) 176,049

Vehicles 194,893 433 (12,692) - 81,416 (8) 264,042

Other assets 4,234 - - - - - 4,234

Projects-in-progress 3,465,068 3,198,589 - - (3,953,031) (31,216) 2,679,410

Total investment 17,205,664 3,355,465 (100,929) - - (79,148) 20,381,052

Depreciation:

Building and installations (1,245,784) (145,793) 26 - - 5,040 (1,386,511)

Industrial machinery and 
equipment

(5,672,784) (445,668) 84,784 - - 40,819 (5,992,849)

Office furniture and 
equipment

(116,390) (9,583) 246 - - 2,611 (123,116)

Vehicles (116,540) (39,920) 7,264 - - (3) (149,199)

Other assets (1,838) - - - - (1) (1,839)

Total accumulated 
depreciation

(7,153,336) (640,964) 92,320 - - 48,466 (7,653,514)

Net investment Ps. 10,052,328 Ps. 2,714,501 Ps. (8,609) Ps. - Ps. - Ps. (30,682) Ps. 12,727,538

(i)	Includes loss in sinister of Ps.1,582,775 (see Note 28)
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As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Entity has no idle assets. 

The following useful lives used in the calculation of average depreciation are:

Building and installations 35 years

Leasehold improvements 20 to 22 years

Industrial machinery 15 years

Tooling 3 to 5 years

Plant and equipment 10 years

Vehicles 4 years

Laboratory equipment 10 years

 

12.	RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

The Entity leases various assets, including real estate, plant and equipment, technology equipment and transportation 
equipment. The average lease term is 10 years.

The Entity has the option to purchase certain manufacturing equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease 
period. The Entity’s obligations are insured by the lessor’s title to the assets leased in said leases.

Balances 
as of  

December 
31, 2019 Acquisitions Disposals Net

Translation 
effect

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2020

Costs:

Building Ps. 1,568,033 Ps. 92,910 Ps. (85,103) Ps. - Ps. 62,530 Ps. 1,638,370

Computer equipment 25,777 15,018 - - - 40,795

Machinery and equipment 44,733 3,895 (9,732) (262) 2,681 41,315

Transportation equipment 227,007 10,892 (3,142) (6,546) 5,305 233,516

Airplane 148,617 - - - - 148,617

Total investment 2,014,167 122,715 (97,977) (6,808) 70,516 2,102,613

Accumulated depreciation:

Building (143,538) (157,980) 45,288 - (5,219) (261,449)

Computer equipment (6,396) (8,343) - - - (14,739)

Machinery and equipment (9,150) (9,847) 1,537 262 286 (16,912)

Transportation equipment (61,492) (66,028) 2,485 6,546 (3,204) (121,693)

Airplane (29,723) (29,723) - - - (59,446)

Total accumulated depreciation (250,299) (271,921) 49,310 6,808 (8,137) (474,239)

Net cost Ps. 1,763,868 Ps. (149,206) Ps. (48,667) Ps. - Ps. 62,379 Ps. 1,628,374

Balances 
as of  

December 
31, 2018

Initial 
application 

IFRS-16 Acquisitons Disposals
Translation 

effect

Balance 
as of 

December 
31, 2019

Costs:

Building Ps. - Ps. 1,505,110 Ps. 74,024 Ps. (5,906) Ps. (5,195) Ps. 1,568,033

Computer equipment - 21,809 3,792 - 176 25,777

Machinery and equipment - 43,333 2,336 (936) - 44,733

Transportation equipment - 210,981 16,786 (569) (191) 227,007

Airplane - 148,617 - - - 148,617

Total investment - 1,929,850 96,938 (7,411) (5,210) 2,014,167

Accumulated depreciation:

Building - - (144,410) 185 687 (143,538)

Computer equipment - - (6,396) - - (6,396)

Machinery and equipment - - (9,284) 134 - (9,150)

Transportation equipment - - (61,753) 225 36 (61,492)

Airplane - - (29,723) - - (29,723)

Total accumulated depreciation - - (251,566) 544 723 (250,299)

Net cost Ps. - Ps. - Ps. 96,938 Ps. (6,867) Ps. (4,487) Ps. 1,763,868

Amounts recognized as expenses in results:

2020 2019

Depreciation right-of-use asset Ps. 271,921 Ps. 251,566

Interest on lease liability 123,662 125,045

Short-term leases 152,999 152,783

Total cash outflows for leases amounted to Ps.356,692 and Ps.321,265 in 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The weighted rates used by Management to determine the right-of-use asset are as follows:

2020 2019

Building and installations 5.71% 6.47%

Computer equipment 2.56% 3.71%

Machinery and equipment 5.50% 6.80%

Transportation equipment 5.29% 7.21%

Airplane 3.49% 4.12%
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13.	SUBSIDIARIES

a.	 KUO’s main subsidiaries - As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follow:

	

Main activity Location Percentage
Grupo Porcícola Mexicano, S.A. de C.V. Pork meat breeding and fattening Mexico 100%

Comercializadora Porcícola Mexicana, 
S.A. de C.V. 

Pork meat marketer Mexico 100%

Resirene, S.A. de C.V. and Subsidiary Manufacture of polystyrene Mexico 100%

Transmisiones y Equipos 
Mecánicos, S.A. de C.V.

Production of manual and high 
performance transmissions

Mexico 99.99%

Dacomsa, S.A. de C.V. Distributor of automotive parts Mexico 100%

There are no restrictions for subsidiaries related to fund transfers to the Entity such as cash dividends, 
loan repayments or prepayments.

b.	 Group composition - The following information presents the entities in which KUO participates, 
including those in which it has a 100% participation and those in which a non - controlling interest 
exists.

Number of subsidiaries with 
a 100% equity interest

Segment Location 2020 2019 2018
Consumer Mexico 3 3 3

Chemical Mexico 3 3 2

Automotive Mexico and United States of America 9 9 9

KUO and others (i) Mexico 8 8 8

Automotive Mexico and Belgium 1 1 1

14.	INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

2020 2019   2018

Investments in joint ventures Ps. 10,612,109 Ps. 11,334,719 Ps. 11,224,716

Other investments 1,381 1,361 1,361

Ps. 10,613,490 Ps. 11,336,080 Ps. 11,226,077

Joint ventures

a.	 As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the balance of investments in joint ventures is as follows:

2020 2019 2018

Location Activity
% 

Interest Total
% 

Interest Total
% 

Interest Total

Herdez del 
Fuerte, S.A. 
de C.V. and 
subsidiaries

Mexico 
and 
United 
States of 
America

Sale of 
processed 
food

50% Ps. 5,634,756 50% Ps. 5,964,699 50.00% Ps. 5,764,277

Synthetic 
rubber (i)

Mexico, 
Spain and 
China

Production 
of synthetic 
rubber

50% 4,977,353 50% 5,370,020 50.00% 5,460,439

Ps. 10,612,109 Ps. 11,334,719 Ps. 11,224,716

(i)	Integrated by Dynasol Gestión México, S.A.P.I. de C.V. and subsidiaries and Dynasol Gestión, S.L. and subsidiaries.

b.	 Movements in the joint ventures balance is as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Balance as of January 1 Ps. 11,334,719 Ps. 11,224,716 Ps. 10,381,475

Participation in the results of the period 1,085,187 1,034,553 1,283,952

Dividend distribution (2,434,847) (575,823) (321,662)

Participation in other comprehensive 
income items

627,050 (348,727) (119,049)

Balance as of December 31 Ps. 10,612,109 Ps. 11,334,719 Ps. 11,224,716

c.	 The equity in results of the period of such joint ventures is as follows:

Equity in results 2020 2019   2018
Herdez del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V. 
and Subsidiaries

Ps. 782,272 Ps. 595,665 Ps. 674,118

Synthetic Rubber 302,915 438,888 609,834

Total Ps. 1,085,187 Ps. 1,034,553 Ps. 1,283,952

GRUPO KUO AR       20     20 163162



d.	 A summary of the financial information regarding each joint ventures is detailed below.

Herdez del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V. 
and Subsidiaries 2020 2019   2018
Current assets Ps. 7,276,682 Ps. 6,737,258 Ps. 6,130,996

Non-current assets 9,978,446 10,514,343 10,154,352

Current liabilities 4,832,686 4,137,086 3,707,694

Non-current liabilities 352,788 387,056 238,653

Net assets Ps. 12,069,654 Ps. 12,727,459 Ps. 12,339,001

Non - controlling interest (8,492) (6,409) (18,796)

Controlling interest net assets Ps. 12,061,162 Ps. 12,721,050 Ps. 12,320,205

Cash and cash equivalents Ps. 1,364,906 Ps. 673,899 Ps. 374,004

Revenue Ps. 10,523,772 Ps. 9,626,303 Ps. 9,229,296

Income from operations 1,979,838 1,578,420 1,746,988

Net income 1,564,354 1,190,897 1,340,630

Net loss of non - controlling interest (190) (432) (7,606)

Net income of controlling interest 1,564,544 1,191,329 1,348,236

The income of the period includes:

Depreciation and amortization 299,079 307,222 231,698

Net period cost 24,778 17,219 15,871

Interest income (62,162) (49,979) (32,716)

Interest expense 22,561 31,896 9,810

Income tax expense 583,026 392,816 431,460

The reconciliation of financial information above to the carrying amount of the investment in the joint 
venture recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Net assets of the joint venture Ps. 12,061,162 Ps. 12,721,050 Ps. 12,320,205

Participation 50% 50% 50%

Equity of the Entity’s interest 
in the joint venture

6,030,581 6,360,524 6,160,102

Goodwill (395,825) (395,825) (395,825)

Carrying amount of the interest 
in the joint venture

Ps. 5,634,756 Ps. 5,964,699 Ps. 5,764,277

Net income of controlling interest Ps. 1,564,544 Ps. 1,191,329 Ps. 1,348,236

Participation 50% 50% 50%

Profit for the period Ps. 782,272 Ps. 595,665 Ps. 674,118

Synthetic Rubber 2020 2019   2018

Current assets Ps. 6,345,377 Ps. 7,711,795 Ps. 8,738,716

Non-current assets 7,471,547 6,195,175 5,879,684

Current liabilities 2,936,129 2,689,983 3,230,860

Non-current liabilities 926,089 476,947 466,658

Net assets controlling interest Ps. 9,954,706 Ps. 10,740,040 Ps. 10,920,882

Cash and cash equivalents Ps. 1,426,212 Ps. 2,202,429 Ps. 2,365,876

Revenue Ps. 10,785,124 Ps. 11,896,396 Ps. 14,452,708

Income from operations 925,258 1,060,324 1,863,960

Net income 605,829 877,777 1,219,668

Net income of controlling interest 605,829 877,777 1,219,668

Income of the period includes:

Depreciation and amortization 603,971 432,425 441,239

Interest expenses (45,084) (62,661) (2,074)

Interest income 36,648 35,219 -

Income tax expense 296,783 181,315 445,126

The reconciliation of financial information above to the carrying amount of the investment in the joint 
venture recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Net assets of the joint venture Ps. 9,954,706 Ps. 10,740,040 Ps. 10,920,882

Participation 50% 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the 
interest in the joint venture

Ps. 4,977,353 Ps. 5,370,020 Ps. 5,460,439

Net income of controlling interest Ps. 605,829 Ps. 877,777 Ps. 1,219,668

Participation 50% 50% 50%

Profit for the period Ps. 302,915 Ps. 438,888 Ps. 609,834

15.	INTANGIBLES AND OTHER ASSETS 

2020 2019   2018

Intangible assets (a) Ps. 5,280,208 Ps. 5,727,764 Ps. 3,842,351

Other assets (b) 247,593 240,493 232,182

Ps. 5,527,801 Ps. 5,968,257 Ps. 4,074,533
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a.	 Intangible assets

Balances 
as of 

December 
31, 2019 Additions (i)

Translation 
effect Disposals

Balances 
as of 

December 
31, 2020

Investment:

Projects and capitalized 
development costs

Ps. 5,109,643 Ps. 72,255 Ps. 95,209 Ps. - Ps. 5,277,107

Capitalized costs associated with 
contracts with clients

673,402 17,842 17,511 - 708,755

Patents and trademarks 222,362 - - - 222,362

Licenses 183,113 11,499 6,307 - 200,919

Total 6,188,520 101,596 119,027 - 6,409,143

Accumulated amortization:

Projects and capitalized 
development 

(298,451) (550,425) 7,130 - (841,746)

Capitalized contract 
compliance costs

(14,809) (104,554) 2,450 - (116,913)

Patents and trademarks (84,982) - - - (84,982)

Licenses (62,514) (20,150) (2,630) - (85,294)

Total (460,756) (675,129) 6,950 - (1,128,935)

Ps. 5,727,764 Ps. (573,533) Ps. 125,977 Ps. - Ps. 5,280,208

Balances 
as of 

December 
31, 2018 Additions 

Translation 
effect Disposals

Balances 
as of 

December 
31, 2019

Investment:

Projects and capitalized 
development costs

Ps. 3,710,279 Ps. 1,521,916 Ps. (122,552) Ps. - Ps. 5,109,643

Capitalized costs associated with 
contracts with clients

66,970 650,511 (44,079) - 673,402

Patents and trademarks 222,362 - - - 222,362

Licenses 179,181 26,848 852 (23,768) 183,113

Total 4,178,792 2,199,275 (165,779) (23,768) 6,188,520

Accumulated amortization:

Projects and capitalized 
development

(205,747) (92,045) (659) - (298,451)

Capitalized contract 
compliance costs

- (14,685) (124) - (14,809)

Patents and trademarks (84,982) - - - (84,982)

Licenses (45,712) (16,833) 31 - (62,514)

Total (336,441) (123,563) (752) - (460,756)

Ps. 3,842,351 Ps. 2,075,712 Ps. (166,531) Ps. (23,768) Ps. 5,727,764

Balances 
as of 

December 
31, 2017 Additions

Translation 
effect Disposals

Balances 
as of 

December 
31, 2018

Investment:

Projects and capitalized 
development costs

Ps. 1,251,495 Ps. 2,402,111 Ps. 56,673 Ps. - Ps. 3,710,279

Capitalized costs associated with 
contracts with clients

- 65,217 1,753 - 66,970

Patents and trademarks 222,362 - - - 222,362

Licenses 155,278 23,903 - - 179,181

Total 1,629,135 2,491,231 58,426 - 4,178,792

Accumulated amortization:

Projects and capitalized 
development costs

(199,787) (5,960) - - (205,747)

Patents and trademarks (84,982) - - - (84,982)

Licenses (40,988) (4,724) - - (45,712)

Total (325,757) (10,684) - - (336,441)

Ps. 1,303,378 Ps. 2,480,547 Ps. 58,426 Ps. - Ps. 3,842,351

	 (i) Includes a discount to capitalized projects and development of Ps.81,940 in 2020.

The useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Projects and capitalized development costs 5 - 8 years

Capitalized costs associated with contracts with clients Based on the maturity of the contracts

Licenses 15 years

Patents and trademarks 20 years

In the Automotive segment investments are being made for the development of new generation 
high-tech dual-clutch DCT transmissions (“DCT - Dual Clutch Transmission”). During 2020, 2019 and 
2018, investments were made for Ps.170 million, Ps.1,404 million and Ps.2,362 million, respectively.

b.	 Other assets

2020 2019   2018

Guarantee deposits Ps. 164,889 Ps. 155,062 Ps. 152,660

Artworks 76,883 76,883 76,883

Goodwill 998 1,422 1,970

Others 4,823 7,126 669

Ps. 247,593 Ps. 240,493 Ps. 232,182

16.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.	 Financial risk management objectives

KUO’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic 
and international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations 
of the Entity through internal risk reports which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of 
risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk, and liquidity risk.
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KUO seeks to minimize the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge 
these risk exposures. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Entity’s policies approved 
by the Board of Directors, which provide written principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate 
risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and the 
investment of excess liquidity. The Entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including 
derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

b.	 Market risk

	 The Entity’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates and interest rates. The Entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage 
its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including:

-	 Forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the import of corn.

There has been no change to the Entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these 
risks are managed and measured.
 
Foreign currency risk management

The Entity undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures 
to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy 
parameters utilizing forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 
at the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
US dollars 161,311 69,836 28,031 709,966 683,194 590,492

(i)	 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis - The Entity is mainly exposed to the currency of US dollars. 
The Entity performs periodic sensitivity analysis to an increase and decrease of 10% in Mexican 
pesos against the relevant foreign currencies. The 10% is the sensitivity rate used when foreign 
exchange risk is reported internally to key Management personnel and represents Management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in exchange rates. 

	 The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in foreign currency 
and adjusts their translation at the end of the period for a 10% change in exchange rates. The 
sensitivity analysis mainly includes loans in foreign currency. A positive number (as shown in the 
table below) indicates an increase in the results where the peso is strengthened by 10% against 
the relevant currency. If a weakening of 10% by the peso with respect to the reference currency 
is presented, then it will have a comparable impact on the results and the following balances 
would be negative.

2020 2019   2018

Results Ps. 1,094,495 Ps. 1,161,976 Ps. 1,107,086(i)

(i)	Mainly attributable to the exposure of accounts receivable and payable balances, including debt, held by the Entity at the end 
of the reporting period.

(ii)	Interest rate risk management

KUO is mainly exposed to interest rate risks because it has entered into debt at variable rates. 
Hedging activities are regularly monitored so that they align with interest rates and their related 
risk, ensuring the implementation of the most profitable hedging strategies.

The Entity’s exposures to interest-rate risk are mainly related to changes in the TIIE and London 
InterBank Offered Rate (LIBOR) rate with respect to KUO’s financial liabilities. The Entity prepares 
sensitivity analyses based on its exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate debt with financial 
institutions that is not hedged. The analyses are prepared assuming that the ending period 
balance as at year-end was the outstanding balance during the entire year. The Entity internally 
reports to the Board of Directors about its interest rate risks.

When reporting internally to key executive personnel on the interest rate risk, an increase or 
decrease of 50 basis points is used, which represents Management’s evaluation of the possible 
reasonable change in interest rates. 

If the interest rates were 50 basis points above/below and all the other variables remained constant:

The result would decrease/increase in 2020 Ps.36,876, Ps.32,411, in 2019 and Ps.26,984 in 2018. 
This is mainly attributable to the Entity’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate loans 
in Mexican pesos.
 
The Entity’s sensitivity to interest rates has been maintained during the current year mainly due 
to the contracting of variable rate debt instruments.

c.	 Credit risk management

Note 8 details the Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the measurement bases used to 
determine ECL.

In order to minimize credit risk, the Entity has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from defaults. Have low credit risk for the purpose of impairment assessment. 
The credit rating information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not 
available, the Entity uses other publicly available financial information and its own trading records 
to rate its major customers. The Entity’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are 
continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst 
approved counterparties.

Before accepting any new customer, a dedicated team responsible for the determination of credit 
limits uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed and 
approved twice a year by the risk management committee. 80% of the trade receivables have the 
best credit scoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Entity.

Credit approvals and other monitoring procedures are also in place to ensure that follow-up action 
is taken to recover overdue debts. Furthermore, the Entity reviews the recoverable amount of each 
trade debt and debt investment on an individual basis at the end of the reporting period to ensure 
that adequate loss allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, Management considers 
that the Entity’s credit risk is significantly reduced. Trade receivables consist of a large number of 
customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is 
performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee 
insurance cover is purchased.
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(i)	 Overview of the Entity’s exposure to credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Entity. As of December 31, 2020 KUO’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a 
financial loss to KUO due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial 
guarantees provided by the Entity arises from: 

•	 The carrying amount of the respective recognized financial assets as stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position; and

•	 The maximum amount the entity would have to pay if the financial guarantee is called upon, 
irrespective of the likelihood of the guarantee being exercised.

The Entity’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored 
and the accumulated value of the completed transactions is distributed among the approved 
counterparties. The credit exposure is controlled by the counterparty limits that are reviewed 
and approved by KUO’s Credit Committee.

Accounts receivable from customers are composed of a large number of clients distributed 
through different industries and geographic areas. Before granting credit to any client, a financial 
evaluation is performed and credit references are requested; finally, the continuous evaluation 
of the credit is made on the financial condition of the accounts receivable, when appropriate. 
KUO considers that its potential credit risk is adequately covered by its allowance for doubtful 
accounts, which represents its estimate of expected credit losses due to impairment with respect 
to accounts receivable (see Note 8).
 
KUO does not have significant credit risk exposures with any of the parties or any group of 
counterparties with similar characteristics. The concentration of credit risk with some other party 
did not exceed 5% of the gross monetary assets at any time during the years 2020, 2019 and 2018.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by recognized rating agencies.

The Entity’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Category Description
Basis for recognizing 
expected credit losses

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default 
and does not have any past-due amounts

12-month ECL

Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is 
evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor 
is in severe financial difficulty and the 
Entity has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Entity’s financial assets, contract assets and financial 
guarantee contracts, as well as the Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

December 31, 2020
Internal 

credit rating
12-month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 

amount (i)

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 

amount (i)

Accounts receivable Performing 12-month 2,393,858 (31,511) 2,362,347

Other debtors Performing 12-month 120,558 - 120,558

Accounts receivable from 
related parties

Performing 12-month 115,355 - 115,355

Other accounts receivable 
non-current

Performing 12-month 11,138 - 11,138

Accounts receivable from 
related parties non-current 

Performing 12-month 111,816 - 111,816

December 31, 2019
Internal 

credit rating
12-month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 

amount (i)

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 

amount (i)

Accounts receivable Performing 12-month 1,989,396 (38,178) 1,951,218

Other debtors Performing 12-month 172,280 - 172,280

Accounts receivable from 
related parties

Performing 12-month 169,567 - 169,567

Other accounts receivable 
non-current

Performing 12-month 14,983 - 14,983

Accounts receivable from 
related parties non-current 

Performing 12-month 104,960 - 104,960

December 31, 2018
Internal 

credit rating
12-month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 

amount (i)

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 

amount (i)

Accounts receivable Performing 12-month 2,035,200 (36,193) 1,999,007

Other debtors Performing 12-month 187,014 - 187,014

Accounts receivable from 
related parties

Performing 12-month 149,814 - 149,814

Other accounts receivable 
non-current

Performing 12-month 26,804 - 26,804

Accounts receivable from 
related parties non-current 

Performing 12-month 122,234 - 122,234

(i)	For trade receivables, the Entity has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The 
Entity determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss 
experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future 
economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of the 
provision matrix. 

d.	 Liquidity risk management

	 Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with Entity ś Management, which has 
established appropriate policies for the control of such risk through the monitoring of working 
capital, allowing Management of the Entity’s short-, medium-, and long-term funding requirements. 
The Entity maintains cash reserves and available credit lines, continuously monitoring projected and 
actual cash flows, reconciling the profiles of maturity of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Entity’s financial liabilities, 
based on contractual repayment periods. The table has been designed based on un-discounted 
projected cash flows of financial liabilities based on the date on which the Entity makes payments. 
The table includes both projected cash flows related to interest and capital on financial debt in the 
consolidated statements of financial position. Where the contractual interest payments are based 
on variable rates, the amounts are derived from interest rate curves at the end of the period. 

The contractual maturity is based on earliest date in which the Entity is required to make payments.

As of December 31, 
2020 Six months One year

1 and 3 
years

More than 
3 years Total

Bank loans including the 
current portion of 
long-term debt

Ps. 327,380 Ps. 619,667 Ps. 2,464,058 Ps. 17,550,200 Ps. 20,961,305

Notes and accounts payable 
to suppliers

7,264,190 - - - 7,264,190

Lease liability 172,980 171,000 836,856 1,570,762 2,751,598

Other payables and 
accrued liabilities

2,724,429 - - - 2,724,429

Accounts payable to 
related parties

4,580 - - - 4,580

Total Ps. 10,493,559 Ps. 790,667 Ps. 3,300,914 Ps. 19,120,962 Ps. 33,706,102

As of December 31, 
2019 Six months One year

1 and 3 
years

More than 
3 years Total

Bank loans including the 
current portion of 
long-term debt

Ps. 164,905 Ps. 588,113 Ps. 4,022,681 Ps. 16,650,479 Ps. 21,426,178

Notes and accounts payable 
to suppliers

7,021,850 - - - 7,021,850

Lease liability 164,239 164,027 887,318 1,578,865 2,794,449

Other payables and 
accrued liabilities

2,464,412 - - - 2,464,412

Accounts payable to 
related parties

21,335 - - - 21,335

Total Ps. 9,836,741 Ps. 752,140 Ps. 4,909,999 Ps. 18,229,344 Ps. 33,728,224

As of December 31, 
2018 Six months One year

1 and 3 
years

More than 
3 years Total

Bank loans including the 
current portion of 
long-term debt

Ps. 221,881 Ps. 582,297 Ps. 5,795,584 Ps. 14,232,664 Ps. 20,832,426

Notes and accounts payable 
to suppliers

6,339,516 - - - 6,339,516

Other payables and 
accrued liabilities

1,940,574 - - - 1,940,574

Accounts payable to 
related parties

25,469 - - - 25,469

Total Ps. 8,527,440 Ps. 582,297 Ps. 5,795,584 Ps. 14,232,664 Ps. 29,137,985

17.	FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

This note provides information about how the Entity determines the fair values of its various financial 
assets and liabilities.

The Entity’s cash and cash equivalents, as well as accounts receivable and payable from and to third 
and related parties, and the current portion of bank loans and long-term debt approximate to their fair 
value, because of their short-term maturities. The Entity’s long-term debt is recorded at its amortized 
cost and consists of debt that generates interest at fixed and variable rates related to market indicators.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments by category and their related fair values as of December 
31 are as follows:

2020 2019 2018

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Financial liabilities at amortized 
cost (level 2)

Bank loans and current portion of 
long-term debt (1) Ps. (16,757,487) Ps. (17,646,955) Ps. (15,590,184) Ps. (16,513,194) Ps. (14,535,973) Ps. (14,255,618)

Derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments (level 2)

Forwards (2) - - - - 3,922 3,922

Total Ps. (16,757,487) Ps. (17,646,955) Ps. (15,590,184) Ps. (16,513,194) Ps. (14,532,051) Ps. (14,251,696)

(1)	The fair value of debt issued on the stock market was obtained based on the financial indicators provided by Accival Casa de Bolsa 
Banamex and Thomson Reuters, which determine the price for bonds issued by KUO that can be exchanged. This value represents the fair 
amount for these instruments to be exchanged on their respective expiration dates.

(2)	Discounted cash flows. The future cash flows are estimated on the basis of the rates of forward exchange rates (starting from observable 
forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period) and rates of forward contract, discounted at a rate that reflects credit risk of 
various counterparties.

During the periods, there were no transfers between Level 1 and 2.

18.	DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The objective of the Entity in executing contracts with derivative financial instruments is to partially 
hedge the financial risk from exposures in the exchange rates and corn prices. The decision to enter into 
an economic or financial hedge reflects market conditions and the related expectation at a given date, 
as well as the domestic and international economic context of the economic indicators that influence 
the Entity’s operations.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the effect in other comprehensive income (loss) is Ps.423 and Ps.(4,250) 
net of deferred tax, respectively.

19.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS TO HEDGE NET INVESTMENTS IN FOREIGN OPERATIONS

As of January 2, 2020, the Entity designated the bond in the amount of US450 million as a hedging 
instrument for its net foreign investments Resirene, S.A. de C.V., Transmisiones y Equipos Mecánicos, 
S.A. de C.V., Resirene USA LLC and Tremec Corporation; such designation was made in order to mitigate 
variations in exchange rates arising between the functional currency of such operation and the functional 
currency of the holding company that holds these investments.
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The Entity formally designated and documented the hedging relationship, establishing the objectives, the 
strategy for hedging the risk, the identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature 
of the risk to be hedged and the methodology for assessing effectiveness. Since the hedging relationship 
is clear, the method used by the Entity to assess effectiveness consisted of a qualitative effectiveness 
test comparing the critical terms between the hedging instruments and the hedged items. The hedge 
will be effective as long as the notional debt designated as a hedging instrument is equal to or less 
than the value of the net assets of the hedged foreign operation. When the value of the net assets of 
the foreign operation is less than the notional amount of the designated debt, the Entity rebalances 
the hedging relationship and recognizes the ineffectiveness in the income statement.

The Entity maintains the hedging relationships described below:

As of January 2, 2020:

Holding
Functional 

currency
Hedging 

instruments

Notional 
value 

(US)
Covered 

item

Covered 
assets of 

the hedged 
item (US)

Grupo KUO, S.A.B. de C.V. MXN Bond 450,000 Resirene, S.A. de C.V. 75,640

Transmisiones y 
Equipos Mecánicos, 
S.A. de C.V. 263,761

Resirene USA LLC 246

Tremec Corporation 5,699

Al 31 de diciembre de 2020

Holding
Functional 

currency
Hedging 

instruments

Notional 
value 

(US)
Covered 

item

Covered 
assets of 

the hedged 
item (US)

Grupo KUO, S.A.B. de C.V. MXN Bond 450,000 Resirene, S.A. de C.V. 43,196

Transmisiones y 
Equipos Mecánicos, 
S.A. de C.V. 397,799

Resirene USA LCC 939

Tremec Corporation 6,713

The Entity’s average hedge ratio amounted to 100% from the date of designation until December 31, 2020. 
Due to the above, and the Entity’s hedging strategy of 100% as the maximum hedging percentage, the 
exchange rate fluctuation generated by the designated portion of the hedging instruments amounted to a 
loss of Ps.478,636, which was recognized in other comprehensive income, offsetting the translation effect 
generated by foreign investments for the same amount and generating a zero effect in comprehensive 
income. The excess of the exchange fluctuation of the hedging instrument was recognized directly in 
the statement of income for the period.

Hedge effectiveness results confirm that hedging relationships are highly effective due to the economic 
relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items.

20.	BANK LOANS

2020 2019   2018

I) Senior Notes 2027 Ps. 8,892,184 Ps. 8,435,517 Ps. 8,755,445

II) Bank of America committed line 3,474,412 3,296,913 -

III) HSBC simple credit 1,489,891 1,500,803 -

IV) Syndicated credit 1,646,665 861,502 -

V) BBVA Bancomer simple credit 764,057 822,920 1,489,230

VI) Bank of America committed line 490,278 672,529 383,817

VII) Bancomext simple credit - - 995,533

VIII) Club Deal committed line - - 1,771,461

IX) Scotiabank committed line - - 590,487

X) Sumitomo committed line - - 550,000

16,757,487 15,590,184 14,535,973

Less - Bank loans and current portion 
of long-term debt

(487,628) (276,968) (171,275)

Long-term debt Ps. 16,269,859 Ps. 15,313,216 Ps. 14,364,698

a.	 Summary of loan agreements:

I)	 Senior Notes 2027 - Bonds for US450 million accruing interest at a fixed rate of 5.75%, issued in international 
markets in July 2017 and maturing in July 2027. Accrues interest every 180 days in the months of January and July 
(certain subsidiaries are pledged as collateral).  

II)	 Bank of America committed line - Contracted in March 2019 with Bank of America, N.A., for US175 million. Pays 
interest at LIBOR rate + 1.40%, with a maturity of 5 years.

III)	Simple credit - With HSBC México, S.A. for Ps.1,500 million granted in July 2019 and pays interest quarterly to TIIE 
at 91 days + 1.45%, with increasing amortizations over 6 years beginning in 2021.

IV)	Syndicated loan - Signed on April 10, 2019, in which HSBC Bank USA, N.A., Bank of America, N.A., HSBC México, 
S.A., BBVA Bancomer, S.A., Mizuho Bank México, S.A., Mizuho Bank, LTD., Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, 
SMBC, S.A.P.I. de C.V. SOFOM, E.N.R., Banco Nacional de México, S.A. and Cooperative Rabobank, U.A. New York 
Branch, act as lending banks of a line of credit for up to US200 million and Ps.1,892 million. Pays interest 
according to its provisions at LIBOR rate + 1.50% for US dollars and TIIE at 91 days + 1.60% for Mexican pesos, 
with a maturity of 5 years.

V)	 Simple credit - Credit with BBVA Bancomer for Ps.1,500 million granted in June 2018. This loan pays interest at a 
rate of 28-day TIIE + 1.60%, with 7-year increasing amortizations, beginning in 2019. The resources of this credit 
were used to cover investment in new projects.

VI)	Bank of America committed line - Credit obtained in March 2018 with Bank of America, N.A., for US40 million. This 
loan pays interest at LIBOR + 1.60%, maturing at 5 years, with 1 year of disposal and 4 years of linear amortization 
beginning in 2020. The subsidiary TREMEC Corporation is the accredited one and KUO and some subsidiaries serve 
as guarantors. The resources of this credit are used to cover the accredited’s cash flows requirements.

 

VII) Simple credit - Credit with Bancomext for Ps.1,000 million granted in July 2017. This credit paid interest quarterly 
at a rate of 91-day TIIE + 1.80%, with 10 year increasing amortizations, beginning in 2019. The resources of this loan 
were used to prepay in 2019 the loan with Bank of America without additional costs for the prepayment of the loan.

VIII) Club Deal committed line - Credit signed on October 21, 2016 and restructured in February 2018, in which Bank 
of America, Cooperative Rabobank, U.A. New York Branch and HSBC México, S.A. act as lenders of the credit line 
for up to US180 million. Paid interest a rate LIBOR + 1.45, with a 3 years’ maturity. The credit was prepaid in 2019 
without additional costs for the prepayment of the committed line.
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IX)	Scotiabank committed line - Credit with The Bank of Nova Scotia in June 2018 for US30 million 
that generated interest at LIBOR rate + 1.45%, with maturity of 3 years. The resources of this 
credit were used to cover working capital requirements and investment in new projects. The 
credit was prepaid in 2019 without additional costs for the prepayment of the committed line.

X)	 Sumitomo committed Line - Credit signed in April 2018 with SMBC, S.A.P.I. de C.V., SOFOM, E.N.R., 
for Ps.700 million. This credit earned interest at 28 days TIIE + 2.20%, with a maturity of 5 years. 
The resources were used to cover working capital requirements and investment in new projects. 
The loan was prepaid in 2019 without additional costs for the prepayment of the committed line.

Long-term debt maturities as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:

2022 Ps. 540,935

2023 478,657

2024 5,696,181

2025 661,902

2027 8,892,184

Ps. 16,269,859

The current portion of long-term debt and short-term bank loans are as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Current portion of long-term debt Ps. 487,628 Ps. 276,968 Ps. 171,275

Bank loans measured at amortized cost are net of unamortized issuance costs which as of December 31, 
2020, 2019 and 2018, amount Ps.90,056, Ps.106,387 and Ps.110,745, respectively.

The loan contracts establish affirmative and negative covenants for the borrowers; also, they require the 
maintenance of certain minimum financial ratios and percentages based on the Entity’s consolidated 
financial statements. All of these requirements have been satisfactorily fulfilled at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Entity obtained on April 30, 2020 from HSBC Bank USA, National Association the approval of the 
waiver for not constituting and consider a breach of its obligations under Sections 7.14 (c) and 7.14 (d) of 
the Agreement Credit for the 2020 period, concluding that having a ratio of consolidated indebtedness 
to consolidated EBITDA greater than 3.5 will not be considered an event of default, as long as it is not 
greater than 5.00 to 1.00, and that the relationship between the consolidated indebtedness and the 
total capitalization on each of those dates does not exceed 0.70 to 1.00, a situation that was fulfilled 
as of December 31, 2020. Additionally, on December 23, 2020, the Entity obtained from HSBC Bank USA, 
National Association the corresponding waiver for the full year of 2021; therefore, the debt is disclosed 
based on its original maturities. 

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Entity’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which 
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Entity’s consolidated statements of 
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

December 31, 
2019

Financing cash 
flows, net (i)

Other 
changes (ii)

December 31, 
2020

Bank loans Ps. 15,590,184 Ps. 781,830 Ps. 385,473 Ps. 16,757,487

December 31, 
2018

Financing cash 
flows, net (i)

Other 
changes (ii)

December 31, 
2019

Bank loans Ps. 14,535,973 Ps. 1,537,067 Ps. (482,856) Ps. 15,590,184

December 31, 
2018

Financing cash 
flows, net (i)

Other 
changes (ii)

December 31, 
2018

Bank loans Ps. 9,788,937 Ps. 4,696,272 Ps. 50,764 Ps. 14,535,973

i)	 The cash flows from bank loans are the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows.

ii)	Other changes include exchange fluctuations and expenses associated with the issue of the Bonds recognized at amortized cost.

21.	OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2020 2019   2018

Provisions (i) Ps. 294,453 Ps. 174,058 Ps. 730,722

Tax liabilities 561,296 471,714 394,108

Others creditors 2,416,587 1,934,034 1,641,315

Current portion of tax consolidation 
deferred taxes (Note 25)

201,680 268,581 274,534

Interest payable 296,635 318,497 288,306

Dividends payable 11,207 211,881 10,953

Direct employee benefits 444,820 352,342 371,252

Ps. 4,226,678 Ps. 3,731,107 Ps. 3,711,190

2020 2019   2018

Provisions (i):

Beginning balance as of January 1 Ps. 174,058 Ps. 730,722 Ps. 770,955

Increase 266,070 49,864 88,561

Applications (43,954) (112,759) (108,370)

Cancellation (101,721) (493,769) (20,424)

Final balance as of December 31 Ps. 294,453 Ps. 174,058 Ps. 730,722

The provisions recorded as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 include the reserve for the products’ warranty.

The Entity in the automotive segment provides warranties against defects in manufacturing of its products 
for periods of two to four years, depending on the product. A provision for warranties at the time of sale is 
recognized, based on statistics of the warrantee costs incurred in the last three years.

22.	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2020 2019   2018

a.
Defined contribution plans 
for retirement benefits

Ps. 65,718 Ps. 68,062 Ps. 54,300

b. Defined benefit plans 594,041 600,505 545,589

Total Ps. 659,759 Ps. 668,567 Ps. 599,889
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a.	 Defined contribution plans for retirement benefits

KUO as part of their benefits, grants its employees a defined contribution retirement benefit plan, 
which provides additional benefits to those provided by the Mexican Social Security Institute (IMSS, 
for its acronym in Spanish) or the Administrator of Retirement Funds (AFORE), if appropriate. The 
main features are summarized below:

Participants requirements - Be a non-union employee in the plant and sign the consent letter to 
join the plan. Employees may not be participants of the plan, if when they reach the retirement age, 
they do not have at least 10 years of service in the Entity.

Contributions - The global fund will be constituted with the Entity and participants’ contributions.

Each participant will have the option to perform the following contributions:

−	 Basic contribution: the participant may contribute from 0.50% to 6.00% of their monthly salary, 
the Entity with will contribute a percentage equal to that contributed by the participant up to 
.50% if the employee has up to 4.9 years of service, 1% if he has between 5 and 9.9 years and 
1.5% if the participant has more than 10 years of service.

−	 Complementary contribution: those participants whose monthly salary exceeds the IMSS maximum 
salary current quote, may contribute over the monthly salary which exceeds the IMSS maximum 
salary current quote from 0.50% to 6.00% of the salary. The Entity will contribute a percentage 
equal to that contributed by the participant over the monthly salary that exceeds the IMSS 
maximum salary for current quote with up to 4% if he has 4.9 years of service or less, 5% if he 
has between 5 to 9.9 years of service and from 10 years and older it will contribute up to 6%.

Total retirement benefits  - Participants who reach normal retirement date (age 65 and have a minimum 
of 10 years of service) or the anticipated date of retirement (55 years old and have a minimum of 20 years 
of service) are entitled to the total retirement benefits described in the plan. The balance of the individual 
fund will be considered as a benefit of the plan, which will be received in a single exhibition.

Voluntary resignation - The participant who submits his voluntary resignation to the Entity with 
less than 5 years of service in the Entity, shall be entitled to withdraw only the part of individual 
fund subaccount corresponding to the participant.

The participant who submits his voluntary resignation to the Entity with 5 years or more of service, shall 
be entitled to withdraw the portion of their individual background corresponding to the participant’s 
sub-account plus a percentage of the Entity’s subaccount, which can range from 15% to 100% depending 
on age and years of service of the participant at the time of the separation.

b.	 Defined benefit plans

Seniority premium – Based on Article 162 of the Mexican Federal Labor Law, the amount of the premium 
is equal to twelve days of actual salary for each year of service, considering a maximum salary of twice 
the minimum wage of the economic zone in which the employee has provided service. Payment of the 
obligation is made to plant workers who cease to provide services to the Entity. If the separation if 
voluntary; it is necessary that the employee has provided a minimum of 15 years of service, whereby the 
obligation is calculated based on the entire seniority of the employee within the Entity; if the separation 
is for dismissal (justified or unjustified), it is not necessary that the employee comply with a minimum of 
15 years of service, and the seniority is determined beginning from May 1, 1970, or if the employee began 
employment subsequent to that date, their actual date of hire. In the case of death or disability, it is also 
not necessary to have completed 15 years of service; full seniority will be paid.

Retirement pension plan – The eligible group under this plan includes permanent, nonunion full-time 
personnel retired prior of January 1, 2005; permanent, nonunion full-time personnel aged 45 years or 
more, with at least 15 years of service, retired between January 1, 2005 and April 1, 2008; permanent, 
nonunion full-time personnel who at the date of the Plan amendment of April 1, 2008 were age 55 years 
or more and had at least 18.25 years of service, either retired or active after April 1, 2008.

The age considered for normal retirement is 65 years, with at least 10 years’ seniority, and for early 
retirement, 55 years of age with at least 20 years’ seniority. 

The pensionable wage includes savings fund, vacation premium, year-end bonus and grocery coupons.

For personnel retired prior of January 1, 2005, the normal retirement will consider 90% of the 
pensionable wage, less the Social Security pension granted, including the benefit of the SAR Retirement 
Saving System. 

For personnel active or retired after January 1, 2005, the normal retirement will consider 80% of the 
pensionable wage, less the Social Security pension granted. 

The pension will be paid through a monthly lifetime income and optionally any form of payment of 
equivalent actuarial value, such as: several payments, guaranteed number of payments, one-time 
payment, among others.

Post-retirement benefits - This plan focuses on the permanent, nonunion full-time personnel who 
retired prior of January 1, 2005; permanent, nonunion full-time personnel retired between January 
1, 2005 and January 1, 2008 who at the plan amendment date of April 1, 2008 were 55 years old or 
older and had at least 18.25 years of service completed. The normal retirement considers of 65 years, 
and for early retirement, 55 years of age with at least 10 years of seniority. 

The personnel retired prior of January 1, 2005 who receive the benefits of normal, early or deferred 
retirement will have the option of keeping 50% of their group life insurance protection and, up to 
80 years also the major medical expenses insurance coverage, through the payment of 10% of the 
respective premiums. 

Personnel retired between January 1, 2005 and April 1, 2008 who receive the benefits of normal, 
early or deferred retirement, in the normal form of pension payment or under the first or second 
options contained in article 24 of the pension plan, will have the option of keeping the benefit of 
life insurance for up to 10 years after retirement with a coverage equivalent to 50% of the number 
of months’ wages of protection for death of the employees considered active. 

This number of months will be applied according to the monthly pension received by the retired 
person as of the retirement date. The retired person will absorb 10% of the cost of the respective 
annual premium. 
 
Furthermore, participants who receive the benefits of normal, early or deferred retirement, in the 
normal form of the pension payment or under the first or second options of article 24 of the pension 
plan, will have the option of keeping the benefit of major medical expenses insurance only for the 
participant for up to 10 years after the retirement, through the payment of 10% of the cost of the 
respective premium, and may keep coverage for their beneficiaries through the payment of 100% 
of the respective premiums.

Postretirement benefits do not apply to personnel who are active or retired after April 1, 2008.

The actuarial valuation of labor liabilities is supported by a number of assumptions determined 
through economic, financial and the Entity’s own environment for their determination. In this regard, 
the Entity is exposed to risks related to these assumptions, which are presented below:
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Interest rate risk

The present value of the net employee benefit obligation and the funds within the plan established 
to meet the obligation represents the amount of money that the Entity would receive in exchange 
for the securities held in the fund, or the amount of money to be paid to transfer the net obligation 
to a third party, as the case may be depending on if the net amount is an asset or liability. Therefore, 
the discount rate (as part of measuring the value of money over time), should represent the rate 
at which the plan obligations can be transferred irrevocably to a third party in an orderly and open 
market transaction. In other words, the rate at which the amount invested to transfer the obligation 
will be sufficient to cover future cash flows upon liquidation. 

The selection of the discount rate is determined considering government bonds, with maturities 
that are similar to the expected settlement of the employee benefits obligation. In case of selecting 
those bonds whose duration is equal to or approximately the length of the obligations of the plan, 
it could immunize the fund before any changes in interest rates (and hence the discount rate).

Because the discount rate is a variable that does not depend on the operation of the Entity, but the 
fluctuations and variations observed in the market, the Entity is exposed to the inherent risk posed 
by such fluctuations.

If, resulting from a fluctuation of rates on government bonds, the discount rate decreases, this will 
cause the benefit obligation to increase and vice versa. The size of the increase or decrease will 
depend on the characteristics of the benefit obligation, the population and the variation shown in 
other variables.

Currently, for KUO, the discount rate used was 7.25%, considering the yield curve of government bonds.
 
Salary increase risk

The rate of salary increase, within an actuarial valuation, should model the behavior of wages of 
participants over time.

Valued benefits such as seniority premiums and pension plan at retirement, are linked to these 
assumptions, to rely entirely on this variable. If the salary increase from year to year, this will 
cause the present value of liabilities or obligations to increase. For this reason, there is a risk for 
this variable. For KUO, a salary increase of 4.0% is being used, which is consistent with the actual 
observed behavior of this variable in the target population. If increased, it must be considered in 
the calculation.

Longevity risk

Longevity is an important factor to be considered when performing actuarial calculations for retirement 
plans. When a person retires, the value of the obligation is based on life expectancy or expected 
time a retiree will receive his or her retirement benefits. If an increase in longevity is presented, 
the present value of the obligations will increase, as the benefit will be granted for a longer time, 
creating a larger obligation to the Entity.
 
No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation were carried out as of December 31, 2020 by Mr. Fernando Rodriguez Zamora, member 
of Asociación Mexicana de Actuarios Consultores, A. C. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the 
projected unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2020 2019   2018

% % %

Discount rate 7.25 7.75 8.30

Expected rate of salary increase 5.00 5.00 4.00

Pension increase rate 4.80 4.80 4.80

Expected return on plan assets 7.25 7.75 8.30

Average longevity at retirement age for 
current pensioners (years)

Males 22.29 22.03 21.28

Females 24.70 24.24 24.12

Amounts recognized in income from these defined benefit plans are as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Service cost:

Current service cost Ps. 28,338 Ps. 18,681 Ps. 17,489

Cost (income) past services (7,319) - 7,050

Financial cost 42,048 41,522 37,560

Reductions and early settlement (48,568) (1,276) -

Interest income (604) (1,585) (1,452)

Components of defined benefits costs 
recognized in profit or loss (continuing and 

discontinued operations)
Ps. 13,895 Ps. 57,342 Ps. 60,647

The net periodic cost for the year is included in the cost of employee benefits in the consolidated 
statement of income and comprehensive income, and recorded in the following line items:

2020 2019   2018

Cost of sales Ps. (12,873) Ps. 20,872 Ps. 19,765

Operating expenses 26,768 36,470 40,882

Total Ps. 13,895 Ps. 57,342 Ps. 60,647

The amount included in the consolidated statements of financial position arising from the obligation 
of the Entity regarding their defined benefit plans is as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Present value of defined benefit obligation Ps. 658,829 Ps. 646,384 Ps. 598,637

Fair value of plan assets (64,788) (45,879) (53,048)

Net liabilities generated by the 
defined benefit obligation

Ps. 594,041 Ps. 600,505 Ps. 545,589
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Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation in the period were as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Opening balance of defined benefit obligation Ps. 646,384 Ps. 598,637 Ps. 635,808

Current service cost 28,338 18,681 17,489

Interest cost 42,048 41,522 37,560

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from 
changes in financial assumptions

43,496 73,669 (4,214)

Cost of past service including (gains) 
losses on reductions

(7,319) - 7,050

Contributions from plan affiliates 957 650 680

Early settlement (48,568) (1,276) -

Translation effect 15,506 (5,038) (3,081)

Benefits paid (62,013) (80,461) (92,655)

Ending balance of defined 
benefit obligation

Ps. 658,829 Ps. 646,384 Ps. 598,637

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets in the period were as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Opening balance of fair value of plan assets Ps. 45,879 Ps. 53,048 Ps. 58,076

Interest income 604 1,585 1,452

Remeasurement gains 422 702 2,355

Contributions from employer 14,045 9,163 9,544

Recovery of Trust’s funds - (9,516) (14,606)

Contributions from employees 957 650 680

Benefits paid (4,256) (6,877) (2,905)

Translation effect 7,137 (2,876) (1,548)

Ending balance of the fair value of plan 
assets in financial institutions

Ps. 64,788 Ps. 45,879 Ps. 53,048

Actuarial gains or losses from changes in demographic assumptions relate to changes in turnover 
rates and mortality rates compared to those used in the previous year. These correspond to changes 
in financial assumptions related to the change in the discount rate, the rate of wage increase, the 
rate of increase in the minimum wage and experience adjustments compared to those used in the 
prior valuation and those generated by experience adjustments are those differences between what 
we expected would happen according to the actuarial assumptions used in the previous year and 
what really happened.

The value of actuarial gain (loss) is as follows:

2020 2019   2018

Changes in demographic assumptions Ps. 3,250 Ps. 1,265 Ps. 7,523

Changes in financial assumptions 29,688 45,036 (34,242)

Experience 10,136 26,666 20,150

Actuarial loss (gain) Ps. 43,074 Ps. 72,967 Ps. (6,569)

If the discount rate is 50 basis points higher (lower), the defined benefit obligation would decrease 
by Ps.31,178 (increase by Ps.34,155).

If the expected salary growth increases (decreases) by 0.5%, the defined benefit obligation would 
increase by Ps.5,613 (decrease by Ps.5,594).

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting 
period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position. There was no change in the methods 
and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

23.	STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Contributed capital

As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, capital stock is represented by:

Shares Amount

Fixed portion-

Nominative Series "A" shares (without redemption rights and which 
must represent at least 51% of voting stock)

233,221,719 Ps. 1,393,883

Variable portion-

Nominative Series "B" shares (with redemption rights and which 
may not represent more than 49% of voting stock)

223,144,429 1,333,651

456,366,148 Ps. 2,727,534

At the Ordinary General Stockholders’ Meeting held on April 30, 2020, it was approved to allocate 
Ps.200,000 to the share repurchase fund for a period of twelve months.

At the Ordinary General Stockholders’ Meeting held on April 29, 2019, a dividend payment of Ps.401,602 
was approved, which was applied to retained earnings. Likewise, the repurchase of shares was approved 
for up to Ps.200,000 for a period of twelve months.

The total payment of the aforementioned dividend will take place in two exhibitions. The first payment 
corresponding to 50% was made on December 23, 2019 and the remaining payment will be made from 
the date and in the terms determined by the Chairman of the Board and / or Secretary of the Board of 
Directors, in accordance with the power delegated by the Stockholders at the Meeting.

At the Ordinary General Stockholders’ Meeting held on September 24, 2018, a dividend payment of 
Ps.342,275 was approved, which was applied to retained earnings. At the Ordinary Annual General 
Stockholders’ Meeting held on April 23, 2018, it was approved to allocate the amount of Ps.200,000 for 
the repurchase of shares.

The net amount of repurchased shares is recorded in the share repurchase fund and represents the 
repurchase and sale transactions of treasury shares; those that originated an increase (decrease) of Ps. 
(57,701), Ps. (19,667) and Ps.80,513 at December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 there are 17,061,195, 15,883,951 and 15,429,115 treasury shares, 
respectively.

As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 there are no common shares with potential dilution effects.

Legal reserve:

The net income of the Entity and each subsidiary is subject to the legal provision requiring that 5% of 
the net income of each year be transferred to the reserve fund until it equals 20% of its capital stock. 
The reserve fund is not distributable to stockholders during the existence of each entity, except upon 
dissolution. As of December 31, 2020 the reserve fund amounts to Ps.219,718, and as of December 31, 
2019 and 2018 the reserve fund amounts to Ps.108,083, and is recorded in retained earnings.
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Stockholders’ equity, except restated common stock and tax-retained earnings, will incur income tax 
payable by the Entity at the rate in effect at the time of its distribution. Any tax paid on such distribution 
may be credited against income for the year in which the dividend tax is paid and, in the subsequent 
two years, against tax for the year and the related estimated payments. 

Dividends paid from profits generated as of January 1, 2015 to individuals resident in Mexico and foreign 
residents may be subject to an additional income tax of up to 10%, which must be withheld by the Entity.

The balances of the tax accounts of stockholders’ equity as of December 31 are as follows:

2020 2019   2018
Capital contribution account Ps. 13,712,305 Ps. 13,115,604 Ps. 12,930,695

Net tax income account a 11,702,917 9,799,076 8,635,635

Total Ps. 25,415,222 Ps. 22,914,680 Ps. 21,566,330

24.	BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

a.	 Transactions with related parties, carried out in the ordinary course of business were as follows:

2020 2019   2018
Revenues -

Sales Ps. 613,754 Ps. 697,921 Ps. 916,687

Administrative services rendered Ps. 133,513 Ps. 154,110 Ps. 158,484

Interest income Ps. 2,014 Ps. 3,397 Ps. 3,392

Air transportation Ps. 14,148 Ps. 11,234 Ps. 10,972

Recovery of expenses Ps. 67,345 Ps. 56,810 Ps. 1,791

Expenses -

Purchase of inventories Ps. 65,776 Ps. 107,632 Ps. 125,604

Administrative services received Ps. 2,643 Ps. 1,693 Ps. 1,554

Others Ps. 384 Ps. 176 Ps. 409

b.	 Balances from and to related parties are as follows:

2020 2019   2018
Accounts receivable -

Short-term:

Dynasol Elastómeros, S.A. de C.V. Ps. 96,022 Ps. 82,224 Ps. 87,549

Industrias Negromex, S.A. de C.V. 4,935 42,139 55,836

Herdez del Fuerte, S.A. de C.V. 2,618 6,059 2,434

Dine 28, S.A. de C.V. 6,799 17,186 1,680

Fernando Senderos Mestre 657 603 626

Dynasol Gestión México, S.A.P.I. de C.V. 1,294 2,023 1,255

Plaza Bosques, S.A. de C.V. 1,417 402 388

Promociones Bosques, S.A. de C.V. - 17,818 -

Dynasol Altamira, S.A. de C.V. 802 1,113 46

Administración de Riesgo, Agente de 
Seguros y Fianzas, S.A. de C.V.

263 - -

Seradri, S.A. de C.V. 548 - -

Ps. 115,355 Ps. 169,567 Ps. 149,814

Long-term:

Fideicomiso de Administración con 
Actividad Empresarial F/3293 

Ps. 111,816 Ps. 104,960 Ps. 107,775

Promociones Bosques, S.A. de C.V. - - 14,459

Ps. 111,816 Ps. 104,960 Ps. 122,234

2020 2019   2018

Accounts payable- 

Short-term:

Dynasol Elastómeros, S.A. de C.V. Ps. 838 Ps. 19,228 Ps. 19,928

Industrias Negromex, S.A. de C.V. 3,489 1,704 5,066

Dynasol Altamira, S.A. de C.V. - - 303

Cantiles de Mita, S.A. de C.V. 99 423 172

Administración de Riesgo, Agente de 
Seguros y Fianzas, S.A. de C.V. 154 - -

Ps. 4,580 Ps. 21,355 Ps. 25,469

25.	INCOME TAXES

The Entity is subject to ISR. Under the ISR Law the rate for 2020, 2019 and 2018 was 30% and will continue 
to be 30% thereafter.

a.	 Income taxes expense (benefit) are as follows:

2020 2019   2018

ISR:

Income tax for the year Ps. 394,131 Ps. 357,142 Ps. 350,211

Restatement of deferred income tax 
due to tax deconsolidation

19,804 23,558 46,580

Insufficiency (excess) from previous years 851 1,272 (435)

414,786 381,972 396,356

Deferred tax (384,627) (148,677) 419,141

(384,627) (148,677) 419,141

ISR Total Ps. 30,159 Ps. 233,295 Ps. 815,497

b.	 Deferred tax recognized in other comprehensive income: 

2020 2019   2018

Financial instruments Ps. - Ps. (114) Ps. (1,822)

Employee benefits 12,922 21,957 1,499

Exchange rate difference 16,223 (24,559) (1,649)

Total deferred taxes Ps. 29,145 Ps. (2,716) Ps. (1,972)

c.	 Deferred tax recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position:

Following is an analysis of the deferred tax assets (liabilities) presented in the consolidated statement 
of financial position:

2020 2019   2018

Deferred income tax asset Ps. 1,250,821 Ps. 819,754 Ps. 478,049

Deferred income tax liability 1,051,066 1,033,771 838,027

Deferred income tax (liability) asset Ps. 199,755 Ps. (214,017) Ps. (359,978)
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d.	 Tax assets and liabilities:

2020 2019   2018

Assets:

ISR Ps. 97,862 Ps. 112,820 Ps. 215,505

Liabilities:

ISR Ps. 174,082 Ps. 98,241 Ps. 45,644

Deferred income tax arising from tax 
consolidation current liabilities

492,420 745,123 998,147

Ps. 666,502 Ps. 843,364 Ps. 1,043,791

e.	 Deferred tax balances:

The tax effects of temporary differences that generated assets (liabilities) of deferred taxes as of 
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, are as follows:

December 31, 2019

Recognized 

in profit or loss 

for the year

Other 

comprehensive 

income items December 31, 2020

Deferred ISR asset:

Effect of tax loss carryforwards Ps. 454,114 Ps. 25,643 Ps. (18) Ps. 479,739

Reserves and provisions 559,462 104,288 38,527 702,277

Advances from customers 19,762 129,017 3,499 152,278

Employee benefits 145,290 (27,147) 17,330 135,473

Simplified tax regime on 
purchases and sales

323,790 178,178 676 502,644

Income deferral 218,491 20,277 (1,403) 237,365

Lease liability 877,467 (390,556) 6,929 493,840

Others 18,652 106,851 (5,525) 119,978

Deferred ISR asset: 2,617,028 146,551 60,015 2,823,594

Deferred ISR liability:

Inventories (842,621) (103,650) (1,533) (947,804)

Property, plant and equipment (944,708) 119,893 (67,773) (892,588)

Right-of-use asset (853,436) 393,161 (7,216) (467,491)

Prepaid expenses (38,388) (121,640) (1,192) (161,220)

Financial instruments 68 - (68) -

Intangible assets (151,960) (49,688) 46,912 (154,736)

Deferred ISR liability (2,831,045) 238,076 (30,870) (2,623,839)

Net deferred ISR asset 
(liability)

Ps. (214,017) Ps. 384,627 Ps. 29,145 Ps. 199,755

December 31, 2019

Recognized 

in profit or loss 

for the year

Other 

comprehensive 

income items December 31, 2019

Deferred ISR asset:

Effect of tax loss carryforwards Ps. 390,962 Ps. 69,024 Ps. (5,872) Ps. 454,114

Reserves and provisions 449,321 123,895 (13,754) 559,462

Advances from customers 21,834 (1,575) (497) 19,762

Employee benefits 129,896 (6,563) 21,957 145,290

Simplified tax regime on 
purchases and sales

362,225 (38,030) (405) 323,790

Lease liability - 875,124 2,343 877,467

Others 18,753 (101) - 18,652

Deferred ISR asset 1,372,991 1,021,774 3,772 2,398,537

Deferred ISR liability:

Inventories (742,732) (100,415) 526 (842,621)

Property, plant and equipment (993,544) 62,707 (13,871) (944,708)

Right of use assets - (850,796) (2,640) (853,436)

Deferred income 91,761 124,157 2,573 218,491

Prepaid expenses (38,758) (709) 1,079 (38,388)

Financial instruments (1,176) 1,358 (114) 68

Intangible assets (48,520) (109,399) 5,959 (151,960)

Deferred ISR liability (1,732,969) (873,097) (6,488) (2,612,554)

Net deferred ISR asset 
(liability)

Ps. (359,978) Ps. 148,677 Ps. (2,716) Ps. (214,017)

Balance as ofat 

the beginning 

of 2018

Initial 

application 

of IFRS 9

Recognized 

in profit or loss 

for the year

Other 

comprehensive 

income items

December 31, 

2018

Deferred ISR asset:

Effect of tax loss carryforwards Ps. 399,881 Ps. - Ps. (8,919) Ps. - Ps. 390,962

Reserves and provisions 573,723 1,137 (126,641) 1,102 449,321

Advances from customers 41,642 - (19,808) - 21,834

Employee benefits 140,923 - (9,528) (1,499) 129,896

Simplified tax regime on 
purchases and sales

178,935 - 183,290 - 362,225

Others 18,476 - 277 - 18,753

Deferred ISR asset 1,353,580 1,137 18,671 (397) 1,372,991

Deferred ISR liability:

Inventories (544,060) - (198,672) - (742,732)

Property, plant and equipment (776,365) - (217,726) 547 (993,544)

Deferred income 76,761 - 15,000 - 91,761

Prepaid expenses (66,537) - 27,779 - (38,758)

Financial instruments (1,640) - (1,358) 1,822 (1,176)

Intangible assets 14,315 - (62,835) - (48,520)

Deferred ISR liability (1,297,526) - (437,812) 2,369 (1,732,969)

Net deferred ISR asset (liability) Ps. 56,054 Ps. 1,137 Ps. (419,141) Ps. 1,972 Ps. (359,978)
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f.	 Tax loss carryforwards

As of December 31, 2020, KUO has tax loss carryforwards, which will be indexed for inflation through 
the year applied or recovered, in the following restated amounts:

Maturity
Tax loss

carryforwards
2024 Ps. 23,156

2025 219,099

2026 1,085,583

2027 368,174

2028 289,733

2029 462,646

2030 1,108,024

Ps. 3,556,415

In determining deferred income taxes as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 the effects of tax 
loss carryforwards were included for Ps.1,599,130, Ps.1,513,713 and Ps.1,303,207, respectively. In the 
determination of deferred income taxes as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 the effects of 
deferred tax assets related to the carryforward of tax losses not recognized amounted to Ps.1,957,285, 
Ps.1,676,233 and Ps.1,530,601, respectively, because Management believes it is unlikely that the 
benefits of such losses will be realized.

g.	 Tax consolidation:

The income tax liability as of December 31, 2020 related to the effects of benefits and tax deconsolidation 
shall be paid in the following years:

Year Amount
2021 (Note 21) Ps. 201,680

2022 and thereafter 290,740

Ps. 492,420

h.	 Reconciliation of income tax at statutory rate:

Following is a reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate and the effective rate on the income 
from continuing operations before income taxes:

2020 2019   2018

Income tax at statutory rate Ps. (162,550) Ps. 739,146 Ps. 893,466

Add (deduct) the effect of permanent 
differences: 

Non-deductible expenses 126,595 68,810 65,622

Non-taxable income  (7,198)  (167,365)  (20,401)

Inflation effect of deconsolidation 
deferred tax 

19,804 23,558 46,580

Annual adjustment for inflation  172,980  130,183   181,596

Tax losses, net 83,665 (105,342) 21,857

Equity in results of joint ventures (325,556) (310,364) (385,185)

Tax effect on sale of shares - - 67,813

Translation effect of foreign operations 139,609 (153,613) (47,086)

Others (17,190) 8,282  (8,765)

Effective rate Ps. 30,159 Ps. 233,295 Ps. 815,497

26.	DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On December 31, 2014, KUO discontinued its Alaxia project, which would focus on producing and marketing 
precision-machined components for the commercial aeronautical industry. The conditions of the industry 
made it difficult to obtain contracts that could provide volumes in the short term; reason why Alaxia 
did not achieve the scale required by an emerging player in the industry to generate profits and even 
to operate at an equilibrium point.

2020 2019   2018

Financial income Ps. 2,015 Ps. 2,150 Ps. 47,385

Profit before income taxes Ps. 2,015 Ps. 2,150 Ps. 47,385

27.	COSTS AND EXPENSES BY NATURE

Cost of sales, administrative expenses and selling and distribution expenses are comprised of the following:

2020 2019   2018

Cost of sales:

Direct cost of sales Ps. 19,186,617 Ps. 17,240,067 Ps. 17,096,974

Salaries and employee benefits 2,963,349 2,555,084 2,273,867

Freight and transportation 286,250 302,281 262,248

Maintenance, fees and leasing 1,262,065 776,268 774,063

Electric power 355,544 332,439 306,654

Depreciation of right-of-use asset 131,763 113,636 -

Depreciation and amortization 1,564,079 928,951 590,658

Total Ps. 25,749,667 Ps. 22,248,726 Ps. 21,304,464

Administrative, selling and distribution expenses:

Freight and transportation Ps. 1,192,655 Ps. 1,010,075 Ps. 661,567

Salaries and employee benefits 1,502,176 1,453,578 1,437,321

Advertisement and marketing 40,734 41,606 49,361

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 103,926 85,266 60,989

Depreciation of right-of-use asset 140,158 137,930 -

Export costs 53,591 50,016 308,945

Maintenance, fees and leasing 610,638 601,919 695,807

Electric power 96,812 139,234 64,439

General expenses 347,265 469,720 344,312

Total Ps. 4,087,955 Ps. 3,989,344 Ps. 3,622,741

28.	OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSES

Other (The other income) expenses or expense item is composed as follows:

2020 2019   

Recovery of property, plant and equipment claim Ps. (921,505) Ps. -

Recovery of inventory and other expenses claim (103,605) -

Costs for property, plant and equipment claims (i) 1,582,775 -

Costs for inventory claims and other expenses 279,705 -

Loss (profit) from sale of fixed assets (1,992) 6,639

Cancellation of provision - (455,606)

Health event expenses (Covid-19) 95,597 -

Others expenses (199) -

Total Ps. 930,776 Ps. (448,967)
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(i)	The property, plant and equipment claim balance includes a provision for Ps.7,410, corresponding to the residual value of equipment that 
was held on loan and was lost.

In May 2020, a fire broke out in one of the processing plants of the subsidiary Comercializadora Porcícola 
Mexicana, S.A. de C.V., located in Sahé, municipality of Tixpéhual, Yucatán. The fire affected property 
assets, plant and equipment, inventories and other costs for a total amount of Ps.1,862,480.

These assets were covered by an insurance policy. The Entity has concluded that said policy covers 
material damages, loss of profits resulting from the reduction in income and additional costs that the 
Entity may incur because of the loss. As of December 31, 2020, the Entity has recognized income for the 
reimbursement of the claim for Ps.1,025,110, which has been fully collected.

29.	COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in lawsuits as plaintiffs and defendants in the regular course of operations. 
These lawsuits always involve uncertainty, and some of them may result in adverse resolutions for the 
subsidiaries. While it is impossible to determine the amount involved in pending lawsuits, Management 
believes that based on the facts, any resulting liability would not materially affect the consolidated 
financial position or results of operations of the Entity or its subsidiaries.

30.	SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

-	 Claim - As of the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements, the Entity continues in 
the claim process with the insurance company to conclude the collection of the insurance in the 
shortest possible time. The Entity has coverage for Material Damages, Expenses and Consequential 
Losses and the Administration considers that it will not have significant problems to conclude with 
the recovery.

-	 COVID-19 pandemic- With the information obtained so far, for fiscal year 2021, the Entity does 
not expect significant impacts on its financial results and consolidated cash flows, however, the 
effectiveness will depend largely on the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic, the sanitary vaccination 
campaign and mitigation measures, the proper functioning of the productive chains, as well as the 
economic recovery in the industries and markets where the Entity operates.

31.	FINANCIAL STATEMENT ISSUANCE AUTHORIZATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, were approved 
by the Chief Financial Officer of KUO Mr. Jorge Padilla Ezeta, on March 25, 2021; consequently, they do 
not reflect any events that occurred after that date, and they are subject to the approval of the Ordinary 
Stockholders’ General Meeting of the Entity, who may decide to modify them in accordance with the 
provisions established in the Mexican Securities Law and the General Corporate Law. The consolidated 
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were approved at the Ordinary 
General Stockholders’ Meeting on April 30, 2020 and April 29, 2019, respectively.

This annual report contains comments on future performance expectations that reflect current views of KUO group management on future 
events. The phrases “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “should” and similar expressions generally indicate 
comments on expectations. These statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and changes in circumstances. Final results may differ 
materially from current expectations due to various factors, including, but not limited to, global and local changes in politics, economics, 
business, competition, market and regulatory factors, the cyclical trend in the Automotive and Chemical sectors, as well as other factors that 
are highlighted under the heading “Risk Factors” in KUO’s annual report filed with the Mexican National Banking and Securities Commission 
(CNBV). Any expectation commentary is valid only as of the date it is made.
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